CHAPTER 11 EXHIBIT—INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND INCOME TAX PAYABLE

INCOME STATEMENT FOR YEAR

Sales Revenus
Cost of Goods Sold Expense

Gross Margin

Operating Expanses
Deprecialion Expense
Operating Earnings

Intarast Expense

Earnings bedore income Tax
Incame Tax Expanlssr

het Income

Eamings Per Share

510,400,000
6,760,000

$ 3,640,000
2,080,000
2a0, 000

$ 1,300,000

103,000

§ 1,157,000
476,200

3 715200

5350

A small part (5%} of
the annial ncome
1ax expense i
urpaid at year-end.
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BALANCE SHEET AT END OF YEAR

Agsets
Cash
Accounts Receivable
Inveniary
Propaid Expenses
Property, Plant & Equipment
Accumulaled Depreciation

Toval Assets

Liabilities and Owners' Equity
Accounts Payable—Inveniony
Accounts Payable—Operating Expenses
Accreed Operating Expenses
Accrued Inferest Payzble

—— = [ncomea Tax Payabis
‘Shori-Term Meles Payable
Long-Term Motes Payabds
Capital Stock {200,000 shares)
Retained Eamings

Tedal Liabllities and Cwners’ Equity

5 5B5,B07
1,000,000
1,680,000

180,000
3,000,000
(00,0001

§5,615,607

4 B20.000
120,000
240,000

17167
23,840
£25.000
Fh0.000
75,000
2,544,700

55,615,807
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Federal and State | ncome Taxation of Business Pr ofit

Please refer to Chapter 11 Exhibit (page 58), which highlights the connection between income tax
expense in the income statement and income tax payable in the balance sheet. A small part of the
company'stotal income tax expense for the year, which is based on its taxable income for the year, has
not been paid at year-end. This remaining balance will be paid over to the tax authoritiesin the near
future. The unpaid portion stays in the company's income tax payable liability account until it is paid.

The businessin our example is incorporated; the business decided on this form of legal organization
(instead of the partnership form or as alimited liability company). A corporation, being a separate person
in the eyes of the law, has several important advantages. However, profit-motivated business
corporations have one serious disadvantage—they are subject to federal and state income tax on their
profit.

To be more technical, the business in this exampleis aregular, or "C" corporation. Under the federal
income tax law small or "S* corporations, partnerships, and limited liability companies are
"pass-through" tax entities—these entities pay no income tax themselves but instead serve as a conduit.
Each year dl their taxable income is transferred, or passed through to their owners, who pay individual
income tax on their shares of the taxable income. This avoids what is called the "doubl e taxation” of
business profit—first in the hands of the business corporation and second in the hands of its stockholders
(to the extent that net income is distributed as cash dividends to them).

The first point to keep in mind is that a business corporation must earn taxable income to pay income tax.
The simplest way to pay no income tax is to have no taxable income, or to have ataxable loss. Of course
a business wants to earn profit, but earning a profit comes with the burden of paying income tax on the
profit. Once a business enters the profit zone it is subject to income tax.

A second point to keep in mind is that there are many loopholes and options in the federal income tax
code—to say nothing about state income tax laws—that reduce or postpone income tax. | suspect you're
aware of how complex is our federal income tax law. That's an understatement, if I've ever heard one.

It takes thousands of pages of tax law to define taxable income. Most businesses use income tax
professional s to help them determine their taxable income, and to advise them how to minimize their
Income taxes. In any one year a business might take advantage of several different features of the tax
code to minimize its taxable income for the year, or to shift taxable income from one year to other years.

For this example | have to ssmplify abit. The business pays a combined 40% income tax rate on its
taxable income. And, the accounting methods used to prepare its income statement are exactly the same
methods used to determine its annual taxable income. In this example the company's earnings before
income tax is $1,197,000 (see Chapter 11 Exhibit). Thisis also its taxable income for federa and state
income tax. With a combined income
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tax rate of 40%, itsincome tax expense for the year is a straight-forward cal cul ation:

51,197,000 4% S478,800

Taxable Income = Income Tax Rate — Income Tax Expense

Asyou seein Chapter 11 Exhibit, the company'sincome tax expense for the year is exactly this amount.

Why a 40% income tax rate? Well, the current federal income tax rate on taxable income of $1,197,000
is 34%. (Lower tax rates apply on taxable incomes less than $335,000; the top rate is 35%.) Many states
impose an income tax at rates in the 5% to 6% range. So, the 40% income tax rate used in the example is
in the right ballpark. Of course income taxation is not so simple, but a 40% income tax rateis realistic.

The federal income tax law requires that a business make installment payments during the year so that
100% of its annual income tax is paid by the end of the year. Actualy, arelatively small fraction of the
total annual income tax may not be paid by year-end without any penalty (although this can get very
complicated).

The company in this example paid 95% of itsincome tax for the year. At year-end it still owed the
Internal Revenue Service and the state tax agency 5% of its annual income tax. The unpaid portion is
recorded in the income tax payable account, as you see in Chapter 11 Exhibit. The ending balance of this
liability account can be expressed as follows:

$478,800 $23.,940
5% % IncomelTax = Income Tax
Expense for Year Payable

The federal income tax law changes year to year; Congressis always tinkering, or shall we say
"fine-tuning" the tax code. Old loopholes are shut down; new loopholes open up. Tax rates have changed
over time. For these reasons the fraction of annual income tax that is unpaid at year-end is hard to
predict. At the end of the company's most recent year the unpaid part of itsincome tax just happened to
be 5% of the annual tax.

A Short Technical Note: A business may opt to use certain accounting methods to determine its annual
taxable income that are more conservative than the accounting methods used to report sales revenue and
expenses in itsincome statement. The objective is to postpone payment of income tax to later years. In
this situation generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) require that the amount of income tax
expense in the income statement should be consistent with the amount of earnings before income tax that
is reported in the income statement, even though actual taxable income for the year isless. The income
tax expense reported in the income statement, therefore, is higher than the amount of income tax actually
paid that year. The extra amount of income tax over and above the actual tax paid is recorded in the
deferred income tax account. This account is reported as aliability in the balance sheet.



CHAPTER 12 EXHIBIT—NET INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGS; EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

INCOME STATEMENT FOR YEAR

Szles Revenue
Cost of Goods Sold Expansa

Gross Margin

Operating Expenses
[epreclation Expense
Operating Eamings

[nberest Expense

Earnings befora Income Tax
income Tax Expense

Met Income

Eamings Pér Share

510,400,000

$ 3,640,000
2,080,000
260,000
5 1,300,000
03,000
£ 1,187,000
478,800

$ 718200 —

$3.59 -

§718,200 net income is
divided by 200,000 capital

slock shares to compute the

£3589 eamings par share.

Bottom-line profit, or nat
income increases the
Retained Eamings owners'
equity account.
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BALANCE SHEET AT END OF YEAR

Assals
Cash
Accounis Recelvable
Inventory
Prepaid Expenses
Properiy, Piant & Equipment
Accumulated Depreciztion

Todal Assets

Liabllities and Owners' Equity
Aceounts Payable—Inventory
Accounts Payable—Cperating Expenses
Accrued Opsrating Expenses
Accried Interest Payable
Income Tax Paysble
Short-Term Motes Payable
Leong-Term Moles Payable
Capital Stock (200,000 shares)

—— Retained Eamings

Tetal Linksilies and Cwnars” Equity

§ 585,807
1,000,000
1,680,000

160,000
3,000,000
{800,000}
$6.615,807

§ 520,000
120,000
240,000
17,167
23,840
525,000
To0.000
775,000
2,544,700

§5,616.807
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Recording Net Income in the Balance Sheet

Chapter 12 Exhibit on page 62 highlights the connection from net income in the income statement to
retained earnings in the balance sheet. This chapter explains that earning profit increases the retained
earnings account. Also, earnings per share (EPS) is explained.

Suppose a business has $10 million total assets and $3 million total liabilities (both non-interest
operating liabilities and interest-bearing notes payable), and that its owners have invested $2 million
capital in the business. Assets don't just drop down like "manna from heaven." (My old accounting
professor was the first person | heard use this phrase, and I've never forgotten it.) The other $5 million of
assets must have come from profit it earned but did not distribute—from retained earnings, in other
words.

Two separate owners equity accounts are needed—one for capital invested by the owners, and one for
retained earnings. When a business distributes money to its owners it must distinguish between returning
their capital (which is not taxable to them) versus dividing profit among them (which is taxable). In fact,
abusiness corporation is legally required to keep separate accounts for capital stock and retained
earnings.

The income statement reveal s that the business earned $718,200 profit, or net income for the year. This
amount is entered as an increase in retained earnings, which is an owners equity account. The retained
earnings account is so named because annual profit is entered as an increase in the account, and
distributions to owners from profit are entered as decreases in the account.

During the year the business paid $200,000 cash dividends from profit to its stockholders. Therefore, its
retained earnings increased only $518,200 during the year. At the end of the year its retained earnings
stands at $2,544,700, which is the cumulative result from al years the company has been in business.

In this example the company obviously has been profitable over the years, given itsrelatively large
retained earnings. Nevertheless, we can't tell from the balance sheet whether the company suffered aloss
one or more years in the past, or whether the business regularly pays cash distributions from its annual
profits. If acompany's losses over the years are larger than its profits, then its retained earnings account
would have a negative balance, which generally is called accumulated deficit or some similar title.

Retained earnings probably is the most misunderstood account in financial statements. Many people,
even some experienced business managers, think this account is an asset or, more specifically, cash.
Retained earningsis not an asset and it certainly is not cash. The amount of cash is reported in the cash
account in a company's balance sheet ($565,807 in this example).

The retained earnings balance, frankly, has little practical significance. Hypothetically, a business could
sell all its assets for their book values, pay al itsliabilities, return all capital invested in the business to
its stockholders, and distribute a "going out of business' cash dividend equal to its retained earnings
balance. To stay in business a company can't do this, of course.
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Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Net income, the bottom line in the income statement, is the profit measure for the business as awhole.
Earnings per share (EPS) is the profit measure for each ownership unit, or share in the business.

Suppose in our example you own 10,000 shares of the company's capital stock. Many years ago you invested
$25,000 capital in the business when it was just starting up; you're one of the original stockholders. Later the
business issued additional stock shares to new investors. Y our cost per share is $2.50 ($25,000 capital
invested + 10,000 shares = $2.50 per share). Later investors paid more per share. We can tell this from the
balance sheet in Chapter 12 Exhibit. The $775,000 balance in the capital stock account divided by the
200,000 shares outstanding works out to about $4.00 per share. Some of the later investors must have
invested $5.00 or $6.00 per share, perhaps more.

Since you own only 5% of the stock (10,000 shares out of 200,000 total shares) you are a passive, outside

investor. Y ou do not participate actively in managing the company. Of course you're entitled to 5% of any
cash dividends paid from profit, and you control 5% of the votes on matters that have to be put to a vote of
stockholders.

As a stockholder you are provided a copy of the company's annual financial report. Needless to say, you're
quite interested in the company's profit performance. Y ou could take the view that 5% of the company's
$718,200 annual net income "belongs" to you, which is $35,910. Thisisyour cut of the net income pie. Or
you could look at earnings per share (EPS), which is net income divided by the number of stock shares. In
this example, EPS for the year just ended is:

S718,200 Net Income

- $3.59 EPS
300,000 Capical Stock Shares = >

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) distinguish between nonpublic companies, whose capital
stock shares are not traded in any established marketplace, and public companies whose shares are traded on
the New Y ork Stock Exchange or through another national stock market such as NASDAQ (National
Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations System). Only public companies have to report EPS
at the bottom of their income statements. Nonpublic companies can report EPS if they want to, though | don't
think many do.

EPS is compared with the market price of the stock shares. The ratio of current market value to EPS (called
the price/earningsratio) is discussed in Chapter 22. There are no active markets for stock shares of
nonpublic, or privately owned business corporations. Nevertheless, the stockholders in nonpublic businesses
can use EPS to make an estimate of the value of their stock shares.

For example, suppose | offered to buy 1000 of your shares. Y ou might offer to sell them at 15 times the
$3.59 EPS, or about $54 per share. Of course, | might not be willing to pay this price, but you could ask.
Another example would be the need to put a current value on stock shares for estate tax purposes when
someone dies. EPS is one basis for putting an estimated value on capital stock shares.



Page 66

CHAPTER 13 EXHIBIT—CASH FLOW FROM PROFIT (OPERATING ACTIVITIES)

BALANCE SHEET
From nooms CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR YEAR
Agsets End of Year  Start of Year  Changes statement Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash 3 560,507 F 730,000 ($184,193) = Net Income 718,200
Acsourts Recoivable 1,000,000 BE5,000 175,000 ———B= Accounts Ascsivable Increase  ($175,000)
Inwantory 1,630,000 1,250,000 440,000 B Inveniory Increass (440,000)
Propaid Expenses __ 160,000 185,000 525,000 = Prepaid Expenses Decrease 25,000
Total Gurran? Assels £3.415.807 §3.010,000 —————————— = Depreciation Expense 260,000
E T
Property. Plant & Equipment 3,000,000 2250000  §750.000 Accounts Payable Increase 105,000
Accumulated Depregiation {800,000) {540,000)  {%260,000) ————— —®= Accrued Expenses Increase 59,867
Total Assets $EE15.607  $4.720,000 - Income Tax Payable Decrease _ (12,060)
Gash Flaw Adqusimants to

Met I 177,303

Lisbllities and Owners' Equity End of Year Startol Year  Changes S Halitr e
L Cash Flow from Oparaling
Accounts Payable—|meniory $ 520,000 § 450,000 Actities £540.607
Accounts Payable—Dporaling
120,000 B5,000 g s
Expenses el s R Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Tolal Accounls Payable $ 640.000  § 535000  $105,000 Purchases of Property, Plant & N
Accrued Operaling Expenses 240,000 185,000 Equipment (#750,000)
A d Int 1 Payabl 17167 12,500 < Fooae
it e s e——sio e Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Total Accrued Expenses & 25TET $ 197 500 559,667 Shiert: Tarm Debl Bormowing % 25,000
Income Tax Payable 23,840 36,000 {H12,060) Long-Term Dobt Barrowing 150,000
Shorl-Tarm Noles Payable 625,000 &00.000 $25,000 Capital Stock [ssue 50,000
Total Cusrant Lizhilities 21,546,107 $1.368.500 Dwvigends Paid Stockhoklers  (200.000) 3 25,000
Leng-Term Mates Payable 750,000 G00.000 5150,000 Increase (Decrzase) in Cash

dusring Year 15184,193
Tatal Lishilities S2206,107 51.068.500 2 =J'
Capital Stock 75,000 725,000 $50,000 Notics that the cash T
Hetained Earmings 2,544,700 2,026,500 5518,200 account QEcrsaseu

R T A exaotly this amount,

Total Owners' Eguily $3,315,700 $2.751,500

Tofal Liakifities and
Ownars' Equity 15,615,807 54,720,000
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Profit and Cash Flow from Profit:
Not | dentical Twing!

At this point we shift gears. Chapters 4 through 12 (except for Chapter 6) walk down the income
statement. Each chapter explains how sales revenue or an expense is connected with its corresponding
operating asset or liability. In short, sales revenue and expenses cause changes in assets and liabilities.
Y ou can't understand the balance sheet too well without understanding how sales revenue and expenses
drive many of the assets and liabilities in the balance sheet.

This chapter isthefirst of two that explain the cash flow statement, which is the third primary financial
statement reported by businesses in addition to the income statement and balance sheet (also called the
statement of financial condition). Chapter 13 Exhibit on page 66 presents the official format for the cash
flow statement of the business we have discussed since Chapter 1. Please take a moment to read down
this statement. I'll make you awager here. | bet you understand the second and third sections of the
statement much better than the first section.

Chapter 13 Exhibit shows the comparative balance sheet of the company and includes a column for
changesin assets, liabilities, and owners' equities. These increases and decreases directly tie in with the
cash flow statement. This chapter focuses on the first section of the cash flow statement, which presents
cash flow from the company's profit-making operations during the year.

The main question on everyone's mind is why profit doesn't equal cash flow. In this example the
company earned $718,200 net income. Why didn't profit (net income) generate the same amount of cash
flow? The purpose of the first section in the cash flow statement is to answer this question.

Thelast linein this section is labeled " Cash Flow from Operating Activities," as you seein Chapter 13
Exhibit. Frankly, thisis not the best name in the world. | prefer to call it cash flow from profit. The term
"operating activities' is accounting jargon for sales revenue and expenses, which are the profit-making
activities or operations of abusiness. Most of thetime I'll refer to this line as cash flow from profit,
which is shorter and more descriptive, | think. In any case, from the cash flow statement we see that the
company generated only $540,807 cash flow from profit compared with its much larger $718,200 net
income for the year.

Business managers have a double duty—first to earn profit, and second to convert the profit into cash as
soon as possible. Waiting too long to turn profit into cash reduces its value because of the time value of
money. Business managers should be clear on the difference between profit reported in the income
statement and the amount of cash flow from profit during the year. Creditors and investors also should
pay attention to cash flow from profit and management's ability to control this very important number.

To get from net income to its cash flow result we have to make seven adjustments along the way. Each is
caused by a change during the year in one of the company's seven operating assets and liabilities (i.e., the
assets and liabilities directly involved in sales
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revenue and expenses). We shall ook at these adjustments in the order shown in the company's cash flow
statement (dataiis from in Chapter 13 Exhibit, page 66).

Seven Changesin Operating Assets and Liabilities That Determine Cash Flow from Profit for Year

1. Accounts Receivable: At year-end the company had $1,000,000 uncollected sales revenue, which is
the ending balance of its accounts receivable. The $1,000,000 isincluded in sales revenue for
determining profit. But the company did not receive this amount of cash from customers. The $1,000,000
went into accounts receivable instead of cash. On the other hand, the company collected its $825,000
beginning balance of accounts receivable. The $825,000 collected minus $1,000,000 not collected has a
$175,000 negative impact on cash flow. See the first adjustment in the cash flow statement (Chapter 13
Exhibit, page 66). If short, an increase in accounts receivable hurts cash flow from profit.

2. Inventory: Notice the rather large increase in the company's inventory during the year. This may or
may not have been a smart business decision. Perhaps the business needed alarger inventory to meet
higher sales demand; maybe not. In any case, the $440,000 inventory increase has a negative impact on
cash flow from profit. The quickest way to explain thisis as follows. The company paid for all the
products sold during the year, which is reported in cost of goods sold expense for determining profit.
Plus, it spent an additional $440,000 to build up itsinventory. It'samost asif the company had to write
$440,000 of checksto enlarge itsinventory. See the second adjustment in the cash flow statement. In
short, an increase in inventory hurts cash flow from profit.

So far, cash flow is down $615,000—the $175,000 negative adjustment for accounts receivable plus the
$440,000 negative adjustment for inventory. In contrast, the next four items are positive adjustments.

3. Prepaid Expenses. During the year the company paid $160,000 for certain operating costs that will
benefit next year, and therefore were not charged to operating expenses in the year. See the ending
balance in the company's prepaid expenses account. The company paid $160,000 on top of its operating
expenses for the year. But the company had $185,000 of prepaid expenses at the start of the year; these
costs were paid last year and then charged to operating expenses in the year just ended. Taking into
account both the beginning and ending balances in prepaid expenses the company comes out $25,000
ahead in terms of cash flow. $185,000 not paid minus $160,000 paid has a $25,000 positive impact on
cash flow. See the third adjustment in the cash flow statement

4. Depreciation: During the year the company recorded $260,000 depreciation expense, not by writing a
check for this amount but by writing down the cost of its fixed assets. This write-down isrecorded as an
increase in the accumulated depreciation account, which is the contra or offset account deducted from the
property, plant & equipment asset account (see Chapter 13 Exhibit, page 66). Fixed assets are partially
written down each year to record the wear and tear on the assets every year of use. The company paid
cash for the fixed assets when it bought these long-term resources. The company does not have to pay for
them a second time when it uses the fixed assets. In
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short, depreciation expense is not a cash outlay in the year recorded and therefore is a positive
adjustment to determine cash flow from profit. See the fourth adjustment in the cash flow statement.

The depreciation "add back™ to net income can be explained another way. For the sake of argument here,
assume all sales revenue was collected in cash during the year. Part of this cash inflow from customers
pays the company for the use of its fixed assets during the year. In a sense the business "sells" afraction
of itsfixed assets to its customers each year. In setting its sales prices a business includes depreciation as
acost of doing business. So, each year a business recovers part of the capital invested in its fixed assets
in the cash flow from sales revenue. In short, the company in this example recaptured or recouped
$260,000 of the investment in its fixed assets, which is a significant source of cash flow.

5. Accounts Payable: The ending balances in the company's two accounts payable reveal that
manufacturing costs and operating expenses were not fully paid during the year. The ending balancesin
these two liabilities relieved the company of making cash payments in the amount of $640,000 (again see
Chapter 13 Exhibit, page 66). Not paying these costs avoids cash outflow, of course. But consider the
other side of the coin. The company started the year with $535,000 accounts payable. These liabilities
were paid during the year. The $640,000 not paid minus $535,000 paid has a net $105,000 positive
impact on cash flow. See the fifth adjustment in the cash flow statement.

6. Accrued Expenses. These liabilities work virtually the same as accounts payable. The company did
not pay $257,167 of its expenses during the year, which is the sum of ending balancesin its two accrued
expense liability accounts. But the company did pay the $197,500 beginning amounts of these liabilities.
The $257,167 not paid minus $197,500 paid has a net $59,667 positive impact on cash flow. See the
sixth adjustment in the cash flow statement.

7. Income Tax Payable:

At the start of the year the business owed the tax authorities $36,000 on taxable income from the
previous year. This amount was paid early in the year. At the end of the year the business owed $23,940
of itsincome tax expense for the year; this amount was not paid. The net effect is that the company paid
$12,060 more to the government than its income tax expense for the year. See the negative adjustment
for the decrease in income tax payable in the cash flow statement.

Summing up the cash flow adjustments to net income:

* Increases in operating assets cause decreases in cash flow from profit; and, decreases in operating assets
result in increases in cash flow from profit. Thereis areverse effect on cash flow, in other words.

* Increases in operating liabilities help cash flow from profit; and, decreases in operating liabilities result
in decreases in cash flow from profit. There is a same way effect on cash flow, in other words.

See in Chapter 13 Exhibit that the combined net effect of the seven adjustments to net incomeisa
$177,393 decrease. Cash flow from profit suffered by this amount, due to the changes in the company's
operating assets and liabilities. Still, the business realized $540,807 cash flow from its operating
activities during the year. This source of cash flow isvital to every business.



Page 71

One last point: The accounting profession's rule-making body (the Financial Accounting Standards
Board, or FASB) expressed a preference for reporting cash flow from operating activities. The format
you see in Chapter 13 Exhibit is called the indirect method, which uses the changes in operating assets
and liabilities to adjust net income. Instead, the FASB prefers the direct method for this section of the
cash flow statement.

Thetop half of Exhibit A on page 3 in Chapter 1, in fact, is an example of the direct method of
presentation. Notice that the cash flow from profit is the same—$540,807 either way. Despite the FASB's
clear preference for the direct method, the large majority of businesses use the indirect method, which the
FASB permits. Which do you prefer?

What Does " Cash Flow" Mean?

More and more in the business and financial press you see "cash flow" mentioned in articles and stories.
It may surprise you that there is no standardized definition of cash flow. At arecent party a colleague
asked me what is meant by the term "cash flow." | had to tell him that it could refer to a number of
different things. When | read articlesin the Wall Street Journal that use the term "cash flow" I'm not sure
what the reporter means by the term. Reporters usually don't offer definitions of thisterm in their articles.
But, when they do they don't necessarily mean the line in the cash flow statement that we've been
analyzing above (i.e., cash flow from operating activities).

Most often reporters seem to mean—or actually define "cash flow" as—net income plus depreciation
expense (and any other noncash expenses). In this example, adding back depreciation expense to net
income would give $978,200 "cash flow" ($718,200 net income plus $260,000 depreciation expense).
Financial reports do not provide this figure. Cash flow statements focus on cash flow from operating
activities, which is $540,807 in our example.

| suspect the "reporters definition” (if | may call it that) is mainly a shortcut to avoid the other
adjustments to net income that are needed to arrive at cash flow from profit. But | don't know this for
sure. For some years many writers in the business world and especially in the fields of finance and
Investments have done the same thing: They add back depreciation to net income to get "cash flow."

Of course they're at liberty to define cash flow any way they want, although | wish they would be clearer
on their terminology. | have nothing against adding depreciation to net income—as a starting point. But |
do have serious reservations about stopping at this point, and not looking at the changes in other
operating assets and liabilities that are intertwined with sales revenue and expenses and therefore also
have impacts on cash flow from profit. The accounting profession has defined what it means by cash
flow from profit (or, to be more technical, cash flow from operating activities). Perhaps it will take more
time for this official definition to emerge as the generally accepted meaning of cash flow, but | have my
doubts.



CHAPTER 14 EXHIBIT—CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

BALAMCE SHEET
Sea bottom ling
Assels End of Year  Starl of Year  Changes / in cash fiow stalemant.
Cash 5 565807 $ 750,000 (S84, 183)
Accounts Recelvable 1,600,000 825,000 175,000
Imventory 1,680,000 1:250,000 $440,000
Frepaid Expenses 160,000 185,000 (E25,000)
Total Curront Assets %3 415807  §3,010,000
Praperty, Plani & Equipmenl 3,000,000 2250000 ST50,000 ~a—————————
Accurmulated Deprociation (800,000 (540,0000  (S260,000)
Total hszels 55,615,807 4,720,000
AL LS o L bt

Liabilities and Owners’ Equity End of Year Start of Year Changes
Accouns Payable—Inventony § 520,000 § 450,000
Accounis Payable—Opearating

Expanses 120,000 45,000
Total Accoums Fayanle £ 540000 5 535,000 105,000
Aeerued Cperating Expenses § 240,000 5 185000
Acsrued Interesl Payakio 17,187 12,600
Total Azcruad Expenzes % 267167 5 197500 F50,867
Income Tax Payahble 23,840 36,000 {$12,080)
EShort-Term Mojes Payable H25.000 00,000 5 25,000 -1
Total Gurren Liabilities 1,948,107 #1,368,500
Lang-Term Maoles Payatie TE0.000 00,000 £150,000 ﬂ—|
Total Liakdliies 52.P86,107  §1.968,500
Gapital Stack 775,000 T25,000 H60,000 -=af-
Retained Eamings 2.544,700 2,008,500  $518.200 q—l
Total Owners' Equity $3,318,700 $2,751,500

" $718,200 nat Income less

Tetal Liakilitis and -, £200,000 cash dividends

Qwners' Equity $5.615.807  $4,720,000
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR YEAR

equals $518,200 incraase
In retained eamings,

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Mt Incomi

Accounts Beceivable Incraase

Inventory Increase

Prepald Expenses Decrease
Depreciation Expense
Accounts Payable Increase
Accrued Expenses Intreass

Income Tax Payable Decrease

Gash Flow Adjustmens fo
Mat Inzome

Cash Flaw ram Operating
Ativities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purcheses of Propeny, Fiant &

Equipmean

$718.200
(5175,000)
{440,000)
#5000
260,000
105,000
59,667
(312,060)
{177,393}
£540,B07
($750.000)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Shaort-Term Debt Borrowing
Lonp-Term Dekt Borrowing
Capital Stock |s5u8
Dividands Paid Stockhaoldars

Increasze (Decreass) in Cash
during Yeaar

{200, 000)

§ 25,000
150,000
50,000

£ 25,000

(3184,193]
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Cash Flows from Investing and Financing Activities
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Nonprofit Sources of Cash; and Uses of Cash

Profit isavital source of cash inflow to every business. Profit isinternal cash flow—money generated by
the business itself without going outside the company to external sources of capital. Chapter 13 explains
that the company's profit generated $540,807 cash flow during the year just ended. Thisisless than the
company's net income for the year; but profit provided more than half a million dollars of money for the
business and thisisn't chicken feed.

The obvious question is: What did the business do with the $540,807 cash flow from profit? The
remainder of the cash flow statement provides the answer to this question; it also reports other sources of
cash that were tapped by the business during the year that provided additional capital to the business.

The company had $540,807 cash available during the year. What could it do with this money? (Well
look at what it actually did in just amoment.) One option is simply to increase its cash balance; just let
the money pile up in the company's checking account. Thisis not a very productive use of the cash,
unless the business were on the ragged edge and desperately needed more cash to work with. Or, the
business could pay off some of its debt. Or, the company could use some of the money to pay cash
dividends to its stockholders. In fact, the company did pay $200,000 cash dividends to its stockholders
during the year.

Another option isto use cash flow from profit to invest in its future; for example, it could buy new fixed
assets to modernize and expand the production capacity of the business. In fact, the company paid
$750,000 for new fixed assets during the year (see Chapter 14 Exhibit on page 72). After cash dividends
the company had only $340,807 cash available from profit ($540,807 cash flow from profit minus
$200,000 cash dividends = $340,807 cash available for other purposes).

Where did the business get the rest of the money to buy its new fixed assets? It started the year with
$750,000 in the bank (see Chapter 14 Exhibit). So the company could have used all this money to buy the
fixed assets. However, this would have left the company with only $340,807 ending cash balance.
Therefore, the business increased its borrowings $175,000 and also issued additional capital stock for
$50,000 during the year.

Together these two external sources of capital provided $225,000. Adding this $225,000 to what the cash
balance would have been gives the $565,807 ending cash balance: ($340,807 + $225,000 = $565,807).
See Chapter 14 Exhibit, page 72 again.

Wheat I've just described in words is presented in the cash flow statement, in one section headed " Cash
Flows from Investing Activities' and in another headed " Cash Flows from Financing Activities." The
purchase of fixed assetsis an invest-
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ing activity. These are also called capital expenditures, to emphasize the long-term nature of investing
capital in fixed assets.

Managers and other financial report readers keep a close watch on capital expenditures. These cash
outlays are a"bet on the future" by the company. The business is saying, in effect, that it needs the new
fixed assets to maintain or improve its competitive position, or to expand its facilities for future growth.
These are some of the most critical decisions made by top management.

Making such investmentsis always risky. Who knows what will happen in the future? But, on the other
hand, not making such investments may sign the death warrant of a business; by not making such
investments the company may fall behind its competition and lose market share that would be impossible
to regain. Then again, being overinvested and having excess fixed assets can be an abatross around the
neck of the business.

In any case, the business laid out $750,000 for new fixed assets. In doing so the business had to make
some key financing decisions as well—where to get the money for the fixed asset purchases? As aready
mentioned, the business decided it should not allow its working cash balance to drop as low as $340,807
(which would have happened without additional cash from external sources). Relative to more than $10
million annual sales, $340,807 is arather skinny cash balance to work with.

| should point out that there are no general standards or guidelines regarding how large a company's
operating cash balance should be. The $340,807 cash balance would equal only 1.7 weeks of the
company's sales revenue, which would be viewed as too small, | think, by most business managers. How
much cushion does a business need as a safety reserve to protect against unfavorable devel opments?

Wheat if the economy takes a nosedive, or what if the company has a serious falloff in sales? What if
some of its accounts receivable are not collected on time? What if the company is not able to sell its
inventory soon enough to start the cash flow cycle in motion? What if it doesn't have enough money to
pay its employees on time? There are no easy answers to the "right" cash balance issue.

A logical question to ask hereis: Why didn't the business forgo cash dividends and keep its working cash
balance at a higher level? Thisis agood question! Probably, its stockholders want a cash dividend on
their investments in the business, and the board of directors was under pressure to deliver cash dividends.
In any case, the business did pay $200,000 cash dividends, which are reported in the financing activities
section in the cash flow statement (Chapter 14 Exhibit).

Should cash dividends be reported as a direct deduction under cash flow from operating activities
(profit), to show more explicitly how much cash flow was available from profit after cash dividends?
Thiswould draw attention to a key cash flow number of the business. | suspect that most companies do
not want to call attention to this number. The FASB decided that dividends should be reported in the
financing activities section of the cash flow statement. | favor more options on this matter.

In summary, the cash flow statement deserves as much attention and scrutiny as the income statement
and balance sheet. Though not too likely, a company making profit could be headed for liquidity
problems (having too little ready cash) or solvency problems (not being able to pay liabilities on time).
Profit does not guarantee liquidity and solvency. The cash flow statement should be read carefully to see
if there are any danger signs or red flags.
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One Last Point: Having just encouraged you to read thisfinancial statement, | should mention that cash
flow statements as reported by most public corporations are cluttered with alot of detail—far too much
detail, in my opinion. One could get the impression that companies are deliberately making their cash
flow statements hard to read, though this view may be too harsh. Anyway, you should look mainly at the
big-ticket items and skip many of the smaller details. Income statements reported by most public
corporations, in sharp contrast, have fewer lines of information than cash flow statements and are
generally much easier to read and understand. Thisis an odd state of affairs indeed.
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Growth, Decline, and Cash Flow
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Setting the Stage for Cash Flow

Chapter 13 explains how changes in a company's operating assets and operating liabilities help or hurt
cash flow from profit. To review briefly, there are three major pieces to the cash flow
puzzle—depreciation, operating assets, and operating liabilities:

* Depreciation: During the year a business converts part of the capital invested in its fixed assets into
cash. Sales revenue reimburses a business for expenses the company incurs in making the sales. (Profit is
the margin by which sales revenue exceeds expenses.) One expense is depreciation of the company's
fixed assets. A part of the sales revenue collected during the year pays for the use of the company's fixed
assets during the year. In areal sense customers pay the business "rent" on its fixed assets. For example,
when you pay for ameal in arestaurant part of your bill compensates the business for your use of its
kitchen equipment, tables, chairs, and so forth.

» Operating Assets. Net income plus depreciation is not the whole story for cash flow from profit.
Changes in a company's operating assets (accounts receivable, inventory, and prepaid expenses) also
affect cash flow from profit. Increases in these assets put a damper on cash flow. Some of the cash inflow
from sales revenue is used for these increases in operating assets. Decreases in operating assets improve
cash flow from profit; the business, in effect, liquidates part of its investmentsin these assets.

* Operating Liabilities: Increasesin operating liabilities (accounts payable, accrued expenses, and
income tax payable) help cash flow from profit during the year. The business avoids cash outlay to the
extent of the increases. In other words, part of total expenses for the year are not paid but instead are
recorded by increases in these liabilities. Decreases in operating liabilities have the opposite effect; more
cash is paid out than the amount of expenses for the year.

A business records depreciation expense every year. Depreciation is an "add back" to net income every
year to determine cash flow from profit. In other words, every year a business recovers some of the cost
invested in its fixed assets from sales revenue cash inflow. The amount of depreciation expense varies
year to year, but every year a business recoups afraction of itsinvestment in fixed assets.

Depreciation cash inflow can be used to replace old fixed assets that have reached the end of their useful
lives. However, the amount of depreciation recapture may not be enough to provide all the cash needed
for new fixed assets. Depreciation based on original cost cannot be expected to provide enough cash flow
to replace fixed assets at higher current costs, much less to expand the fixed assets of a business.
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Cash Flow in the Steady-State Case

Every year abusiness records depreciation, and every year cash flow from profit benefits from the
company's recapture of some of its fixed assets cost. Depreciation is a predictable factor in the cash flow
equation. On the other hand, changes in operating assets and operating liabilities depend mainly on
whether the business is growing, declining. or holding steady. These three scenarios each cause remarkably
different impacts on cash flow from profit.

We start with the steady state (i.e., the no growth/no decline scenario) for the business example. Exhibit E
on page 80 presents the first section of the company's cash flow statement for next year for this
hypothetical situation. The purpose is to demonstrate what happens to cash flow from profit next year if
sales revenue and expenses next year are a carbon copy of the year just ended.

Exhibit E rests on one key assumption—that the company's operating assets and liabilities would/should
not change next year. For example, if the company's sales revenue next year is the same, then thereis no
reason for its accounts receivable to change. Likewise, if cost of goods sold expense remains the same next
year, there is no reason for the company's inventory to increase or decrease. And so forth for prepaid
expenses and operating expenses. Therefore, Exhibit E shows zero changes for all operating assets and
liabilities. The only cash flow adjustment to net income, therefore, is the depreciation add back.

Now, a company's sales revenue and expenses next year will ailmost certainly change, at least alittle bit.
The purpose here, however, isto provide auseful point of departure, before moving on the growth and
decline scenarios. Exhibit E highlights two key points. Thefirst is the unique nature of depreciation.
Exhibit E (page 80) makes depreciation stick out like a sore thumb. Thisis the only situation in which cash
flow from profit equals net income plus depreciation, because there are no changes in the company's
operating assets and liabilities.

The second point concerns those zeros in Exhibit E, representing no changes in the company's operating
assets and liabilities. Zero changes happen only if the company keeps its operating ratios constant between
its income statement accounts and their corresponding balance sheet accounts. For instance, in this

exampl e the company's accounts receivable equals 5 weeks of annual sales revenue, itsinventory equals 13
weeks of annual cost of goods sold expense, and so on. These ratios may change from one year to the next,
but not in this example.

For instance, even in a steady-state situation the business may allow its average accounts receivable
collection period to drift up to 6 weeks of annual sales, in which case its accounts receivable would
increase. Thisincrease would cause a negative cash flow adjustment. So, even if sales revenue and
expenses remain constant next year, a company's operating assets and liabilities may
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EXHIBIT E—STEADY-STATE SCENARIO

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR YEAR
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net Income $718,200
Accounts Receivable Change $ 0
Inventory Change 0
Prepaid Expenses Change 0
Depreciation Expense 260,000
Accounts Payable Change o
Accured Expenses Change ]
Income Tax Payable Change 0
Cash Flow Adjustments 260,000
Cash Flow from Operating Activities $978,200

change because the average credit period extended to its customers may change, its average inventory
holding period may change, or its average credit period of accounts payable may change, and so on.

Cash flow from profit in the steady-state scenario is like milking a cow that gives a dependable supply of
cash flow every period equal to depreciation plus net income (although allowance should be made for
minor changes in operating assets and liabilities). Growth and decline situations are entirely
different—which the next two sections of the chapter explain.
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Growth ""Penalty" on Cash Flow from Profit

Growth isthe central strategy of most businesses. The purpose of growth, of course, isto increase profit
and shareholders' wealth. Without good management, however, expenses may grow faster than sales
revenue, and profit may actually decrease. In tough times just holding its own may be the best a business
can do.

Exhibit F on page 82 presents a growth scenario for the business for next year. The exhibit focuses on
changes in the company's income statement, bal ance sheet, and cash flow statement. The company is
budgeting significant growth in sales revenue and profit for next year, and wants to know how this
growth will impact the company's cash flow from profit next year.

On the left side in Exhibit F is the company's income statement for the year just ended. Budgeted
changes for next year are entered in the second column. (We do not go into how the company arrived at
these changes; we trust that the company's managers have done realistic forecasting and have set
achievable goals for next year.)

Exhibit F starts with the changes in sales revenue and expenses, then moves across to changes in
operating assets and liabilities that are caused by the changes in sales revenue and expenses, and then
moves over to the cash flow statement where the changes in the operating assets and liabilities are
entered as adjustments to net income.

The changes in operating assets and liabilities assume that the company's operating ratios remain the
same. For instance, notice that cost of goods sold expense is budgeted to increase $1,300,000 next year.
The company's inventory is 13 weeks of annual cost of goods sold; so, the increase in cost of goods sold
expense causes the amount invested in inventory to increase accordingly ($1,300,000 increase in cost of
goods sold expense x 13/52 operating ratio = $325,000 increase in inventory). All other operating ratios
are held constant in the growth scenario shown in Exhibit F as well. Also notice that depreciation
expense is budgeted to increase $50,000 next year, because the company plans on buying new fixed
assets. So, depreciation is $310,000 next year.

Profit is budgeted to increase $135,600 next year, to $853,800. Thisis good, of course. But, please do not
assume that profit from cash flow next year will equal net income plus depreciation, which would be
$1,163,800 ($853,800 net income + $310,000 depreciation = $1,163,800). The business will not have this
much cash flow from profit to work with, not by along shot.

Exhibit F reveals that cash flow from profit next year will be less than $800,000. This lower amount of
cash flow is due to rather large "hits" on cash flow caused by the increases in accounts receivable and
inventory next year that are needed to support the higher level of sales and expenses. These sizable
negative adjustments to cash flow are offset to some extent by increases in operating liabilities. But the
company still ends up with a $60,326 negative cash flow adjustment to net income.
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BALANCE SHEET

Page 82

INCOME STATEMENT Changes CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR YEAR
ForYesr  Chenges Assets it Yanr Cash Flows from Operating Activitles
JuBLEnded: Mol Vet Gash 5 733474 Net income § 853,300
Sales Hevenue $10,400,000 $2.000,000 ———— B Accounts Recaivable 192308 ———— B Accounts Receivable
Cost of Goods Soid e nventory 325,000 —l Change (5192 308)
Expense £, 760,000 1,300,000 Prapaid Expenses 20,759 B |nventory Changs (325,000}
Gross Margin § 340000 5 700,000 — e Accumnulatad L—"' Prepaid Expenses Change (30, 79y
Operaling Expenses 2,080,000 400,000 Depreciation __(310,000) B Depreciation Expense 310,000
Depreciation Expense EG60,000 50,000 Total £1,031,551 ¥ Accounts Payable Changs 123,077
Operating Eamings § 1,300,000 § 250,000 ¥ Accrued Expenses Change 50,154
Liabilities and Changes B~ [ncoma Tax Payable Changa 4,520
[nterest Expanse 103,000 24.000 Owners’ Equity Mext Year S ——
i ash Flow Adjustimenis 1o
Earnings before Tax £ 1,197.000 3 225,000 A its Payable— et Incormia {5 80,328)
income Tax Expenss 478,800 50,400 m— Irentony § 100,000
i nts Payable- Cash Flow fram Gperating
i — o = chiviti 4
Met Income £ 718,200 $ 135800 Gperating Expenses Z3.077 Activiies 793,47
Tetdl Botadais Fagabls  Aod2dub: Nofe: The invesiing and financing sections
. of the cash flow slalernent are not showm;
Mg”“igiﬂm"g 45,154 changes in the balance sheel accounts do
pes ¢ nof include the investing and financing
b Accrued |nferest Payable 4,000 activities of the company for the year,
Total Accrued Expenses $ 50154 ——J
= Income Tax Payable 4,520
bpe~ Fiatained Eamings £53,800
Tatal

$1,031,551
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In short, there's no such thing as a free lunch for growth when it comes to cash flow. Growth should be
good for profit next year, but amost always puts a crimp in cash flow next year. In other words, growth
does not produce instant cash flow equal to the increase in profit. Compare Exhibit F, which shows cash
flow from profit for the growth scenario, with Exhibit E, which shows cash flow from profit in the
steady-state scenario. Cash flow is much higher in the steady-state case. Profit is lower in the steady-state
case, but cash flow is higher.

A business could speed up cash flow from profit next year if it were able to improve its operating ratios,
such as holding less inventory. But, generally speaking, improving operating ratiosis very difficult in a
period of growth. If anything, a business may be under pressure and allow its operating ratios to slip a
little. For example, the company may offer customers more liberal credit termsto stimulate sales, which
would extend the average accounts receivable credit period. Or, the business may increase the size and
mix of itsinventory to improve delivery timesto customers and to provide better selection.

Exhibit F does not show the company's other sources of cash flow or how it plans to use available cash
during the coming year. In other words, the financing and investing sections of the cash flow statement
are not presented. We don't see, for instance, how much the businessis planning to spend on capital
expenditures next year, or how much the company plans to distribute in cash dividends to its
stockholders next year. Exhibit F presents the all-important cash flow from profit, which is the essential
starting point for cash flow planning next year.
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Cash Flow " Reward" from Decline

The old saying "what goes up can come down" certainly applies to sales revenue and the financial
fortunes of a business. Few businesses can keep growing forever, without eventually slowing down or
reversing direction. Of course there are the examples of remarkable long-run sustained growth, such as
Wal-Mart and Microsoft. But even stalwarts such as McDonald's leveled off eventually. Some industries
are cyclical by nature; their sales revenue goes up and down like aroller coaster over the cycle.

Profit performance almost always suffersin adecline. It's very difficult for a business to respond to a
sharp falloff in sales by cutting its expenses immediately. For one thing, most businesses are saddled
with fixed costs that stay the same even when sales volume declines. A business has to make major
surgery to reduce its fixed costs. Chapter 23 explains the impact of fixed costs on profit behavior. This
present chapter focuses on the consequences of decline on cash flow from profit.

Exhibit G on page 85 presents a decline scenario for the business, which we might call the "evil twin" of
the growth scenario shown in Exhibit F. In comparing the two exhibits, notice first that sales revenue
goes down $2 million in this scenario, which isabig drop. Cost of goods sold expense drops $1.3
million, which is proportional with the drop in sales revenue. However, the company's other expenses do
not decrease proportionally with sales revenue, mainly because of the fixed-cost components in the
expenses. (Chapter 23 goes into thistopic.)

The bottom line, as they say, is that net income would plunge $315,000, about half of last year's profit.
Thisisbad news, of course. The good news is that cash flow from profit would be higher, much higher.
Net income would drop to about $400,000, but cash flow from profit would be over $1 million! Y ou may
find this rather surprising.

The scenario presented in Exhibit G assumes that the company does not change any of its operating
ratios. For example, the ratio of accounts receivable to annual sales revenue remains at 5 weeks. Since
sales revenue drops $2 million accounts receivable drops $192,308 ($2,000,000 decrease in sales revenue
" 5/52 weeks = $192,308 decrease in accounts receivable). Notice in Exhibit G that every operating asset
and liability drops—except accrued interest payable because interest expense does not decrease next
year.

Notice the large positive adjustments in Exhibit G due to changes in accounts receivable and inventory.
The decreases in the three operating liabilities are negative adjustments, but the changes in operating
assets plus depreciation more than offset the decreases in operating liabilities. In short, the business
would realize a substantial cash flow from profit and would have to decide what to do with the cash.

The company could pay off some if its debt (interest-bearing liabilities) or possibly retire some of its
capital stock shares. If the business predicts that the decline will be permanent, it will not need as much
capital from debt and equity sources. At the lower
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EXHIBIT G—DECLINE SCENARIO
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level of salesthe company needs lower asset levels, which means it needs less capital.

The broader challenge facing the business concerns developing arebound strategy. Downsizing a
business, particularly laying off employees who have been with the company many years, is painful to
everyone. Downsizing means management has, to some extent, thrown in the towel and given up on
finding alternatives for maintaining the size of the business and growing. But isn't this exactly one of the
core functions of top management—to know how to move the business forward into the future?

What about L 0sses?

Since we're discussing business decline, this is the appropriate place to bring up an unpleasant subject.
What happens to cash flow when the bottom line of the income statement isin red ink? What happens to
cash flow from profit when there is no profit, but aloss for the year? Of course this means that expenses
were more than sales revenue for the year. As we have examined in this and previous chapters, actua
cash inflow during the year from sales revenue is different from the amount of sales revenue. And, actual
cash outflow during the year for expenses is different from the total amount of expenses.

When a business reports aloss for the year, the cash flow statement takes on added importance. The
company's depreciation recapture for the year might offset itsloss. Cash flow from profit could even be
positive, or at least a smaller negative number than the loss for the year. On the other hand, the loss could
be much larger than depreciation.

Please refer again to Exhibit E on page 80. Now assume that all the company's operating assets and
operating liabilities remained the same during the year as shown in the exhibit. But instead of a profit for
the year assume that the company suffered aloss. Suppose the loss were $260,000 for the year. Cash
flow from operating activities would be zero. If the loss were, say, $500,000 for the year, then cash flow
would be a negative $240,000—unless the business could have downsized its operating assets.

Often a business cannot reduce its operating assets when it is experiencing losses. Furthermore, when a
company isin this situation it is difficult to increase its operating liabilities. Its creditors get nervous
when they see the business reporting aloss.

Negative cash flow from operating activities can go on only so long. Sooner or later the business hits the
end of the line, and may be faced with bankruptcy or another unpleasant alternative. Its owners may lose
most or al of the equity capital they invested in the business.



Page 87

16—
Footnotes—The Fine Print in Financial Reports
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Financial Statements—Brief Review

The guts of an annual financial report are the three primary financial statements explained in previous
chapters. To review briefly:

1. Income Statement: Thisisthe summary of a company's sales revenue and expenses for the year (the
profit-making activities of the business) and, of course, it reports the company's final profit, or net
income for the year. A publicly owned business corporation must report earnings per sharein itsincome
statement. A nonpublic company doesn't have to report earnings per share, but it is useful information to
its shareholders.

2. Balance Sheet: Also called the statement of financial condition, thisis asummary of the company's
assets, liabilities, and owners equity at the close of business on the last day of the income statement
period. To understand a balance sheet you need to understand the differences between the basic types of
assets used by a business (inventory versus fixed assets, for instance), and the difference between
operating liabilities (mainly accounts payable and accrued expenses) versus debt on which the business
pays interest. Also, you should know the difference between the two different sources of owners
equity—capital invested by the owners in the business versus profit earned but not distributed to owners,
which is called retained earnings.

3. Cash Flow Statement: Profit generates cash flow, but the amount of cash flow from profit during the
year isnot equal to net income for the year. Thisthird financial statement starts with a section
summarizing cash flow from profit for the year, which is an extremely important number. The statement
also reports other sources of cash for the year, and what the company did with its available cash during
the year. The cash flow statement exposes the financial strategy of the business.

In short, the three financia statements revolve around the three financial imperatives of every
business—to make profit, to remain in healthy financial condition, and to make good use of cash flow.
The three financial statements usually fit on three pages of an annual financial report, one statement on
each page.

Although generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) do not strictly require it, most
businesses—large and small—present two-year or three-year comparative financial statements. This
permits easy comparison of the year just ended with last year, and the year before that. The federal
agency that regulates financial reporting by public corporations, the Securities & Exchange Commission,
requires comparative financial statements. More than 12,000 public companies are audited by the largest
five CPA (certified public accountant) firms (called the Big Five, which used to be the Big Eight not too
many years ago before mergers). Chapter 17 explains audits.
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Why Footnotes?

A typical annual report contains more than the basic three financial statements. This chapter focuses on
one additional piece of information in annual financial reports—footnotes to financial statements.
Footnotes provide the so-called fine print. Without footnotes financial statements would be incomplete,
and possibly misleading. Footnotes are an essential supplement to financial statements.

Top-level managers should never forget that they are responsible for the company's financial statements
and the accompanying footnotes. The footnotes are an integral, inseparable part of the financial
statements. In fact, financia statements state this fact on the bottom of each page, usually worded as
follows:

The accompanying footnotes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.

The auditor's report (see the next chapter) covers footnotes as well as the financial statements. In short,
footnotes are necessary for adequate disclosure in financial reports. The overarching concept of financial
reporting is adequate disclosure, so that al those who have alegitimate interest in the financial affairs of
the business are provided the relevant information they need to make informed decisions and to protect
their interests in the business.
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Two Types of Footnotes

Footnotes are of two kinds. First, the main accounting methods used by the business are identified and
briefly explained. For instance, the particular accounting method used to determine the company's cost of
goods sold expense and its ending inventory cost isidentified (Chapter 20 explains these methods).

For many expenses (and even for sales revenue) most businesses can choose between two or three generally
accepted accounting methods. The company's selections of accounting methods have to be made clear in
footnotes. A footnote is needed for each significant accounting choice by the business. Footnotes assume
some familiarity with accounting terminology, as you can see in the footnote from Caterpillar's financial
statements quoted just below.

A footnote from arecent annual report of Caterpillar Inc. regarding its inventory accounting method reads
asfollows (from page 27 of Caterpillar's electronic filing of its 1997 10-K with the Securities & Exchange
Commission):

Inventories are valued principally by the LIFO (last-in, first-out) method. The value of inventories on the LIFO
basis represented approximately 85% of total inventories at current cost value at December 31, 1997, and 1996,
and 90% at December 31, 1995.

If the FIFO (first-in, first-out) method had been in use, inventories would have been $2,067, $2,123, and $2,103
[million] higher than reported at December 31, 1997, 1996, and 1995, respectively.

This footnote reveals that Caterpillar's inventoriesin its balance sheets at these year-ends would have been
$2 billion higher if the company had selected an alternative accounting method. And, its cost of goods sold
expense for each year would have been different (but "only" by afew million dollars).

Companies disclose their choice of depreciation methods in footnotes. (Chapter 21 discusses different
depreciation methods). Other common footnotes explain the consolidation of the company's financial
statements. Many large businesses consist of afamily of corporations under the control of one parent
company. The financial statements of each corporation are grouped together in one integrated set of
financial statements. Intercorporate dealings are eliminated asif there were only one entity. Affiliated
companies in which the business has made investments are not consolidated if the company does not have a
controlling interest in the other business.

The second type of footnotes provide additional disclosure that cannot be placed in the main body of the
financial statements. For example, the maturity dates, interest rates, collateral, or other security provisions,
and many other details of the long-term debt of a business are presented in footnotes. Annual rentals
required under long-term operating leases are given. Details regarding stock options and employee stock
ownership plans are spelled out, and the potential dilution effects on earnings per share are illustrated in a
footnote. Mgor lawsuits and



Page 91

other legal actions against the company are discussed in footnotes.

Details about the company's employees' retirement and pension plans are aso disclosed in footnotes.
Obligations of the businessto pay for postretirement health and medical costs of retired employees are
presented in footnotes. The list of possible footnotesis along one. In preparing its annual report, a
business needs to go down along checklist of items that may have to be disclosed, and then write the
footnotes. Thisis no easy task. The business has to explain in arelatively short space what can be rather
complex.
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Management Discretion in Writing Footnotes

Managers have to rely on the experts—the chief financial officer of the organization, legal counsel, and
the outside CPA auditor—to go through the checklist of footnotes that may be required. Once every
required footnote has been identified, key decisions still have to be made regarding each footnote.
Managers have much discretion or flexibility regarding just how candid to be and how much detail to
reveal in each footnote.

Clearly managers should not give away the farm—they should not divulge information that would
damage a competitive advantage the business enjoys. Managers don't have to help their competitors. The
ideais to help the company's debtholders and stockhol ders—to report to them information they're
entitled to.

But, just how much information do the debtholders and stockholders need or are they legally entitled to?
Thisisavery difficult question to answer in black-and-white terms. Beyond certain basic facts exactly
what should be put in afootnote for “fair” disclosure is not always clear and definite.

Too little disclosure, such as withholding information about a major lawsuit against the business, would
be misleading and the top executives of the business would be liable for this lack of disclosure. Beyond
the "legal minimum," which will be insisted on by the company's CPA auditors, footnote disclosure rules
and guidelines are vague and murky. Managers have rather broad freedom of choice regarding how frank
to be and how to express what they put in footnotes.
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Opaque Footnotes:
A Serious Problem

One point that | must call to your attention concerns the readability of footnotes in general. As an author
| may be overly sensitive to this, but | think not. Many investors and securities analysts complain about
the dense fog in footnotes. Footnote writing can be so obtuse that you have to suspect that the writing is
deliberately obscure. The rules require footnotes, but the rules do not demand that the footnotes be clear
and concise so that an average financial report reader can understand them.

Frequently the sentence structure of footnotes seems intentionally legalistic and awkward. Technical
terminology abounds in footnotes. Poor writing seems more prevalent in footnotes on sensitive matters,
such as lawsuits or ventures that the business abandoned with heavy losses. A lack of candor is obvious
in many footnotes.

Creditors and stockholders cannot expect managers to expose al the dirty linen of the businessin
footnotes, or to confess all their bad decisions. But, better clarity and more frankness certainly would
help and would not damage the business.

Some companies go to great efforts to be frank and clear, and even entertaining in their footnotes and
other disclosures in their annual financia reports. A model for companies to emulate in my opinion are
the annual financia reports of Berkshire Hathaway. The chief executive officer and principal stockholder
of the company, Warren Buffett, takes pride in his financial reports, aswell he should. The reports are
delightful to read and are very informative.

True, stockholders can ask questions at their annual meetings with top managers and the board of
directors of the business. However, managers can be just as evasive in their answers asin their footnotes.

In short, creditors and investors frequently are stymied by poorly written footnotes. Y ou really have only
one option, and that's to plow through the underbrush of troublesome footnotes, more than once if
necessary. Usually you can tell if particular footnotes are important enough to deserve this extra effort.
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17—
The Cost of Credibility—Auditsby CPAs
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Why Audits?

Suppose you have invested afair amount of money in a privately-owned business. Y ou are not involved in
managing the company; you're an absentee owner, or a passive investor. Being a stockholder you receive
the company's financial reports, of course. Y ou read the financial statements and footnotes to find out how
the company is doing, and whether there might be any storm clouds on the horizon. Let me ask you a
question here: How do you know whether the company's financial statements provide adequate disclosure
and whether the business uses approved accounting methods to measure its profit? Do you just presume
this? Are you sure you can trust the company's financial reports?

Or, suppose you are a bank loan officer. A business includes its latest financial statementsin the loan
application package. Does the business use proper accounting methods to prepare its financial statements?
Have, perhaps, the financial statements been "tweaked" for purposes of securing the loan, to make them
look better than they redlly are? It's not unheard-of, you know.

Or, suppose you're amutual fund investment manager in charge of alarge portfolio of stocks traded on the
New Y ork Stock Exchange and NASDAQ (the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated
Quotations system). Market values of stock shares depend on the net income and earnings per share
amounts reported by companies in their financial reports. How do you know that their profit numbers are
reliable?

Financia statements can have errors or be misleading for two basic reasons:

» Honest mistakes happen because a company's accounting system is inadequate and fails to detect and
correct errors, or because the company's accountants simply do not have adequate understanding of current
accounting and financial reporting requirements and standards.

* Deliberate dishonesty can cause employees or top-level managers to intentionally distort the company's
profit performance and financial statements, or withhold vital information that should be disclosed in the
financial report. Thisis called fraudulent financial reporting.

Bad accounting and fraud are ever-present dangersin financia statements. One way to protect against these
potentially serious problemsisto audit the accounting system and records of a business to ascertain whether
the company's financial statements are free of errors and adhere to generally accepted accounting principles.
An audit provides assurance that the company's financial report is reliable and follows the rules. Audits of
financial reports are done by certified public accountants, which we turn to next.
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Certified Public Accountants

A person needs to do three things to become a certified public accountant (CPA). He or she must earn a
college degree with afairly heavy maor (emphasis) in accounting courses. The American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants has strongly encouraged all states to enact laws requiring five years of
education. Many states have passed such laws; some go effect in the year 2000. However, some
states—notably California at the time of this writing—have not enacted such laws.

Second, a person must pass the national CPA exam, which is arigorous two-day exam testing knowledge
in accounting, income tax, auditing, and business law. Third, a person must satisfy the experience
requirement of the state in which he or she lives. State laws and regul ations differ regarding the time and
nature of public accounting experience that a person must have; one year is the general minimum.

After the three requirements are completed—education, exam, and experience—the person receives a
license by his or her state of residence to practice as a CPA. No one else may hold himself or herself out
to the public asa CPA. Most states (perhaps all, but | haven't checked this out) require 30 or 40 hours of
continuing education ayear to renew a person's CPA license. Every state has a Board of Accountancy
that has the duty to regulate the practice of public accounting and the power to revoke or suspend the
licenses of individuals who violate the laws, regulations, and ethics governing CPASs.

CPAs do more than just audit financial reports. They offer an ever-widening range of servicesto the
public—income tax compliance and planning, and consulting in areas such as personal financia
planning, business valuation, computer systems and information technology, production control and
efficiency, and many other fields of specialization. Indeed, nonaudit services provide more than half the
revenue of large national CPA firms.

The CPA license is widely recognized and respected as a professional credential. The professional status
of CPAsrests on their expertise and experience, and their independence from any one client. The word
"certified" in their title refersto their expertise and experience. The term "public” refersto their
independence. For doing audits of financial statements the independence of CPAs is absolutely essential.
To be independent a CPA must be in public practice and not be an employee of any organization (other
than the CPA firm itself, of course).

Public accounting experience is a good stepping-stone to other career opportunities. Many persons start
in public accounting and end up as the controller (chief accountant) or financial vice president of an
organization; some become presidents and chief executive officers (CEQOS) of business organizations.
Some CPAs go into politics, and afew became state governors. Persons who have left public accounting
are still referred to as CPASs even though they are not in public practice any longer. Thisislike a person
with an M.D. degree who leaves the practice of medicine, but is still called "doctor."
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AreAuditsRequired, or Just a Good Idea?

Corporations whose debt and stock securities are traded on a stock exchange are required by federal
securities law to have their annual financial reports audited by an independent CPA firm. At the time of
thiswriting the five large international CPA firms audit more than 12,000 companiesin the United
States. Beyond these large public companies, relatively few businesses are legally required to have their
financia statements audited by independent CPAS.

A recent study by the international CPA firm Coopers & Lybrand (since merged with Price Waterhouse)
analyzed federal income tax data and found that there are more than 8.5 million business corporations,
partnerships, and limited liability companies, as well as several million sole proprietorships (one-owner
business ventures). Not very many of these business entities are required to have audits. Nevertheless, a
business may decide to have its financial reports audited even though federal or state securities laws do

not apply.

| served on the board of directors (and was a stockholder) of a privately owned bank, and we had CPA
audits every year. Lawyers should be consulted regarding state corporation and securities laws; an audit
may be required in certain situations. A business may sign a contract or agree informally to have its
annual financia reports audited as a condition of borrowing money or when issuing capital stock to new
investors in the business.

Asjust mentioned, public corporations have no choice; they are legally required to have audits of their
annual financia reports by independent CPA firms. But, if not required should a business hire a CPA
firm to audit its annual financial report? What's the payoff? Basically, an audit adds credibility to the
financia report of a business. Audited financial reports have a higher credibility index than unaudited
statements.

Audits by CPAs provide insurance against misleading financial statements. Auditors are expert
accounting system detectives, and they thoroughly understand accounting principles and financia
reporting standards. Being independent of a business, the CPA auditor will not tolerate fraud in the
financia report.

Audits don't come cheap. CPAs are professionals who command high fees. A business cannot ask for a
"once-over lightly" audit at a cut rate. An audit is an audit. CPAs are bound by generally accepted
auditing standards (GAAS)—the authoritative guidelines in doing audits. Thereis no such thing as a
"bargain basement" audit, or a quick-and-dirty audit that only skims over a company's accounting
records. Violations of GAAS can result in lawsuits against the CPA and may damage the CPA's
professional reputation.

An audit takes a | ot of time because the CPA has to examine a great deal of evidence and make many
tests of the accounting records of the business before the CPA is able to express an opinion on the
company's financial statements. This time requirement causes the relatively high cost of an audit. A
business manager, assuming an audit is not legally required, has to ask whether the gain in credibility is
worth the cost of an audit.
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A bank may insist on audits as a condition of making loans to a business. Or, the outside
(nonmanagement) stockholders of a business may insist on annual audits to protect their investmentsin
the business. In these situations the audit fee is a cost of using outside capital. In many situations,
however, outside investors and creditors do not insist on audits. Even so, a business may choose to have
an audit as a checkup on its accounting system. A business may decide it needs to have a security
check—an independent examination focusing on whether the business is vulnerable to fraud and
embezzlement schemes.

Thereis aways a chance of embezzlement and fraud by employees or managers who take advantage of
their positions—for example, accepting kickbacks or other under-the-table payments from customers and
vendors. Employee theft and dishonesty are, unfortunately, rather prevalent. A financial report audit may
uncover theft and fraud. However, the detection of fraud is not the main purpose for auditing financial
reports, even though many people are under the false impression that thisis the primary purpose of an
audit. It isnot.

CPA auditors are required to plan their audit procedures to search for possible fraud and to identify weak
internal controls that would allow fraud to go undetected. Thisis a side benefit of audits; but the main
purpose of an audit is to express an opinion on the fairness of financial statements (including footnotes),
and whether the financial statements adhere to generally accepted accounting principles.

Fraud would undermine the integrity of the financial statements, of course, so the CPA auditor hasto be
on the lookout for fraud of all types (aswell as for accounting errors). But the CPA says nothing at al
about fraud in the audit report. There is no statement such as "we looked for fraud but didn't find any."
What the CPA auditor does say is discussed next.
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Auditors Reports:
Clean and Not So Clean Opinions

First of al let's be clear on one point. I'm talking about audits of financial reports by CPAs. There are
many other types of audits, such as an audit of your income tax return by the Internal Revenue Service,
audits of federally supported programs by the General Accounting Office, audits within an organization
by its own internal auditors, and so on. The following discussion concerns audits by CPASs of financial
reports prepared by a business that are rel eased to the outside world—primarily to its owners and others
who have alegitimate right to receive a copy of its financial report.

Financial report readers are not too concerned about how an audit is done, nor should they be. The
bottom line to them is the opinion of the CPA auditor. They should read the opinion carefully, athough
there is evidence that most don't or at best just give it aquick glance. Evidently, many financial report
users simply assume that having the financial report audited is, by itself, an adequate safeguard. They
may assume that the CPA would not be associated with any financial report that isincorrect or
misleading.

Many financial report readers seem to assume that if the CPA firm gives an opinion and thereby is
associated with afinancial report, then the financial statements and footnotes must be okay and are not
seriously wrong in any respect. Doesn't the CPA's opinion constitute a stamp of approval? No, not
necessarily!

The CPA profession over the years has gone to great lengths to differentiate audit opinions. Y ou've heard
the old saying: "If you've seen one, you've seen them all." Thisis not true about audit opinions. Y ou must
read the auditor's report to find out which type of opinion the auditor is giving on the financial
statements.

The best audit opinion is called an unqualified opinion, or more popularly a"clean” opinion, and is
presented in Exhibit H on page 101. Basically, this opinion states that the CPA has no material
disagreements with the financial report. In other words, the CPA attests that the financial statements have
been prepared according to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and that the footnotes plus
other information in the financial report provide adequate disclosure. (These standards still leave
management a wide range of choices, which the next chapter explores.)

In a clean opinion the CPA auditor says, in effect, "I don't disagree with the financial report.” The actual
wording is: "In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of XYZ Company. . .." The CPA might have prepared the financial
statements differently and might have written the footnotes differently. In fact, the CPA might prefer that
different accounting methods had been used. All the CPA statesin a clean opinion is that the accounting
and disclosure presented in the financial report are acceptable.
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EXHIBIT H—CPA AUDITOR'S STANDARD OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Independent Auditor's Report

We have audited the accompanying bal ance sheets of XYZ Company as of December 31, XXX2 and XXX1,
and the related statements of income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility isto express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on atest basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosuresin the financia statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in al material respects, the financial
position of XYZ Company as of December 31, XX X2 and XX X1, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Sgnature of CPA Firm
[Date]
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The three-paragraph clean (unqualified) audit report shown in Exhibit H on page 101 has been the
standard wording for more than a decade. It was adopted for several reasons, one of which was to
emphasize that the company's management has the primary responsibility for preparing the financial
report. This point is mentioned in the first paragraph.

Also, the accounting profession thought that it should be made clear that an audit provides reasonable but
not absolute assurance that "the financial statements are free of material misstatement.” And, it was
thought that users of financial reports should be told briefly what an audit involves (the second paragraph
in Exhibit H).

The standard version of the CPA auditor's report runs 200 words of fairly technical jargon, and demands
alot from the reader, in my opinion. Frankly, the changes over the years in the language of auditor
reports were motivated primarily by the surge in lawsuits against auditors. Some audits failed to catch
fraudulent financial statements; the CPA firms gave clean opinions on financial statements that later were
discovered to be seriously misleading because of management fraud, or were based on accounting
methods that in hindsight proved to be indefensible.

Looking at the universe of all companies that are audited, CPAs have an excellent track record. Not
many fraudulent or materially misleading financial reports get a clean opinion from the CPA auditor.
Unfortunately some do; audits are not 100% perfect. Out of the more than 12,000 audits of public
companies done each year, some get clean opinions when in fact the auditor should not have put a stamp
of approval on the financial reports. But this number is avery small percent of the total number audited.
(The actual number of audit failures each year is difficult to ascertain.)

The cost of making all audits fail-safe would be prohibitive. In the grand scheme of things a few audit
failures are tolerated in order to keep the overall cost of audits within reason. In moments of deep
cynicism it has occurred to me that, perhaps, the real reason for auditsis to provide creditors and
investors someone to sue when they suffer losses and there is evidence that the company's financial
reports were deficient or misleading.

Stock investors and creditors usually lose money when a business has to go back after the fact and revise
its financial statements downward, or when because of misleading financial reporting the company ends
up with serious legal problems. So, they look around for someone to sue to recover some of their losses.
CPA firmsthat have "deep pockets' are a convenient target. Because of this the public accounting
profession decided to adopt more defensive language in their audit reports, to better cover their backsides
when they are sued. | believe that the auditing profession, notwithstanding its legal problems, has lost
sight of the users of financial reports.

The vast maority of financial report users, in my opinion, simply want to know whether the CPA has any
objection to the financial statements and footnotes prepared by management. They don't care that much
about the specific wording used in the CPA auditor's report. They want to know one thing: Does the CPA
auditor give hisor her blessing to management's financial report? If not, they want the CPA auditor to
make clear his or her objections to the financial report.

The best rule of thumb for financial report usersto follow isto look at the CPA auditor's report to see if
there is afourth paragraph. The standard audit report is only three paragraphs—see Exhibit H. The CPA
auditor uses a fourth paragraph to communicate certain matters that financial report users should know
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about. It's always a good idea to check and see if there a fourth paragraph and read what isin this
addendum to the standard auditor's report.

A fourth paragraph is used in the following situations:

» The CPA auditor wants to emphasize one or more points, such as related-party transactions reported in
the financial statements, significant events during the year, unusual uncertainties facing the business, or
other matters.

» The company has changed its accounting methods between the most recent year and previous years,
which causes inconsistencies with the originally reported financial reports of the business.

* Thereis substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, because of financia
difficulties in meeting the due dates for payment of itsliabilities, or because of other large liabilitiesit
may not be able to pay.

Creditors and investors should be informed in these situations, so the audit profession has decided that
these matters should be mentioned explicitly in the auditor's report. The fourth paragraph does not
constitute a qualification on the company's financial report; it just provides more information.

In contrast, the CPA auditor may have to take exception to an accounting method used by the company,
or the lack of disclosure for some item that the CPA thinksis necessary for adequate disclosure. In this
situation the CPA renders a qualified opinion that includes the key words "except for" in the opinion
paragraph. The grounds for the qualification (what the auditor takes exception to) are explained in the
auditor's report. To give aqualified opinion the CPA auditor must be satisfied that taken as a whole the
financia report of the company is not misleading. Nevertheless, the CPA disagrees with one or more
itemsin the financia report, especialy if the company has departed from generally accepted accounting
principles.

The Securities & Exchange Commission (SEC) generally will not accept qualified audit opinions,
because the company could change its accounting or disclosure to avoid the auditor's qualified opinion.
On the other hand, a qualified opinion may be due to alimitation on the scope of the CPA's examination;
the CPA was not able to gather evidence for one or more accounts in the financial statements, and
therefore has to qualify or restrict his or her opinion with regard to the items not examined. This sort of
qualified opinion may be accepted by the SEC as the best the CPA auditor could do in the circumstances.

How serious a matter is a qualified opinion? Basically, a qualified opinion has a"fly in the ointment”
effect. The auditor points out a flaw in the company's financial report, but not afatal flaw. A qualified
audit opinionisayellow flag, but not ared flag.

One thing to remember: The CPA auditor must be of the opinion that the overall fairness of the financial
report is satisfactory, even though there are one or more deviations from established accounting and
disclosure standards. If the auditor is of the opinion that the deviations are so serious as to make the
financia statements misleading, then the CPA must issue an adverse opinion. You hardly ever see an
adverse opinion. No business wants to put out misleading financia statements and have the CPA auditor
say so for everyone to see!

The CPA auditor may have to disclaim an opinion due to limitations on the scope of the audit or due to
very unusual uncer-
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tainties facing the business. In some situations a CPA may have very serious disagreements with the
client that cannot be resolved to the auditor's satisfaction. The CPA may withdraw from the engagement
(i.e., walk off the audit). Thisis not very common, but it happens every now and then. In these situations
the CPA has to notify top management, the board of directors of the company, and its audit committee
members and make clear the nature of the disagreements and why the CPA is withdrawing from the
audit.

The CPA does not act as awhistle-blower beyond the inner confines of the company. For public
companies, the CPA hasto inform the SEC that the firm has withdrawn from the audit engagement and
whether there were any unresolved disagreements between the CPA and the company.
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Auditors and Management Fraud

CPA auditors are hired to make sure that a company's financial statements are presented fairly and
according to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Despite getting a clean opinion from its
CPA auditorsto this effect, acompany's financial statements may later be discovered to have been
misleading. Y ou may ask: How could this happen?

How can a company's financia statements be given a clean bill of health from its auditors and then |ater
be found out to have been incorrect? This doesn't happen very often, but when it does the market value of
a company's stock shares may suffer and in extreme cases the company may go into bankruptcy
proceedings. Creditors and stockholders usually sue everyone involved—the business, its top
management, and the company's CPA auditors.

Of course auditors don't like getting sued. Recent years have been very rough on large national CPA
firms. They have paid millions of dollarsto settle many lawsuits, and they have seen their good names
dragged though one story after another in the press. Press coverage has picked up in recent years, it
seems to me. Audit failures make good stories, particularly when a CPA firm settles for $400 million.

In broad outline there have been two basic types of audit failures—management fraud, which the
auditors did not discover; and, bad accounting, which the auditors knew about but approved.

In the first situation the company's top-level managers cleverly deceived their auditors; the auditors did
not know what was going on. Managers lied to their auditors, counterfeited documents, concealed
relevant evidence, and coerced others to keep quiet and not tell the auditors anything. The CPA auditors
failed to penetrate the cover-up.

Managers can override the internal controls of a business that should prevent or at least detect improper
dealings. Collusion among two or more employees, especially among top-level managers who have
broad authority, is very difficult to discover by audit procedures.

Auditors must plan the audit to diligently search for possible fraud and irregularities. Auditors are
required to identify the high-risk areas where a business is most vulnerable to fraudulent schemes, and to
carry out searches in these high-risk areas. But there is only so much time available to do an audit.
Auditors cannot do an exhaustive search for every conceivable type of fraud. If managers are adept at
concealing fraud then the CPA auditors probably will not find it. Auditors offer only "reasonable
assurance” that "the financial statements are free of material misstatement.” They do not guarantee that
there is no possibility of fraud.

The second type of audit failure is quite different. In many cases the CPA auditors were fully aware that
certain accounting practices used by their client were, shall we say, "questionable.” The CPA auditor
may have had serious doubts regarding whether an accounting method used by the client was
appropriate, but in the end the CPA went along with the client and did
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not object. Hindsight can make these accounting decisions look stupid, if not downright devious.

Many lawsuits have turned on the key issue regarding whether the CPA auditors allowed the business to
use unacceptable or inappropriate accounting methods that caused reported profit and other information
in the company's financial statements to be misleading. | must admit that in some of these situations it
appears that the CPA auditors buckled under client pressure to go along with "creative" accounting
methods. Accounting is an art as much as a science, and sometimes CPAs were not very good artists.

Auditors can be blamed for audit failures; thisis fair enough. But CPA auditors get a bum rap on one
other thing. Do not confuse business failures with audit failures. Even well-managed,
honest-as-the-day-is-long businesses can have a quick reversal of fortune. A clean audit opinion does not
mean that the auditor is vouching for the future profitability and financial health of the business. If the
business suffers a drastic decline in sales and hits rough waters ahead, the CPA auditor is no more to
blame than, say, Congress. An audit report does not predict the future.

Auditors should not be held responsible for bad management decisions or the inability of abusinessto
work itself out of problems. Financial report readers have the responsibility to read the company's
financia statements carefully and make the best interpretations they can about the short-run and long-run
prospects of the company. (See Chapter 22.)

In closing, let me say that CPA auditors perform one very important function in the business world,
besides the obvious one of expressing opinions on financial statements. The Financial Accounting
Standards Board sets about making the authoritative rules for accounting and disclosure for financial
reporting. The proof of the pudding isin the eating (i.e., in the actual use of these rules by the millions of
businesses throughout the economy). Audits are a very effective enforcement mechanism in this regard.

Based on my experience and discussions with CPAs, auditors are very effective watchdogs. They
persuade companies to make many improvements in their accounting methods and disclosures that would
not be done without pressure from independent auditors. Auditors have made financial reports much
better than they would have been otherwise. The level of accounting and disclosure standards in the
United Statesis the best in the world, in no small part due to audits by CPAs. The system is not perfect,
but it works very well.
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Accounting and Review Services by CPAS

A small business may not be able to afford an audit. The cost of an audit could be more than the total
annual interest expense on the debt of a smaller business, for instance. Bankers and other sources of
loans to business understand this, so they generally do not insist on audits. However, they may want a
CPA to at least ook over the financial reports of companies they loan money to; or, they may make clear
to their small-business customers that they would be more comfortable if the businesses used a CPA to
advise them on their financial statements.

A CPA can perform certain limited procedures which are called areview. A review isfar lessthan a
full-scale audit. But areview provides enough evidence about the company's financial statements so that
the CPA can go on record that he or sheis not aware of any modifications (changes) that are needed to
make the financial statements conform with generally accepted accounting principles.

The CPA warns the financial report readersthat areview is substantially less than an audit and that,
accordingly, no opinion is being expressed on the company's financia statements. Based on areview the
CPA does not give an affirmative opinion but rather a negative assurance (""'no modifications are

needed . . . "). This negative assurance may be sufficient to satisfy lenders or investorsin the business.

Many smaller businesses need the help of a CPA to prepare their financial statements. A CPA comesin
and from the company’s accounting records (which may need some adjustments) the CPA prepares the
company's financial statements. In this situation the CPA is said to compile the financial statements. No
audit and no review is done. So, the CPA must disclaim any opinion on the financial statements; and, no
negative assurance may be given.

Most smaller businesses use CPAs to prepare their income tax returns and to advise them on how to
minimize their income taxes. Also, they turn to CPAs for awide variety of advice—for example,
recommendations on accounting software.
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18—
Accounting M ethods and Quality of Earnings
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GAAP;:
The Name of the Game

Financial statements are prepared in conformity with standards that have been established over the years
called generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Rarely, if ever, would you come across
financia statements of a business prepared according to accounting methods other than GAAP. The
minor exceptions to this general comment are not worth mentioning. (Financial statements of non-profit
organizations and government entities follow somewhat different accounting principles and practices.)

Audits by independent certified public accountants (CPAS) are precisely for the purpose of making sure
than GAAP have been followed in preparing the financial statements (see Chapter 17). In short, anytime
you pick up the financial report of a business you are entitled to assume that its financial statements have
been prepared according to GAAP.

The fundamental ideaisto provide awell-defined set of general accounting methods and practices that
all businesses should follow faithfully for measuring their profit and for presenting their financial
condition and cash flows. The twofold purpose is to have al businesses play by the same accounting
rules regarding how they keep score financially and to make financial statements of different businesses
comparable with one another. Y ou can imagine the confusion if every business were to choose its own
unique accounting methods. For instance, one business may use historical cost basis depreciation and
another may use current replacement cost basis depreciation.

The six basic steps in the accounting process of abusiness are as follows:
1. Identify and analyze all transactions and operations of the business during the period.

2. Determine the correct accounting method for each basic type of transaction and operation according to
GAAP.

3. Record and accumulate the transactions and operations of the business during the period, using the
correct accounting methods, of course.

4. At the end of the period assemble the accounts for sales revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities, and
owners equity, and make sure their ending balances are up-to-date and accurate.

5. Prepare the financial statements for the period and write the footnotes for the statements according to
the prescribed rules of presentation and disclosure. (Include the CPA's report if the statements have been
audited.)

6. Distribute the financia report to everyone entitled to receive a copy.

This chapter focuses on step 2—which, to be more precise, should say choose one of the alternative
methods allowed under GAAP for each basic type of transaction and operation of the business.
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Suppose, purely hypothetically, that a business employs two equally qualified accountants and neither
knows of the other's presence. Suppose both accountants keep the books, entirely independent of one
another. This company would have two sets of books but only one set of transactions and operations
during the year to account for.

Now the critical question: Would both accountants come up with the same net income (profit) number
for the year? Would their ending balance sheets be virtually the same? Would their footnotes be the
same? Y ou can probably see what's coming here.

The two accountants, in all likelihood, would come up with different net incomes for the year. One or
more of their expenses would be different, and their sales revenue for the year also might be different.
This means that their balance sheets would be different. Sales revenue and expenses cause increases and
decreasesin assets and liabilities. So, if expenses are different, then assets and liabilities will be different.
And, if net income for the year is different, then the retained earnings balance in the ending balance sheet
will be different.

Does this mean that one of the company's accountants is wrong and has made mistakes in applying
generally accepted accounting principles? No, assume not; neither has made a mistake. Then, how can
the two of them come up with different accounting numbers? The answer is that for many expenses, and
even for sales revenue, the GAAP rule book does not prescribe one and only one accounting method, but
allows two or three alternative methods to be used.

Financial accounting would seem to be like measuring a person's weight on a scale that gives correct
readings, wouldn't it? But, as a matter of fact, financial accounting according to GAAP allows a business
to select which kind of scale to use—one that weighs light or one that weighs heavy.

We can think of the GAAP set of rules as an official cookbook for financial accounting that has more
than one recipe for many dishes (expenses and sales revenue). For example, cost of goods sold expense
and depreciation expense can be accounted for by different but equally accepted methods. Chapter 16
explains that a company's choices of accounting methods for these two key expenses are disclosed in
footnotes to the company's financia statements. Chapter 20 explains cost of goods sold expense methods,
and Chapter 21 explains depreciation methods.

This chapter discusses the diversity within GAAP that permits more than one accounting method to be
used to record the transactions and operations of a business. The activities of the business are the same,
but the accounting for them is different depending on which methods are selected. The financial
reporting game can be played using different methods of scorekeeping.

Virtually every business has to pick and choose among different accounting methods for several of its
expenses and perhaps for recording its sales revenue as well. For most businesses the profit result isthe
dominate factor in choosing among accounting methods. How will net income be affected by the choice
between accounting methods? This is the main question on the minds of most business managers.
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Business Managersand GAAP

Many deplore the "looseness" or "elasticity" of accounting methods that are permitted under the umbrella
of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)—but not business managers by and large. For one
thing, business managers know from experience that almost every law, regulation, guideline, benchmark,
standard, or rule is subject to more than one interpretation. Business managers, in other words, are
accustomed to operating in afuzzy world of shades of gray; they don't expect to find clear-cut,
black-and-white distinctions very often. | would surmise that the reaction of most business managers to
the earlier discussion of GAAP's diversity probably is—"So, what else is new?"

Second, business managers probably welcome having a choice of accounting methods. In fact, they
might prefer to have even more choices for their accounting methods and disclosures. The evolution of
GAAP over the years has been in the direction of narrowing the range of acceptabl e accounting methods
and reporting practices. Accounting methods have been tightened up over the years. Nevertheless, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) still issues pronouncements that permit more than one
accounting method or more than one manner for disclosing certain mattersin financial reports.

The chief executive officer (CEO) of the business as well asits other top-level managers should make
certain that the company's financial statements are fairly presented, especially that the accounting
methods used to measure the company's profit are within the range of choices permitted by GAAP. If its
accounting methods are outside these limits the company could stand accused of issuing false and
misleading financial statements. The managers would be liable for damages suffered by the company's
creditors and stockholders who relied on its misleading financial statements. If for no other reason than
this, managers should pay close attention to the choices of accounting methods used to prepare their
company's financial statements.

The chief executive officer of the business and its other top-level managers should decide which
accounting methods and policies are best for the company. They have to decide between conservative
(cautious) versus aggressive (liberal) profit-accounting methods, which means whether to record profit
later (conservative) or sooner (aggressive).

The accounting choices have to do with the timing for recording sales revenue and expenses. The sooner
sales revenue is recorded, the earlier profit is reported; and, the later expenses are recorded, the earlier
profit is reported. If abusiness wants to report profit as soon as possible it should instruct its accountants
to choose those accounting methods that accel erate sales revenue and delay expenses.

On the other hand, if a business wants to be conservative it should order its accountants to use those
accounting methods that delay the recording of sales revenue and accelerate the recording of expenses, so
that profit is reported as late as possible. The accounting methods selected for cost of goods sold expense
and depreciation expense are two main examples of
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conservative versus aggressive methods for recording profit. Chapters 20 and 21 discuss the generally
accepted accounting methods for these two key expenses.

Business managers may prefer to avoid getting involved in choosing accounting methods. | think thisisa
mistake. First, as already mentioned, there isthe risk that the financial statements may not be prepared
completely in accordance with GAAP, especially if the financial statements are not audited by
independent CPAS. Second, top-level mangers should adopt those accounting methods that best fit the
general policies and philosophy of the business. The CEO should decide which "look™ of the financial
statementsisin the best interests of the business.

Somebody has to choose the accounting methods—if not the managers then by default the company's
controller. The controller, being the chief accounting officer of the company, should work hand-in-glove
with the CEO and the other top-level managers to make sure that the accounting methods being used by
the business are not working at cross-purposes with the goals, objectives, strategies, and plans of the
organization.
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Consistency of Accounting Methods

Once a business chooses which accounting methods to use for recording its sales revenue and expenses,
the business sticks with these methods. A company does not flip-flop between accounting methods. The
Internal Revenue Service and the Securities & Exchange Commission take adim view of switching
accounting methods one year to the next. Furthermore, CPA auditors have to mention such changesin
their audit reports. Changes may be needed in certain circumstances, but the large maority of businesses
don't change their accounting methods except on rare occasions.

Consistency of accounting methods from year to year is very important. As mentioned earlier, the
difference between accounting methods has to do with when sales revenue and expenses are recorded.

Y ear-by-year, the annual amounts of sales revenue and expenses differ between accounting methods, and
thus bottom-line profit will differ. The amounts of these differences can be very pronounced in the early
start-up years of abusiness, or during years of rapid expansion or drastic decline. However, for a mature
company that is not experiencing rapid growth or deep decline, the end result in terms of annual net
income may be minimal—although it's hard to know for sure.

GAAP do not require that a business determine and report how much different its annual net income
would have been if the company had used alternative accounting methods instead of the methods it
actually used. Conservative accounting methods can have a very pronounced effect on the cost values
reported in a company's balance sheet for itsinventory and fixed assets. If inventory cost is materially
less than current cost values, then a business discloses the difference between the balance sheet cost
value of itsinventory and the estimated current cost of the inventory.

For example, please refer again to Caterpillar's inventory footnote on page 90 in Chapter 16, which
reports that this asset's cost in the company's ending balance sheet is about $2 billion lower under the
conservative accounting method it uses, as compared with what the cost would have been if the company
used an aternative accounting method. This means that over the years the company reported $2 billion
less profit before income tax, which is alot of money, of course.

Keep in mind, however, that thistotal difference in the company's ending inventory cost value is the
cumulative effect over many years. Caterpillar has been using this accounting method since the 1950s,
for about 50 years. Dividing $2 billion by 50 years gives $40 million average per year, which is not
chicken feed, of course. The pretax difference on profit can be determined for each year given the
information Caterpillar providesin its footnote. For 1997, for instance, Caterpillar's pretax profit would
have been $56 million less under the aternative method, which is about 3% of its $1,942 million pretax
profit for the year.
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M assaging the Numbers and Cooking the Books

Beyond choosing between aternative accounting methods, business managers can go two steps further in
manipulating recorded profit. The first technique is called massaging the numbers or income smoothing.
Business managers can control the timing of some expenses and sales revenue to some extent and
therefore boost or dampen recorded profit for the year. In this way managers "put athumb on the scale,”
the scale being net income for the year. When managers cross the line and go too far it's called cooking
the books. Cooking the books constitutes fraud and is probably illegal.

The most common way of massaging the numbers involves the discretionary expenses of a business.
Consider repair and maintenance expenses, for instance. Until the work is done, no expense is recorded.
A manager can ssimply move back or move up the work orders for these expenditures, and thus either
avoid recording some expense in this period or record more expense in the period. In thisway the
manager controls the timing of these expenses. There are other discretionary expenses of a business. Two
come quickly to mind—employee training and devel opment costs, and advertising expenditures.

Managers control the timing of discretionary expenses, it is thought, to smooth profit from period to
period. Instead of permitting the profit numbersto pop out of the process of the accounting system, and
letting the chips fall where they may, managers ask the company's controller to let them know in advance
how profit for the period is shaping up, to get a preview of the final profit number for the year.

The profit lookout for the year may be below or above expectations. The look ahead at profit may
indicate a unacceptable swing from last year. In these situations the manager may decide to nudge the
profit number up or down, and the best way of doing thisis to manipulate discretionary expenses. Or, the
manager can control the timing for recording revenues. Sales can be accelerated, for example, by
shipping more products to the company's captive deal ers even though they didn't order the products. The
businessistaking away sales from next year to put the sales on the books this year.

The second technique, cooking the books, is very serious stuff, and goes beyond massaging the numbers
or doing some profit smoothing. It's fundamentally different from taking advantage of discretionary
expenses to give profit a boost up or a shove down. Cooking the booksis not just "fluffing the pillows' to
make profit look alittle better or worse for the period. Cooking the books means that sales revenueis
recorded when in fact no sales were made, or that actual expenses or losses during the period were not
recorded.

Cooking the books requires falsification of the accounting records. To put it as bluntly as | can, cooking
the books constitutes fraud—the deliberate design of deceptive financia statements. CPA auditors search
for any evidence fraud, as Chapter 17 explains. But they may not find it when managers are adept at
concealing the fraud.
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Quality of Earnings

More and more often you see the phrase quality of earnings in the business and financial press. Reported
net incomeis put to aquality test, or alitmustest asit were. This term does not have a precise definition
that I'm aware of, but clearly most persons who use this term refer to the quality of the accounting
methods used by a business to record its profit.

Conservative accounting methods are generally viewed as high-quality, and aggressive accounting
methods are viewed with more caution by stock analysts and professional investment managers. They
like to see some margin for safety, or some cushion for arainy day in a company's accounting numbers.
They know that many estimates and choices have to be made in financial accounting, and they would just
as soon a business err on the low side rather than the high side.

Professional investors and investment managers are especialy alert for accounting methods that appear
to record revenue (or other sources of income) too early, or that fail to record losses or expenses that
should be recognized. Even though the financial statements are audited, the professionals go over them
with afine-tooth comb to get a better feel for how trustworthy are the reported earnings of a business.

And, they pay alot of attention to cash flow from profit (operating activities) because thisis one number
managers cannot manipulate—the business either got the cash flow or it didn't. Accounting methods
determine profit, but not cash flow. If reported profit is backed up with steady cash flow, stock analysts
rate the quality of earnings very high.

To think that financial reports issued by businesses are pure as driven snow is naive. People are people,
after all; we're not all angels. Asmy father-in-law putsit, "There's alittle larceny in everyone's heart.”
Just because afew cops accept bribes doesn't mean all police are on the take. Clearly the large majority
of businesses prepare honest financial statements. But there are some crooks in business, and they are not
above preparing false financial statements as part of their schemes.
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19—
Making and Changing the Rules
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Why Financial Statements Are So Important

Millions of persons depend on financial statements for vital information about the profit (or 10ss)
performance, financial condition, and cash flows of businesses. This sweeping congregation of financial
report users includes bankers deciding whether to make loans to businesses; investors deciding whether
to buy, hold, or sell stocks and bonds of public corporations; buyers and sellers of businesses deciding
the value of companies; owners of closely held businesses evaluating how their ventures are doing;
suppliers deciding whether to sell to businesses on credit; and pension fund managers carrying out their
fiduciary responsibility, which requires due diligence in managing other people's money.

For that matter, what about business managers? Managers are the first and most immediate users of
financia statements. Managers depend on their income statements to know how much profit was made
(or how much loss was incurred). Managers also need balance sheet and cash flow information to keep
on top of the financia condition of the business, to spot any solvency problems that may be devel oping,
and to plan for the capital requirements of the business.

In short, both insiders and outsiders need dependabl e financial statements that are designed for and meet
the needs and interests of the users of these sources of financial information.

Financial statements are the primary and only direct source of information for the profit performance of a
business, and for its financial condition and cash flow information. Other sources of financial

information about a company are secondary sources, which pass along information reported in the
company's financial statements. Public businesses put out press releases announcing their latest earnings
performance, but these are preliminary and subject to later confirmation in their financial reports.

It goes without saying that financial statements should be reliable and meet the information demands of
users. Financial statement users generally are interested in three main things about a business:

1. Its profit (or loss) performance.

2. Itsfinancial condition and in particular the solvency prospects of the company, which refersto the
ability of the business to pay its liabilities on time and to avoid getting into financial trouble.

3. Its capitalization (ownership) structure, which refers to the one or more classes of capital stock shares
issued by the company, whether any debt of the company can be converted into capital stock, the number
of capital stock purchase options given to managers and employees including the terms of the options,
and any other direct or indirect claims that participate in the profit of the business.

Investors and other users may seek additional information in the financial statements of a business—such
as whether it has enough cash in the bank plus future cash flow to provide for
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growth. But, the three items listed above constitute the hard core of information users ook for in
financial statements.

This chapter looks at the accounting rules that govern profit measurement and financial statement
disclosure. Financial statements are no better than the standards that are used to prepare the statements.
As mentioned earlier, these rules are called generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), and
include both accounting methods and disclosure requirements. How good are the rules? Why are GAAP
changed from time to time?

| think an outside observer surveying the scene would conclude that the financial reporting system works
well, and therefore the rules (generally accepted accounting principles) are adequate to the purpose and
functions of financial statements. On the other hand, a rumble of criticism persists that has not subsided
over the years. Perhaps expectations of financial statement users have risen. Perhaps financia accounting
can't keep up with the growing complexity and sophistication of the business and economic environment.

This chapter takes acritical ook at GAAP, the governing rules of financial reporting. The following
discussion is meant in afriendly sense; the critical remarks that follow assume that the present state of
affairsis sound and works reasonably well. However, the present system is not perfect and some
improvements could be made.
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Changing the Rules

Chapter 18 explains that financial accounting rules are not a straitjacket—GAAP are alittle "loose.”
Generally accepted accounting principles cut managers afair amount of slack. Managers can select from
among alternative profit accounting methods for expenses and sales revenue, and they exercise afair
amount of discretion concerning what is disclosed in their financial reports and how it iswritten. On the
other hand, Chapter 18 also points out that companies have to be consistent and use the same accounting
methods year to year.

But, are the rules themselves (GAAP) consistent over time? Financial accounting rules remind me of
other rules, laws, principles, or standards that have changed over time. Remember when 55 miles per
hour was the highway speed [imit? | grew up when there was no three-point shot in basketball. Roger
Maris and then Mark McGwire and Sammy Sosa broke Babe Ruth's single-season home run record, but
their seasons had more games.

Financial accounting rules constantly evolve. Every year the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB), the authoritative rule-making body in the United States, introduces new rules; it also amends (or
fine-tunes) old rules and issues replacement rules that supersede old rules. It wasn't that long ago, for
example, that the cash flow statement was not required and companies did not report it. | was a CPA for
13 years before earnings per share had to be disclosed in financial reports of public corporations.

Financial accounting rules lag instead of lead—rules come out after the fact rather than before. First
thereis a problem; then later arule is adopted to deal with the problem. A profit accounting problem or a
financia reporting disclosure issue develops in actual practice that is not specifically covered in the
officia rule book of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Criticism continues to mount, but
actual accounting and disclosure practices do not respond to the criticism.

Eventually the criticism coalesces into a sufficient consensus of concern that the FASB puts the matter
on its agenda. The issue works its way through the due process procedures of the board (which can take a
fairly long time). Finally, a pronouncement isissued by the FASB. Often the new rule does not please
everyone in the business and financial communities. Nevertheless, businesses bite the bullet and
implement the new rule, despite whatever objections they may have. Otherwise, their financial
statements could be accused of being misleading because the company's accounting methods would not
bein full compliance with GAAP.

Many FASB pronouncements deal with very technical accounting topics. The FASB has issued more
than 130 pronouncements since it started in 1973. If you took the time to look over the list of all the
pronouncements of the FASB (and its predecessors in accounting rule-making) | doubt if you would find
many of general interest—although it should be said that corporate controllers, professional security
analysts, and invest-
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ment managers keep a close watch on all accounting rule changes.

Most of the FASB's pronouncements have registered less than a 3.0 on afinancial statement Richter
scale—they were barely noticed by investors and other financial statement users. On the other hand,
certain FASB statements on accounting standards have caused severe earthquakes in financial statements
and have been very controversia—involving bitter arguments and acrimonious accusations, to say
nothing about intense lobbying of Congress and heavy-handed pressure on the FASB as well as assaults
on its process. Some of its pronouncements have taken years to get out because the FASB now requires a
5-2 vote or better called a"super-majority” in favor of releasing a pronouncement.
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One Example of a Radical and Overdue Rule Change:
Postretirement Employee Health and M edical Benefits

Some of the pronouncements by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) have caused sea
changes in profit accounting. These pronouncements serve as a sober reminder of how GAAP can fall
behind and remain seriously deficient for arelatively long time before the accounting profession comes
to grips with a problem. One example of such a dramatic pronouncement concerns accounting for
medical, hospital, and health benefits costs paid by businesses for their retired employees.

One of the most remarkable developments in the workplace over the past generation has been the growth
of employee health and medical care plans. More and more businesses have sponsored comprehensive
health and medical benefit plans for their employees—both during their working years and during their
retirement years. Typically an employer pays a sizable share of the cost of these plans. (As you probably
know, most businesses provide many other employee benefits, such as retirement pension plans. Pension
accounting has gone through its own controversial history of development.)

A business continues to pay all or part of the cost of health and medical benefits during its former
employees retirement years, until the employees and their spouses and other dependents die or otherwise
lose their rights of participation. Financial setbacks have caused some companies to reduce their benefits
or to shift more cost to their retirees. There have even been afew cases in which employers attempted to
evade their legal and/or moral obligations under these plans. Fortunately, most businesses live up to their
obligations.

In broad overview, a company pays for health and medical benefits during the 20, 30, or more years an
employee works for the business and then continues to pay for another 10, 15, 20, or more years during
retirement. The sum of the future costs for the retired employees of a business can add up to avery
sizable amount. Keep in mind that these are future costs, not costs that have to be paid out all at once at
retirement. Suppose, however, a business did want to prepay all these future costs by putting aside an
amount of money that would be kept invested until the costs were paid in the future. Thisamount is
called the present value of the future stream of payments.

For arough comparison, consider a mortgage loan on your home. Say your monthly payment is $1000
and your loan has 20 years to go; thus the sum total of your future paymentsis $240,000. This $240,000
includes both future interest costs and payments on the amount owed to the lender (called the principal
of the loan).

Asluck would have it, you win the lottery and you decide to pay off your mortgage loan today. Y ou do
not have to pay $240,000. Assume your mortgage interest rate is 8% per year; you could pay off the
mortgage for about $120,000. Thisis the current loan balance and the present value of the future
mortgage payments. In like manner, the present value of a company's future costs of health and medical
benefits for its retired employ-
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ees can be calculated, although these future costs are difficult to estimate; the timing and amounts of these
costs must be forecast many years into the future, and are subject to several changes due to inflation in
health care and medical costs and new types of treatments.

Most businesses do not put aside money to pay for al their future obligations. They do not actually put
money in a separate fund with a trustee that would be invested until payments are made during the
retirement years of their employees. In essence, employees are paid in promises—promises that are
enforceable but not exactly ironclad, either. In any case, employers have an unfunded liability for their
postretirement health and medical benefit costs.

Until the FASB issued its pronouncement dealing with thisissue, businesses did not have to record this
"creeping"” liability during the working years of its employees. Companies did not record any postretirement
cost that would have been in addition to the wages and fringe benefit costs paid during the working years of
its employees. No expense was recorded until costs were actually paid during the retirement years of
employees. The delay in recording expense and the failure to record any liability came under heavy
criticism.

In late 1990, after some 10 years of debate and deliberation, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
mandated that businesses had to henceforth record postretirement benefits costs during the working years of
employees. Companies were given two alternative ways to make the accounting change under the new rule.
The large mgjority decided to make a onetime catch-up for all the years that the business had not recorded
its postretirement medical and health-care costs. Staggering amounts of liabilities were put on the books
with a onetime charge to expense.

A prime example was General Motors. Quoting from an article in the New York Times (National Edition,
February 2, 1993, page C3):

The $20.8 billion write-off is a"catch-up" to recognize the total cumulative retiree health-care expenses for
working and retired workers, asif the accounting standard had been in effect during the employee's working
years.

Other examples of amounts recorded for postretirement medical and health benefits included: Ford, $7.5
billion; AT&T, $5.5to $7.5 billion; General Electric, $1.8 billion; and Alcoa, $1.2 billion. These were huge
amounts, to be sure, but keep in mind that the annual sales revenue of these companies are in the
multibillions.

Few other rule changes have caused such dramatic effects. However, arecent FASB pronouncement
(Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and for
Hedging Activities, June 1998) may have very large effects on some businesses, especially those that deal
heavily in financial derivatives. Until this pronouncement was released, companies waited until their
derivative contracts were closed out, at which time they recorded gain or loss on the contract. The new
pronouncement requires earlier recognition.
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Finished and Unfinished Business

One main lesson from the history of the rule-making process over the years is that accounting rules, as good
overall asthey are today, have been slow in catching up with what's going on in the world of business. CPA
auditors cannot force a business to use accounting methods that are different from GAAP. A CPA auditor
could suggest to abusiness, "I think it would be better if you did it thisway." But unless an accounting
method is required under GAAP, auditors can only make suggestions.

Financial accounting does not have a built-in self-improvement process that would enable company
accountants and CPA auditors to work together and improve accounting methods. Rather, everyone waits for
the rule-making authority (FASB) to come out with new pronouncements on GAAP.

The FASB should be given alot of credit for dealing with several contentious accounting problems over the
three decades that it has served as the "supreme court” for setting financial reporting standards. It hasissued
accounting standards on the following vexing issues:

* Financial derivatives (mentioned in previous section).

» Disclosure of operating segments of a business based on the company's organizational structure, and its
product groups, geographic areas, and major customers.

* Disclosure about the capital structure of a business.

» Disclosure about pension and other postretirement benefits obligations of a business (mentioned in
previous section).

* Disclosure of stock options (although many think that the effect of these options should be recorded as an
expense, which the FASB does not require).

* Impairment of assets, which requires that a business write down any of its assets that will not contribute to
the future revenue or income of the business.

* Investments in securities, and when to recognize gains and losses from these investments.
» Cash flow statement, which was made a mandatory financial statement in 1987.

The FASB has also dealt with many industry-specific problems that needed attention, and it has issued many
pronouncements on a variety of nagging accounting problems.

The FASB comes under much criticism, but no one has come up with a better aternative. The large majority
of business managers, controllers, CPAs, lawyers, finance professionals, accounting professors, and financial
institutions strongly favor keeping the role of setting financial accounting standards in the private sector and
out of the hands of the federal government. | certainly agree. | also think that having the threat of the
Securities & Exchange Commission (SEC) interceding in the process keeps the FASB on its toes and from
going too much off the deep end.
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Disclosure and Nondisclosurein Financial Reports

One criticism of the FASB's agenda over its three decades of existence has to do with disclosure in
financial reports, or | should say the lack of disclosure. For example, | wish the FASB would give more
attention to the potential product liabilities of businesses. Of more remote concern, though certainly on
the horizon, are potential environmental liabilities of manufacturing companies, public utilities, and
extractive industries.

For many years there have been persistent calls for more disclosure in financial reports. The central logic
of the 1933 and 1934 federal securities lawsisfull disclosure. But several items of information—clearly
of interest and relevance to investors, creditors, and other users of financial reports—are not required to
be disclosed in external financial reports to stockholders.

Advertising and other marketing expenses do not have to be broken out separately in income statements,
though they have to be reported in the annual 10-K filing with the Securities & Exchange Commission
(SEC). Maintenance and repair expenses can be used to manipulate profit year to year (see Chapter 18,
page 115). These expenses do not have to be reported in income statements, although they have to be
disclosed in the annual 10-K with the SEC.

Compensation of top management does not have to be reported in a company's financial statementsor in
the footnotes. In contrast, this information must be disclosed in proxy statements of public corporations
that are the means by which the boards of directors of corporations solicit the votes of stockholders. A
summary schedule of who owns the stock shares of a corporation does not have to be—and—hardly ever
isdisclosed in financial reports.

Disclosure hasimproved over the years, to be sure. For example, aregular feature in financial reports
today is the management discussion and analysis (MD& A) section, which explains the profit
performance, problems, and strategy of the business. In my opinion, disclosure could be expanded il
further without causing businesses any loss of their competitive advantages.

To befair about this, I should mention that most organizations—religious, military, educational, other
nonprofits, and governmental—favor less rather than more disclosure. Businesses are no exception to
this general reluctance to release too much information to the public.

The Securities & Exchange Commission (SEC) has established an electronic database for the financial
statements and other filings by the public companies under its jurisdiction. This database is accessible
over the Internet. The acronym for this huge database of financial information is EDGAR (Electronic
Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval System). Many companies have made their financial reports
available over the Internet. Many have established Web sites that provide a wide range of information.
The LEXISINEXIS database serviceis very useful in searching for information on specific companies.
Financial infor-
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mation publishers such as Moody's Investors Service and Standard & Poor's provide company histories.

In short, there are many different sources for digging up information about businesses. Their "hard copy"
annual stockholders financial reports will continue to be the centerpiece of information about profit
performance, financial condition, and cash flow. Getting the information, on the other hand, will surely
become more and more electronic in the future.
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20—
Cost of Goods Sold Conundrum
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Importance of this Accounting Choice

The cost of products sold to customers usually is a company's largest single expense, commonly being
50% to 70% of sales revenue. In passing, | should point out that many businesses sell servicesinstead of
products; examples are airlines, telephone companies, Disney World, and movie theaters. Many service
companies sell some products with their services, such as popcorn at movie theaters. Gross margin and
all profit lines below gross margin depend on which accounting method is used to measure cost of goods
sold expense.

Clearly managers have a stake in how profit is measured; they should understand how the biggest
deduction against sales revenue is determined. In my opinion, the chief executive should decide which
accounting method to use for the company's cost of goods sold expense. This decision also can have a
major impact on the company's balance sheet, in particular its inventory asset account.

Three basic methods are widely used to determine cost of goods sold expense. All three methods have
theoretical support. All three methods are accepted interpretations of the general accounting principle
that the cost of products sold to customers should be matched against the revenue from the salesin order
to correctly measure gross margin for the period. Putting cost of goods sold in one period and sales
revenue of the goods sold in another period would make no sense at all.

Business managers and professional accountants disagree regarding exactly how to determine the cost of
goods sold during the period. A specific example is needed to demonstrate the accounting problem and to
contrast the differences between the three methods on gross margin and ending inventory cost.

Suppose a company sold 4000 units of a product during the year just ended. (It doesn't make any
difference whether the business manufactures the products it sells or is aretailer that purchases products
for resale.) The company started the year with 1000 units, which is the carryforward stock from last year.

Businesses do not let their inventory level drop to zero—unless a product is being phased out or because
of circumstances beyond their control. So, the company in this example replaces products as they are
sold during the year. The company replaced the 4000 units sold and did not increase or decrease its
inventory quantity during the year. Thusit ended the year with exactly the same number of unitsit
started with, or 1000 units.

The company made four acquisitions of products during the year, each being a batch of 1000 units. The
size of each batch manufactured or purchased may vary, of course; businesses do not necessarily acquire
products in equal-size lots during the year. In summary, the company started the year with 1000 units,
sold 4000 units, replaced the 4000 units sold, and ended the year with 1000 units.

If product costs never changed over time, there would be no accounting problem. But, as you know,
product costs do fluctuate over time, and these cost changes cause an accounting problem that is solved
in three different ways:
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1. Average cost method
2. Last-in, first-out (LIFO) method
3. First-in, first-out (FIFO) method

Exhibit I on this page presents the facts of the example. Asyou see, product cost drifted up over the year.
Each successive acquisition cost the business $5000 more than the one before. Before proceeding, 1'd like
to get your opinion on this accounting problem. How would you divide the $550,000 total cost between
the 4000 units sold and the 1000 units not sold and on hand in inventory at year-end? (See Exhibit |
again.) No fair sitting on the fence.

| believe that you would agree that the $550,000 total cost of the 5000 units should be divided or
allocated between cost of goods sold expense for the 4000 units sold during the year and the inventory
asset at year-end for the 1000 units not yet sold. (These units will be sold and generate sales revenue next
year.) Y ou wouldn't charge the entire $550,000 of all 5000 units against the sales revenue for only 4000
units sold during the year, would you?

If you were the chief executive of this business, how would you divide the $550,000 total cost? Instead
of making this decision yourself, you could let the company's controller make the decision. Too often
managers simply sit on the sidelines and go along with the method recommended by their controllers. |
think you should analyze the situation yourself and decide which is the best method for the business.

Like other management decisions, this one comes down to certain basic questions: What are the
alternatives? What are the consequences of each alternative? Which aternative is best relative to the
company's goals and strategy? If you were in aroom with nine other business executives, | doubt that all
ten of you would come to the same decision. The ten of you probably would split into three camps on this
guestion, which we turn to next.

EXHIBIT | —COST OF GOODS SOLD EXPENSE AND ENDING INVENTORY COST EXAMPLE
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Average Cost Method

My guessis that most business managers (not all, but probably a majority) would intuitively choose the
average cost method, which is shown in Exhibit J on this page. The argument for this method is that
four-fifths of the goods were sold, so four-fifths of the total cost should be charged to cost of goods sold
expense and one-fifth should be allocated to the cost of ending inventory.

Thelogic isthat gross margin (profit) is being measured for the whole year, so all costs for the year should
be pooled and each unit should share and share alike—whether the unit was sold or not sold (still in ending
inventory). Put another way, the average cost per unit is $110 ($550,000 total cost + 5000 total units =
$110). This average cost is multiplied times the 4000 units sold to calculate the $440,000 cost of goods sold
expense. The ending inventory is $110,000 or 1000 unitsin ending inventory times the $110 average cost
per unit.

The average cost method has alot of intuitive appeal and makes alot of common sense. However, you
might be surprised to learn that this method runs a distant third in popularity. Much more likely, a business
would select one of the two other alternative accounting methods for determining cost of goods sold
expense.

EXHIBIT J—AVERAGE COST METHOD
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Last-In, First-Out (LIFO) Method

Thelast-in, first-out, or LIFO method selects the four batches that were acquired during the year and
charges the total of these four acquisitions to cost of goods sold expense. Asyou seein Exhibit K on this
page, the total cost of the four batchesis $450,000. The term "last-in" refers to the most recent, or latest
acquisitions. The term "first-out" refersto charging the cost of a batch to expense before turning to the
cost of another acquisition.

The primary theory for LIFO isthat products sold have to be replaced to continue in business, and that
the most recent (last-in) costs are nearest to the costs of replacing the products sold.

EXHIBIT K—LIFO METHOD

Acquisition costs increased during the year, so the LIFO method selects the batches with the highest
costs. In periods of increasing costs LI1FO maximizes the cost of goods sold expense.

The cost of the beginning inventory batch, $100,000 in this example, remains as the cost of ending
inventory—as you see in Exhibit K. The actual products on hand at year-end are not those at the start of
the year, of course. The products on hand in ending inventory are from the most recent acquisition. The
actual flow of products seldom follows alast-in, first-out sequence. The first products acquired usually
are thefirst ones sold. No matter; LIFO ignores the actual physical flow of products. LIFO takes the most
recent (last-in) batches for determining cost of goods sold expense for the year.

Astheresult, LIFO leavesin ending inventory the residual cost of products after selecting the most
recent batches for cost of goods sold. The LIFO method leaves the oldest cost in inventory. After severd
years of using LIFO a company's inventory reminds me of the story of Dorian Gray looking in the mirror.
The actual inventory isyoung, but its reported cost in the balance sheet is old, perhaps very old. Please
refer again to Caterpillar's footnote on page 90; its LIFO inventory is $2 billion below the current cost of
the inventory because the company has used LIFO for many years.

When thereis steady cost inflation (asin this example) LIFO maximizes cost of goods sold expense, and
thus minimizes profit



Page 132

(or I should say, gross margin). The side effect of doing this, however, isthat inventory in the balance
sheet isreported at the oldest, or lowest cost.

LIFO produces predictabl e effects when product costs steadily increase year to year—that is, cost of
goods sold expense is maximized and inventory cost gets older and older. Keep in mind, however, that
thisisonly one of several different scenarios. The manufacturing costs of some products actually decline
over the years. Some products have very short life cycles—new models replace the old models every
year or so. Therefore, inventory cost does not have time enough to get very old. And, if product costs
remain stable and don't change very much over time the choice of accounting method makes little
difference.
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TheFirst-In, First-Out (FIFO) Method

The LIFO method selects costs in reverse chronological order. In contrast the first-in, first-out, or FIFO
method takes costs in chronological order for determining cost of goods sold expense. The FIFO method
in this exampl e selects the beginning inventory batch and the first, second, and third acquisition batches
to make up the total cost for the 4000 units sold during the year. The sum of these four batchesis
$430,000—see Exhibit L on this page. The first batches of products acquired are the first to be charged
out to cost of goods sold expense. The cost of the most recent batch remains as the cost of ending
inventory.

One reason for using FIFO is that the actual flow of productsin most situations follows afirst-in,
first-out sequence. In periods of cost inflation, asin this example, FIFO minimizes the cost of goods sold
expense and maximizes gross margin. And, ending inventory is reported at the most recent, or highest
cost in the balance sheet.

The strongest reason for adopting FIFO is when a business sets its sales prices according to a FIFO-based
method, which is discussed later in the chapter. First we look at the differences among the three methods.

EXHIBIT L—LIFO METHOD
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So, Which Method to Use?

Suppose you're the chief executive of the business in this example. At year-end you review the profit
performance of every product the business sells. The sales revenue from the 4000 units of product sold is
$645,000 for the year. How much gross margin did you earn on this product for the year? The answer
depends on which accounting method you decide to use.

The gross margins for each accounting method would be as follows:

Average Cost Method

Sales Revenue $645,000
Cost of Goods Sold Expense (Exhibit J) 440,000
Gross Margin $205,000
LIFO Method

Sales Revenue $645,000
Cost of Goods Sold Expense (Exhibit K) 450,000
Gross Margin $195,000
FIFO Method

Sales Revenue $645,000
Cost of Goods Sold Expense (Exhibit L) 430,000
Gross Margin $215,000

Sales revenue is the same; the business set its sales prices and sold 4000 units, which generated $645,000
sales revenue for the year. Only the cost of goods sold expense amounts differ.

The merits of each accounting method can be debated until the cows come home. Personally, | think the
proper method is the one that is most consistent with the sales pricing policy and strategy of the
business. In other words, | need to know how a business goes about setting sales prices before | can
decide on the proper cost of goods sold expense accounting method for the business.

Suppose that a business setsits sales prices as follows. It starts with the cost of manufacture or purchase
of abatch of products. The company marks up the cost per unit to set the sales price. It holds to this sales
price until all units are sold from the batch, and then moves on to the next batch and repeats the process.
Many factors other than product cost affect sales prices, of course. Absent other pressures on sales prices,
many companies set their target sales pricesin this manner, although these benchmark sales prices may
be just the point of departure. A business may increase or lower its final sales prices because of
competition and other economic pressures.

For the product in this example, suppose the company uses afirst-in, first-out approach; it marks up
product cost 50% to set sales prices and was able to sell the product at these sales prices. Therefore, the
company's sales revenue for the year for this product was determined as follows (see Exhibit | for cost
data):
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50% Mark-Up on Cost to Set Sales Prices

$100,000 x 150% = $150,000
$105,000 x 150% = $157,500
$110,000 x 150% = $165,000
$115,000 x 150% = $172,500
Total Sales Revenue = $645,000

If the business sets sales prices in this manner, | definitely favor the FIFO cost of goods sold expense
method. Gross margin equals exactly one-third of sales revenue: ($215,000 gross margin + $645,000
sales revenue = 1/3 exactly). Both the average cost method and LIFO would give a gross margin ratio
lower than one-third, which isinconsistent with the company's sal es pricing method.

Regardless of how they set sales prices, many businesses adopt the LIFO method—despite the fact that
this method yields the lowest gross margin and the lowest ending inventory cost in periods of rising
costs. One possible reason is conservatism. Most companies, it seems, prefer to err on the downside and
not be accused of overstating profits and assets.

Another possible reason for LIFO could be to minimize the amount that is subject to a profit-sharing or
profit-based bonus plan—although employees and managers wouldn't like this, of course. Another reason
might be to hide profit during periods of labor problems or union contract bargaining. Perhaps a business
wants to appear to be in need of more profit and thus be justified to raise its sales prices or to lay off
employees.

Or, the main reason may be simply to minimize taxable income. LIFO is alowed for federal income tax
purposes. LIFO reduces taxable income by $20,000 compared with FIFO in this example. If income tax
rates are forecast to go up in the near future it might be better to use FIFO and report higher taxable
income this year while tax rates are lower than they will bein the future.

Cash flow is also very important. A business could be in a very tight cash position and need to hang on to
every dollar of cash for aslong as possible. So, the company could elect LIFO to delay paying income
tax. Even if not strapped for cash, a business can invest the temporary tax savings from using LIFO and
earn areturn on the investment. If inflation is forecast to continue in the future then a business could
delay paying itsincome taxes as long as possible and pay in the cheaper dollars of the future.
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Odds and Ends

Two inventory and cost of goods sold expense accounting topics are discussed briefly in thisfinal section
of the chapter:

1. LIFO liquidation gains.
2. Lower of cost or market write-downs of inventory.

Thefirst isaunique feature of the LIFO method. The second appliesto all businesses, no matter which
accounting method they use.

LIFO Liquidation Gains

When deciding whether to use the LIFO method, business managers should think ahead about what could
happen at the end of a product's life cycle. In the terminal year there could be a LIFO liquidation gain
caused by reducing inventory to zero.

Please refer again to Exhibit K on page 131, which shows the LIFO method for the example.
Fast-forward five years into the future; assume the product reaches the end of itslife cycle and is phased
out early in the year. The company maintainsitsinventory level at 1000 units. Therefore, the company
sells the last 1000 units of this product. These 1000 units are on the books at $100,000. Every year the
business replaced the units sold and the cost of these replacement units were charged to the cost of goods
sold expense. Thus, the inventory remained at $100,000 cost over the years. The most recent batch of
1000 units of this product cost $220,000 (product cost continued to increase over the years).

The business sold the 1000 remaining units of this product early in the year. Because the product was
being discontinued the business dropped the sales price. To move the product out the door the business
sold the 1000 units for $220,000 sales revenue, which was the cost of the most recent acquisition. The
cost of the most recent acquisition had been already charged to cost of goods sold expense—thisis how
LIFO works (see Exhibit K on page 131). The only cost available for the final 1000 units sold isthe old
cost—the $100,000 amount from five years ago.

Compared with the most recent $220,000 acquisition cost there would be zero gross margin on the final
sales. However, the final sales result in recording gross margin of $120,000 ($220,000 sales revenue
minus $100,000 old cost of inventory sold = $120,000 gross margin). This onetime nonrecurring effect is
called aLIFO liquidation gain. Taxable incomeis also $120,000 higher as aresult of phasing out the
product.

The lesson to be learned from this example is that by using the LIFO method, a business simply defers or
delays recording a certain amount of gross margin—nboth in its annual income statements and in its
annual income tax returns. Eventually, when the business reaches the end of a product'slife cycle and
liquidates the inventory of the product, the gross margin that would have been recorded along the way
under the FIFO or average cost method catches up with the business and has to be recorded.
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Managers should be aware of the eventual LIFO liquidation gain that probably will happen at the end of
aproduct'slife cycle.

To go astep further on this point, a business manager does not have to wait until the end of a product's
life cycle to record this gain. Instead, a manager could force this effect by deliberately alowing
LIFO-based inventory to fall below normal levels. How? Toward the end of the year the manager could
hold off making acquisitions, thus causing inventory quantity to drop to abnormally low levels.

Inventory levels may drop below normal levels for other reasons. For instance, a prolonged labor strike
may force a business to drastically reduce its inventory levels. Whatever the reasons, when ending
inventory is below the inventory quantities on hand at the start of the year, abusiness hasto dip into its
old LIFO cost layers, which produces a LIFO liquidation gain effect.

In summary, businesses that use LI1FO have some profit (gross margin) in reserve, or "on the shelf" and
ready to be recorded at any time, assuming product cost has drifted up over the years. There is nothing to
prohibit a business from manipulating profit by the partial liquidation of its LIFO-based inventory. If
material in amount, a LIFO liquidation gain (being nonrecurring in nature) hasto be disclosed in a
footnote to the financial statements, or as extraordinary income in itsincome statement for the period.

Lower of Cost or Market (LCM)

Regardless of which accounting method a business uses—average cost, FIFO, or LIFO—at the end of
each year the company compares the sales value and replacement cost value of all productsin its ending
inventory with their recorded cost. If market value (i.e., either what a product can be sold for or what a
product could be replaced for) islower than the recorded cost of the product, then the product's cost is
written down to the lower amount. This procedureis called lower of cost or market (LCM), or "cost or
market, whichever is lower."

The purpose of writing down inventory cost is to recognize any loss in sales value of products and to
recognize that the cost of replacing the products may have fallen below the recorded cost of the products.
Please refer to Exhibit L for the FIFO method (page 133). The unitsin ending inventory are carried on
the books at $120,000. Assume that, quite unexpectedly, demand for the product took a nosedive just
before year-end. The business reduced the sales price drastically to move these units out the door. In this
situation the business would write down the cost of the products. The amount of the write-down is
recorded as an expense in the period.
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21—
Depreciation Dilemmas
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Depreciation Foibles

A basic principle of financial accounting is that the cost of the long-term operating resources used by a
business should be allocated over the years these fixed assets are used. It is definitely against generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) to charge the entire cost of afixed asset to expense in the year of
its purchase or construction. The allocation of cost over afixed asset's useful life is called depreciation.

Chapter 9 introduces depreciation accounting and the accumulated depreciation account; the balance of
this contra account is deducted from the cost of fixed assets in the balance sheet. The book value of fixed
assets equal s their original cost less the accumulated depreciation on these long-term operating resources.
Depreciation accounting is not quite as cut-and-dried as Chapter 9 may suggest. This chapter discusses
practical problems of depreciation accounting. Instead of the theoretically correct method, often a
business takes shortcuts to deal with the problemsin the most expedient manner.

In reading this chapter please keep in mind the cash flow aspects of depreciation. Chapter 13 explains
that depreciation is one of the key adjustments to net income for determining cash flow from profit (or to
be technically correct, cash flow from operating activities). Sales revenue each year, in part, recovers
some of the original capital invested in fixed assets. In rough terms the depreciation recapture can be
compared with taking money out each year from a savings account (capital invested in fixed assets) and
putting the money in a checking account.

Fixed assets are long-term investments by a business. Over the years of their use the company has to
recover through sales revenue the amount of capital invested in these assets. A business does not hold
fixed assets for the purpose of selling them sometime in the future for more than it paid for the fixed
assets. At the end of their useful lives fixed assets are sent to the junk pile or sold for their salvage value.
Well, thisis generally true, except for land and buildings.

Machinery, equipment, tools, and vehicles do not appreciate in value over the years of their use. The
clock isticking on the usefulness of these fixed assets. However, land and buildings are a different kettle
of fish. The cost of land is not depreciated. The cost of buildings is depreciated, even though the market
value of the buildings may appreciate over time. It can be argued that the cost of buildings should not be
depreciated if their market value increases. But GAAP says to depreciate the cost of buildings, no matter
what. Thisisthefirst thing to keep in mind about depreciation. The next thing to keep in mind is best
explained with an example.

Suppose a business buys several new delivery trucks. The total purchase invoice cost paid to the dealer
for the fleet of trucksis capitalized (i.e., recorded as an increase in the fixed asset account for these
long-term operating resources). The term capitalized comes from the idea of making a capital investment.
The amount of sales taxes paid by the businessis also capitalized; sales taxes are a direct and inseparable
add-on cost of the trucks. So far
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there is no argument; both the total purchase invoice cost and sales taxes paid by the buyer are
capitalized. Beyond these two direct costs accounting theory and actual accounting practice part
company.

Suppose the business paints its new trucks with the company's name, address, tel ephone number, and
logo. Also, the businessinstalls specia racks and fittings in the trucks. In theory these additional costs
should be capitalized and included in the cost basis of the fixed assets. These additional costs are not
directly part of the purchase; these costs are detachable and separate from the purchase cost.
Nevertheless, the costs should be capitalized because the costs improve the value in use of the trucks.

When purchasing many long-lived operating assets a business incurs additional costs that should be
added to the cost basis, but in fact may not be. Accounting theory says to capitalize these costs. Asa
practical matter, however, only purchase cost plus other direct costs of purchase are capitalized. Any
additional costs are recorded as expenses immediately, instead of being depreciated over the useful lives
of the fixed assets.

There are countless examples of such additional costs. A business may paint several signs on a new
building it just moved into. It may fumigate the entire building before moving in. It may upgrade the
lighting in several areas. After purchasing new machines or new equipment a business usually incurs
costs of installing the assets and preparing them for use. Such additional costs should be capitalized,
according to accounting theory.

In actual practice, however, the additional costs are usually not recorded in a company's fixed assets.
Instead the costs are charged to expense in the period incurred. One reason is to deduct these costs
immediately for income tax purposes—to minimize current taxable income in the year the costs are
incurred. (A business should be very careful regarding what the Internal Revenue Service toleratesin this
regard.) Another reason for not capitalizing such costsis simply that of practical expediency. It is much
easier to charge such costs to expense rather than adding them to the fixed asset cost.

While on the topic of practical expediency | should mention that most businesses buy an assortment of
relatively low-cost tools and equipment items—examples are hammers, power saws, drills,
floor-cleaning machines, dollies, pencil sharpeners, lamps, and so on. The costs of these assets, since
they will be used several years, should be capitalized and depreciated over their expected useful lives.
Keeping a separate depreciation schedule for each screwdriver or pencil sharpener isridiculous, of
course.

Most businesses set minimum dollar limits below which costs of fixed assets are not capitalized but are
charged directly to expense. Thisis accepted practice; CPA auditors tolerate this practice aslong as a
business is consistent one year to the next. The only question concerns the materiality of such costs. If
these costs in the aggregate were extraordinarily high one year, the CPA auditors, as well as the Internal
Revenue Service, might object.

In any case, business managers should understand the financial statement effects of not capitalizing the
additional costs associated with buying fixed assets and not capitalizing the costs of small tools and
equipment. To illustrate, suppose a business purchased new fixed assets during the year. The sum of the
invoice prices plus sales taxes for al these assets was $1,400,000 for the year. The $1,400,000 is
capitalized; the business records this cost in its fixed asset accounts. If it didn't, the company's CPA
auditors would object in the strongest possible terms, and the IRS could accuse the business of income
tax evasion (which isafelony).

In addition to the direct costs of the new fixed assets, suppose the business spent $120,000 during the
year for the types of additional costs connected with buying new fixed assets which were just described,
and spent another $20,000 for small tools and in-
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expensive equipment items. The $140,000 total could have been properly capitalized, but consistent with
previous years the company recorded the amount to expense.

To simplify, assume that the various fixed assets are depreciated over seven years, and that the business
uses the straight-line depreciation method. (Aswill be discussed shortly, many businesses use an
accelerated depreciation method instead of the straight-line method.) The effects of capitalizing only the
direct costs versus capitalizing all costs are compared as follows:

Annual Expenses |If Only Direct Acquisition Costs Are

Capitalized
Y ear 1: $200,000 depreciation + $140,000 $340,000
Years 2—7: $1,400,000 + 7 years $200,000

Annual Expenses |f All Costs Are Capitalized
Years 1-7: $1,540,000 + 7 years $220,000

If the business chooses the first alternative, then expensesin the first year are $120,000 higher ($340,000
minus $220,000 = $120,000). But then annual depreciation expense is $20,000 less for the next six years.
If al costs are capitalized, every year istreated equally. Total expenses over the entire seven years are
the same either way. It's year by year that expenses are different.

One word of caution: The above comparison does not consider the carryover effects from previous years.
We would have to know the history of the business regarding these costs in previous years to determine
the final net effect on thisyear.

Chapter 18 discusses massaging the accounting numbers to control the amount of profit (net income)
recorded in the year. Charging the costs of small tools and equipment items to expense provides business
managers yet another way to manipulate profit for the year. The timing of these expendituresis
discretionary. Small tools can be replaced before the end of the year, or put off until next year. So, the
expense can be recorded this year or delayed until next year.
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To Accelerate or Not?

Most business buildingslast 50, 75, or more years. Y et under the federal income tax law the cost of
nonresidential buildings used by a business can be depreciated over 39 years (31.5 years before 1993).
Most autos and light trucks used by businesses last 10 years or longer, but can be depreciated over 5
years under the tax law.

In brief, the federal income tax law permits business fixed assets to be depreciated over a shorter number
of years than the actual useful lives of the assets. Thisisthe deliberate economic policy of Congressto
encourage capital investment in newer, technologically superior resources to help improve the
productivity of American business.

Accelerated depreciation deductions are higher and tax payments are lower in the early years of using
fixed assets. Thus, the business has more cash flow available to reinvest in new fixed assets—both to
expand capacity and to improve productivity. This accelerated depreciation philosophy has become a
permanent feature of the income tax law, and is not likely to change anytime soon.

The federal income tax law regarding depreciation of fixed assets has effectively discouraged any
realistic attempt at estimating the useful lives of a company's long-lived operating resources. Thisisa
fact of businesslife, like it or not. The shortest lives permitted for income tax are selected by most
businesses for reporting depreciation expense in their financial statements. The schedules of these short,
or accelerated, useful lives are found in the section of the income tax law named the "Modified
Accelerated Cost Recovery System,” or MACRS for short. (Its predecessor was known as ACRS, or
Accelerated Cost Recovery System.)

Alternatively, the income tax code permits businesses to adopt longer useful life estimates than the
MACRS schedules. But even these longer lives are generally shorter than realistic forecasts of the actual
useful lives of most business fixed assets.

MACRS aso allows the front-end loading of depreciation, instead of alevel and equal amount of
depreciation each year (called the straight-line method). More depreciation is allocated to the early years
and lessin the later years. The annual depreciation amounts "walk down the stairs,” each year being less
than the year before. Like the LIFO accounting method for cost of goods sold expense, | seriously doubt
whether accelerated depreciation would be used by many businesses if this method were not allowed for
income tax.

Financial statement users should keep in mind that, with rare exceptions, business fixed assets are
overdepreciated—not in the actual wearing out or physical using up sense but in the accounting sense. In
bal ance sheets the reported book values of a company's fixed assets (original cost less accumulated
depreciation) are understated. A company's fixed assets are written off too fast. Book values shrink much
quicker than they should.

In summary, a business has two basic alternatives regarding how to record depreciation expense on its
fixed assets:
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1. Adopt the accelerated income tax approach—use the shortest useful lives and the front-end loaded
depreciation allocation allowed by the tax code.

2. Adopt more realistic (longer) useful life estimates for fixed assets and allocate the cost in equal
amounts to each year—straight-line depreciation.

For an example, assume that a business pays $120,000 for a new machine. Under MACRS this asset falls
in the 7-year class. Alternatively, the business could elect to use a 12-year useful life estimate, which
well assumeto be readlistic for this particular machine.

Exhibit M (page 145) compares the annual depreciation amounts determined by the double-declining

accelerated depreciation schedule permitted by MACRS with the $10,000 annual depreciation amount
according to the straight-line method. (Only one-half year depreciation can be deducted in the year of
acquisition under the income tax law.)

Suppose the machine actually is used for 12 years. Therefore, this asset adds value to the operations of
the business every year of its use. The value added in some years may be more than in other years. It's
virtually impossible to determine exactly how much sales revenue any one machineis responsible
for—or any particular fixed asset for that matter. Nevertheless, it would bother me that if the business
chooses accelerated depreciation, then the last five years of using the machine would not be charged with
any depreciation expense. What do you think?

Although accelerated depreciation has obvious income tax advantages, there are certain disadvantages.
For one thing, the book (reported) values of a company's long-term operating assets are lower. When
borrowing money alender looks at the company's assets as reported in its balance sheet. The lower book
values of fixed assets caused by using accel erated depreciation may, in effect, lower the debt capacity of
a business (the maximum amount it could borrow).

One final point: Managers and investors are very interested in whether a business was able to improve its
profit performance over the previous year. Ideally, when a profit increase is reported in an income
statement, the increase should be due to real causes—nbetter profit margins on sales, gainsin operating
efficiency, higher sales volumes, and so forth.

Spurious increases in profit can be misleading. Profit trends are difficult to track if there are dropoffsin

annual depreciation expense, which happens under accelerated depreciation (see Exhibit M again). The

straight-line method has one advantage: Depreciation expense is constant year to year on the same fixed
assets.



Page 145

EXHIBIT M—COMPARISON OF DEPRECIATION METHODS
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22—
Ratios for Creditorsand I nvestors
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The Purpose of Financial Statements

The purpose of externally reported financial statementsisto provide useful financial information about a
businessto itsinvestors and lenders and render an accounting to its sources of capital. Others may be
interested in the financia affairs of a business—for example, its employees and other creditors. The
primary audience of financial statementsisthe owner-investorsin abusiness and its lenders. Financial
reporting standards and generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) have been developed with this
primary audience in mind.

The dissemination of financial information by publicly-owned businesses, those whose capital stock
shares and other securities are traded in public markets, is governed by federal law, which is enforced
mainly by the Securities & Exchange Commission (SEC). The New Y ork Stock Exchange, NASDAQ,
and other securities markets al so enforce many rules and regulations regarding the release and
communication of financia information by companies whose securities are traded on their markets.

For instance, a business cannot selectively release information to some stockholders or lenders but not to
others, nor can abusinesstip off some of them before informing the others. The laws and accepted
practices of financia reporting are designed to ensure that all stockholders and lenders have equal access
to acompany's financial information and financial statements.

A company's financial statements may not be the first source of information about its profit performance.
Public corporations put out press releases consisting of short summaries of their most recent earnings
results. These press releases precede mailing the company's latest financial report to its stockholders and
lenders. Privately owned or nonpublic businesses do not usually send out aletter to their owners and
lenders in advance of their financial statements, although they could, of course.

This chapter examines what stockholders and lenders do with the financial statements once they get
them. The chapter centers on the annual set of financial statements, which is the most complete.
(Quarterly financial reports are abbreviated versions of the annual reports.) In particular, this chapter
focuses on certain ratios that are useful to take the measure of a company's situation and achievements,
and to pinpoint potential trouble spots.
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Overview of Financial Statements

A company's financial statements are reproduced in Exhibit N on page 150. Thisis the same company
example used in earlier chapters. The footnotes for these statements are not presented. (Chapter 16
discusses footnotes to financial statements.)

The company is owned by asmall group of persons who started the business some years ago. (Three of
the original shareholders have since died and left their stock shares to their sons and daughters.)
Although the business has $10.4 million annual sales, the company would have to be much larger to be
publicly owned. Size is not the point, however. The techniques of financial analysis and the ratios
discussed in the chapter are appropriate for any size business, privately or publicly owned.

The chapter does not pretend to cover the broad field of securities analysis (i.e., the analysis of stocks
and debt instruments issued by public corporations). This broad field includes the analysis of competitive
advantages and disadvantages of a business, domestic and international economic developments,
business combination possibilities, and much more. The key ratios explained in the chapter are basic
building blocks in securities analysis.

Also, the chapter does not discuss the important topic of trend analysis, which involves comparing a
company's latest financial statements with its previous years statements to identify important
year-to-year changes. For example, investors and lenders are very interested in the sales growth or
decline of a business, and the resulting impact on profit performance, cash flow, and financial condition.

The chapter has a more modest objective—to explain basic ratios used in financial statement analysis.
Only a handful of ratios are discussed in the chapter, but they are extremely important and widely used.

Upon opening a company's financial report probably one of the first things most investors do isto give
the financial statements a once-over; they do afairly quick scan of the financia statements, in other
words. What do they ook for? In my experience, they look first at the bottom line of the income
statement, to see if the business made a profit or suffered aloss for the year.

As one sports celebrity put it when explaining how he keeps tabs on his various business investments, he
looks first to see if the bottom line has "parentheses around it." The business in our example does not; it
avoided aloss. Itsincome statement reports that the business earned $718,200 net income for the year. Is
this profit performance good, mediocre, or poor? Ratios help answer this question.

This company does not report any extraordinary gains or losses for the year, which are onetime,
nonrecurring events. For example, a business may sell amajor fixed asset and record again. Or a
business may record arestructuring charge to record the cost of laying off employees who will receive
severance packages. These nonordinary, unusual gains and losses are reported separately from the
ongoing, continuing operations of a company. This topic would lead into alabyrinth of technical details.
But be warned: Theseirregular gains and
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EXHIBIT N—EXTERNAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOF BUSINESS (WITHOUT FOOTNOTES)
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losses complicate the evaluation and forecasting of the profit performance!

After reading the income statement, most financial statement readers probably take a quick look at the
company's assets and compare them with the liabilities of the business. Are the assets adequate to the
demands of the company's liabilities? Ratios help answer this question. Next, the readers take alook at
the company's cash flows. As you see, the company's cash flow statement isincluded in Exhibit N. This
isone of the primary financial statements of a business entity that must be included in its external
financia reports. Nevertheless, | almost did not include it in the exhibit, which might surprise you.

None of the ratios discussed in this chapter involve the cash flow statement. Investors and creditors have
yet to develop any benchmark ratios for cash flows. Still, cash flow getsalot of ink in the financial press
and in reports on corporations published by brokers and investment advisors. Cash flow from profit
(operating activities) is considered a key variable for abusiness. The businessin our example realized
$540,807 cash flow from profit for the year just ended, which is considerably less than its $750,000
capital expenditures for the year. Its other sources and uses of cash provided only $25,000 cash for the
year. Thus, the company's cash balance dropped $184,193 during the year.

Reading the cash flow statement in this manner provides a useful synopsis of where the business got its
money during the year and what it did with the money. Notice that no ratios were calculated. We could
divide cash flow from profit by net income to determine cash flow as a percent of net income. | think this
IS an interesting ratio. But it is not one of the benchmark ratios used in financial statement analysis.

We could divide cash flow from profit (operating activities) by the number of capital stock sharesto get
cash flow per share. But the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has specifically discouraged
thisratio, which ismost unusual. It is quite rare for the FASB to go out of its way to put the kibosh on a
particular ratio.

Exhibit N introduces anew financial statement—the Statement of Changes in Sockholders' Equity. In
some respects thisis not really afinancial statement; it's more of a supporting schedule that summarizes
changesin the capital stock and retained earnings accounts. The businessin our example probably would
include this statement. However, this schedule is not all that necessary because the changesin itstwo
stockholder equity accounts are easy to follow.

The business issued additional shares of capital stock during the year, as reported in its cash flow
statement. So, the balance in its capital stock account increased. Net income for the year increased
retained earnings, and the cash dividends paid to stockholders decreased the account.

The statement of changes in stockholders' equity is definitely needed when a business has a complex
capitalization (ownership) structure that includes different classes of stock, and when a business
repurchased some of its own capital stock shares during the year. Also, certain types of losses and gains
are recorded directly to retained earnings and thus bypass the income statement. In these situations the
statement of changes in stockholders' equity is essential to organize and report everything in one place.
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Debt-Paying Ability, or Solvency Ratios

Stock analysts, investment portfolio managers, individual investors, investment bankers, economists, and
others are interested in three key financial aspects of a business—cash flows, solvency, and profit
performance. Cash flow analysis does not use ratios (at least not yet). In contrast, the analysis of
solvency and profit performance makes use of severa benchmark ratios.

Bankers and other lenders when deciding whether to make and renew |oans to a business direct their
attention to certain key financial statement ratios. These ratios provide a useful financial profile of the
business for assessing its creditworthiness and for judging the ability of the businessto pay itsloans and
interest on time.

Solvency refersto the ability of abusinessto pay itsliabilities when they come due. Maintaining
solvency (debt-paying ability) is essential for every business. If a business defaults on its debt obligations
it becomes vulnerable to legal proceedings that could stop the company in its tracks, or at least could
interfere with its normal operations.

The Current Ratio: Test of Short-Term Solvency

The current ratio is used to test the short-term liability-paying ability of a business. It's calculated by
dividing total current assets by total current liabilities in a company's most recent balance sheet. From the
datain Exhibit N, the current ratio for the company is computed as follows:

The current ratio is hardly ever expressed as a percent (which would be 221% in this case). The current
ratio is stated as 2.21 to 1.00 for this company, or more smply just as 2.21.

The general rule of thumb is that the current ratio for a business should be 2 to 1 or higher. Most
businesses find that this minimum current ratio is expected by their creditors. In other words, short-term
creditors generally like to see abusiness limit its current liabilities to one-half or less of its current assets.

Why do short-term creditors put this limit on a business? The main reason isto provide a safety cushion
of protection for the payment of its short-term liabilities. A current ratio of 2 to 1 means there is $2 of
cash or assets that should be converted into cash during the near future that will be available to pay each
$1 of current liabilities that come due in roughly the same time period. Each dollar of short-term
liabilities is backed up with two dollars of cash on hand or near-term cash inflows. The extra dollar of
current assets provides a margin of safety.

A company could remain solvent and pay itsliabilities on time with a current ratio lessthan 2 to 1,
perhaps even if its current ratio were aslow as 1 to 1. In this example, the company's three
non-interest-bearing liabilities—accounts payable, accrued expenses, and income tax payable—equal
27% of itstotal current assets. Its banker has loaned the business $625,000 on
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the basis of short-term loans, which is 18% of its total current assets. In most situations short-term
lenders would not |oan the business too much more—although perhaps the business could persuade its
banker to go up to, say, $750,000 on short-term notes payable.

In summary, short-term sources of credit generally demand that a company's current assets be double its
current liabilities. After all, creditors are not owners—they don't share in the profit earned by the
business. The income on their loansis limited to the interest they charge (and collect). As a creditor they
quite properly minimize their loan risks; as limited-income (fixed-income) investors they are not
compensated to take on much risk.

The Acid Test Ratio (Quick Ratio)

Inventory is many weeks away from conversion into cash. Products are usually held two, three, or four
months before being sold. If sales are made on credit, which is normal when one business sells to another
business, there's a second waiting period before the receivables are collected. In short, inventory is not
nearly as liquid as accounts receivable; it takes alot longer to convert inventory into cash. Furthermore,
there's no guarantee that all the productsin inventory will be sold.

A more severe measure of the short-term liability-paying ability of abusinessisthe acid test ratio, which
excludes inventory (and prepaid expenses also). Only cash, marketable securities investments (if any),
and accounts receivable are counted as sources to pay the current liabilities of the business. It isaso
called the quick ratio because only cash and assets quickly convertible into cash are included in the
amount available for paying current liabilities.

In this example the company's acid test ratio is calculated as follows (the business has no investmentsin
marketable securities):

The rule of thumb is that a company's acid test ratio should be 1 to 1 or better, although you find many
more exceptions to this as compared with the 2 to 1 current ratio standard.

Debt to Equity Ratio

Some debt is good, but too much is dangerous. The debt to equity ratio is an indicator of whether a
company is using debt prudently, or perhaps has gone too far and is overburdened with debt that may
likely cause problems. For this example the company's debt to equity ratio is calculated as follows:

Thisratio tells us that the company is using $.69 of liabilitiesin addition to each $1.00 of stockholders
equity in the business. Notice that all liabilities (noninterest as well as interest-bearing, and both
short-term and long-term) are included in thisratio, and that all owners equity (invested capital and
retained earnings) isincluded.

This business—with its .69 to 1.00 debt to equity ratio—would be viewed as moderately leveraged.
Leverage refers to using the equity capital base to raise additional capital from nonowner sources. In
other words, the business is using $1.69 of total capital for every $1.00 of equity capital. So the business
has
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$1.69 of assets working for it for every dollar of equity capital in the business.

Most businesses stay below a 1 to 1 debt to equity ratio. They don't want to take on too much debt, or
they cannot convince lenders to put up more than one-half of their assets. However, some
capital-intensive (asset-heavy) businesses such as public utilities and most financial institutions operate
with debt to equity ratios much higher than 1 to 1.

Times I nterest Earned Ratio

To pay interest on its debt a business needs to earn sufficient operating earnings, which is earnings before
interest and income tax (often abbreviated EBIT). To test the ability to pay interest from earnings the
timesinterest earned ratio is calculated. Annual earnings before interest and income tax is divided by
interest expense, as follows for this example:

Thereis no standard rule of thumb for this particular ratio—although obviously the ratio should be higher
than 1 to 1. In this example the company's operating earnings are more than 12 times its annual interest
expense, which is comforting from the lender's point of view. Lenders would be very alarmed if a
business barely coversits annual interest expense. (The company's management should be equally
alarmed, of course.)
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Profit and Return on Equity Ratios

Making sales and controlling expenses is how a business makes profit. The profit residual "slice" or "cut"
from a company's total sales revenue is expressed by the return on salesratio, which is profit divided by
sales revenue for the period. The company's return on salesratio for its latest year is.

Another way of explaining the return on sales ratio is as follows: For each $100 of sales revenue the business
earned $6.90 net income—and had expenses of $93.10. Return on sales varies quite markedly from one
industry to another. Some businesses do well with only a 1% or 2% return on sales; others need more than
10% to justify the large amount of capital invested in their assets.

Ownerstake the risk of whether their business can earn a profit and sustain its profit performance over the
years. How much would you pay for a business that consistently suffers aloss? The value of the owners
investment depends first and foremost on the past and future profit performance of the business—or not just
profit, | should say, but profit relative to the capital invested to earn that profit.

For instance, suppose a business earns $100,000 annual net income for its stockholders. If its stockholders
equity isonly $250,000, then its profit performance relative to the stockholders capital used to make that
profit is 40%, which is very good indeed. If, on the other hand, stockholders equity is 10 times as much
($2,500,000) then the company's profit performance is 4%, which is terrible relative to the owners' capital
tied up in the business to earn that profit.

The point isthat profit should be compared with the amount of capital invested to earn the profit. Profit for a
period divided by the amount of capital invested to earn that profit is called return on investment, or ROI for
short. ROI isabroad concept that applies to almost any sort of investment of capital.

The owners investment in abusinessisthe total of the owners' equity accounts in the company's balance
sheet. Their profit is bottom-line net income for the period, less dividends that have to be paid on any
preferred capital stock sharesissued by the business. Preferred stock shares have afirst claim on net income.
In this example the business has issued only one class of stock shares; the company has no preferred stock,
so al of net income "belongs" to its common stockholders.

Dividing annual net income by stockholders' equity gives the return on equity ratio (ROE). The company's
ROE in thisexampleis calculated as follows:
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By most standards a 21.6% annual ROE would be fairly good. But everything is relative. ROE should be
compared with industrywide averages and with investment alternatives. Also, the risk factor isimportant;
just how risky is the stockholders' capital investment in the business?

We would have to know much more about the history and prospects of the business to reach a conclusion
regarding whether the 21.6% ROE is good, mediocre, or poor. Also, we would have to consider the
opportunity cost of capital—that is, what ROI could be earned by the stockholders on alternative uses for
their capital. And, we have not considered the income tax factor. Judging ROE is not a simple matter!

Another useful ratio to calculate is the following:

Thisreturn on assets ratio (ROA) reveas that the business earned $.23 before interest and income tax
expenses on each $1.00 assets employed during the year. The ROA is compared with the annual interest
rate on the company's borrowed money. In this example the company's annual interest rate on its
short-term and long-term debt is 8%. The business earned 23% (rounded) on the money borrowed, as
measured by the ROA. The difference or spread between the two ratesis a very favorable 15%. This
source of profit enhancement is called financial leverage gain. If acompany's ROA islessthan its
interest rate it suffers afinancial leverage loss.

" The endi ng balance is used to simplify the analysis; alternatively, the weighted average during the year could
be used.
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Earnings Per Share and Price/Earnings Ratios

The capital stock shares of more than 12,000 business corporations are traded in public markets—the
New York Stock Exchange, NASDAQ, and other stock exchanges. The day-to-day market price changes
of these shares receive a great deal of attention, to say the least! More than any other one factor, the
market value of capital stock shares depends on the net income (earnings) performance of a business—its
past profit performance and its future profit potential.

Suppose | tell you that the market price of astock is $60, and ask you whether this value is too high or
too low, or just about right. Y ou could compare the market price with the stockholders' equity per share
reported in its most recent balance sheet—called the book value per share. Thisis an asset-based
valuation approach. The company's total assets minusitstotal liabilities equalsits stockholders' equity.
The asset-based, or book value method has a respectable history in securities analysis. Today, however,
the asset-based approach plays second fiddle to the earnings-based approach. The starting point is to
calculate earnings (net income) per share.

Earnings Per Share (EPS)

One of the most-used ratios in stock value and securities analysisis earnings per share (EPS). The
essential calculation of earnings per share is asfollows:

First, notice that the numerator (top number) in the ratio is net income available for common
stockholders, which equals bottom-line net income less any dividends paid to the preferred stockholders
of the business. Many business corporations issue preferred stock that requires a fixed amount of
dividends to be paid each year. The mandatory annual dividends to the preferred stockholders are
deducted from net income to determine net income available for the common stockholders. (The
preferred stock dividends are not reported as an expense; net income is before any dividends to
stockholders.)

Second, please notice the word basic in front of earnings per share, which means that the actual number
of common stock

" Tobe technically correct, the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year is
used—which takes into account that some shares may have been issued and outstanding only part of the year
and that the business may have reduced the number of its outstanding shares during part of the year.
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shares in the hands of stockholdersis the denominator (bottom number) in the EPS ratio. Most business

corporations have entered into contracts of one sort or another that require the company sometime in the
future to issue additional stock shares at prices below the market value of its stock shares, At the present
time none of these shares have been actually issued.

For example, business corporations award managers stock options to buy common stock shares of the
company at fixed prices. If in the future the market value of the shares rises over the fixed option prices
the managers can exercise their rights and buy capital stock shares at a bargain price. With stock options,
therefore, the number of stock sharesis subject to inflation. When (and if) the additional shares are
issued, EPS will suffer because net income will have to be spread over alarger number of stock shares.
EPS will be diluted, or thinned down, because of the larger denominator in the EPS ratio.

Basic EPS does not recognize the additional shares that would be issued when stock options are
exercised. Also, basic EPS does not take into account potential dilution effects of any convertible bonds
and convertible preferred stock that have been issued by a business. These securities can be converted at
the option of the security holders into common stock shares at predetermined prices.

To warn investors of the potential effects of stock options and convertible securities a second EPSis
reported by public corporations, which is called diluted EPS. Thislower EPS takes into account the
dilution effects caused by the issue of additional common stock shares under stock option plans,
convertible securities, and any other commitments a business has entered into that could require it to
issue additional stock shares at fixed prices in the future.

Basic EPS and diluted EPS (if applicable) must be reported in the income statements of publicly-owned
business corporations. This indicates the importance of EPS. In contrast, none of the other ratios
discussed in this chapter have to be reported, although many public companies report selected ratios.

Price/Earnings Ratio

The market price of stock shares of a public business corporation is compared with its basic EPS and
expressed in the price/earningsratio (P/E) as follows:

Suppose a company's stock shares are trading at $60 per share and its basic EPS for the most recent year
(called the trailing 12 months) is $3. Thus, its P/E ratio is 20. Like other ratios discussed in this chapter,
the P/E ratio should be compared with industrywide and marketwide averages to judge whether it's too
high or too low. There is no benchmark or standard for what P/E ratios should be. | remember when a
P/E ratio of 8 was considered "right." As | write this sentence P/E ratios of 20 or higher are considered
acceptable and nothing to be alarmed about.

The P/E ratio is so important that the Wall Street Journal and other financial newspapersinclude it with
the trading information for the thousands of stocks traded every business day on the national stock
exchanges.

There are no market prices for the stock shares of a privately owned or nonpublic business because the
shares are not traded, or when they are sold the price is not made public. Nevertheless, stockholdersin
these businesses want to know what their shares



Page 159

are worth. To estimate the value of stock shares a P/E multiple can be used. In the company example,
basic EPSis $3.59 for the most recent year (see Exhibit N, page 150). Suppose you own some of the
capital stock shares, and someone offers to buy your shares. Y ou could establish an offer price at, say, 12
times basic EPS. This gives about $43 per share. The potential buyer may not be willing to pay this price.
Or, he or she might be willing to pay 15 or 18 times basic EPS.

Earnings Yield and Market Cap

Thereciprocal or flip-flop of the P/E ratio is the E/P ratio, which is called the earnings yield. Imagine for
the moment that the company in our example was a thousand times larger and was a publicly owned
business. Its annual sales revenue would be $10,400,000,000, its net income for the most recent year
would be $718,200,000, and it would have 200,000,000 capital stock shares outstanding. Its basic EPS
would still be $3.59.

Suppose its capital stock istrading at $65 per share. Thus, its earnings yield would be:

This means that the company is earning annual net income equal to 5.5% of the current market price of
the stock shares.

The market cap, or total market value capitalization of the company would be $13 billion ($65 market
value per share x 200,000,000 capital stock shares = $13,000,000,000). This is much more than owners
equity reported in the company's balance sheet, which is only $3,319,700,000. In fact, this market cap is
considerably more than its annual sales revenue of $10,400,000,000. Market caps are much higher than
the book value of owners' equity reported in balance sheets of most companies.

Final Comments

Many other ratios can be calculated from the datain financial statements. For example, the asset turnover
ratio (annual sales revenue divided by total assets) and the dividend yield (annual cash dividends per
share divided by market value per share) are two ratios you often see used in securities analysis. There's
no end to the ratios than can be calculated.

The trick isto focus on those ratios that have the most interpretive value. Of courseit's not easy to figure
out which ratios are the most important. Professional investors tend to use too many ratios rather than too
few, in my opinion. But, you never know which ratio might provide a valuable clue to the future market
value increase or decrease of a stock.
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23—
A Look Inside Management Accounting
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Unless you happened to start reading the book in this chapter you know that the previous chapters deal
with the external financial statements reported by businesses. Accounting involves more than preparing a
company's external financial statements, although thisis certainly one of the most important functions.

Every business must install an accounting system including forms, procedures, records, reports,
computers, and personnel to keep the day-to-day activities of a business running smoothly and to prevent
delays and stoppages. Internal accounting controls should be enforced to deter and detect errors and
fraud. Computer programs have to be written or adapted to the needs of the business.

Many tax returns have to be filed by every business—for income taxes, property taxes, sales taxes, and
payroll taxes. Accountants are in charge of tax compliance.

Accounting systems, tax accounting, and financial accounting (preparing external financial statements)
are three bedrock functions. Accounting has another primary function—to provide information needed by
managers for their decision-making, planning, and control. This fourth fundamental function of
accounting is called management accounting or managerial accounting.

A brief excursion into this branch of accounting is very helpful for understanding the limits of external
financial statements, and to appreciate the differences between external financial reports to investors and
lenders and internal accounting reports to managers of a business. This chapter is like a gate in the wall
between external and internal accounting that you can walk through and have alook around.

This chapter introduces the topic of management accounting. To be frank, the chapter is no more than a
skimpy appetizer compared with the full-course menu of management accounting. For afuller treatment
of the topic | can recommend my book The Fast Forward MBA in Finance (John Wiley & Sons, 1996).
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First Things about Management Accounting

Management accounting is an internal function that operates within the boundaries of a business to help
managers make sound decisions, develop plans and goals, and exercise control. The basic purpose of
management accounting is to help managers be better managers. Management accounting, more than
anything else, involves providing useful information to managers and helping them use this information
in the most effective manner.

The design of accounting reports for managersis very dependent on the nature of the business and how
the business is organized. If abusinessis divided into several salesterritories, for example, accounting
reports are organized by sales territories. Within each sales territory the business may be organized by
major product lines. So, the accounting reports separate out each product line in each territory.

In short, management accounting follows the organizational structure of a business. This chapter focuses
on the profit report to top-level managers of a business who have companywide responsibility. The
chapter looks at the top of the organizational pyramid, and takes a summit point of view of the business.

The external financial statements of a business are not completely adequate for its top-level managers,
despite the fact that these financials are for the company as awhole. Thisis not a knock on external
financia statements, which are designed for the outside investors and lenders of the business and not for
its managers. Managers should understand their company's external financial statements like the backs of
their hands. But they need additional accounting reports that are much more detailed.

In particular, the external income statement is not a good explanation of profit behavior—especialy for
management analysis. All managers who have profit responsibility need a hands-on model that provides
aclear pathway to profit. The next section introduces a management profit model. The profit model or
schematic should make transparent the basic factors and variables that drive profit and how they al fit
together to arrive at bottom-line profit (net income). A profit model should serve as a blueprint for
constructing, maintaining, and improving the bottom line of the business.

One Word of Caution: Management accounting is an art, not a science. There are no authoritative
standards, and no generally accepted management accounting principles that govern management
accounting. Tax accounting must follow tax laws and regulations, and use prescribed tax forms. External
financia statements have to be prepared in accordance with GAAP. Management accounting is a
wide-open game with few ground rules.
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Management Accounting Center piece:
The Profit Model

Suppose you're the new president of the company that has been used as the main example for studying
external financial statements throughout the previous chapters. Y ou ask me, the chief accountant and
controller of the business, to prepare a profit report for your decision-making, planning, and control
purposes.

Soon thereafter | present to you the profit report shown in Exhibit O on page 166. It contains highly
confidential information that would not be released outside the business. Exhibit O presents an inside
look at how the business made the $718,200 profit (bottom-line net income) for the year just ended, and
includes a comparison with the previous year. The business did better than last period. The profit report
provides the information to analyze the reasons for the profit improvement.

Let me say immediately that the design of thisillustrative management profit report reflects my personal
preferences. There are no standard formats or templates for these types of accounting reports. This
exhibit is not necessarily the ideal format for all businesses in every respect.

The purpose of Exhibit O isto demonstrate several critical points. | do not mean to suggest that the
exhibit is a universal format that does not need to be changed from company to company. On the other
hand, Exhibit O serves as aroad map that a business could adapt to its particular needs.

As just mentioned, the profit report is designed for the president of the business, who has broad
responsibility. The corporation’'s board of directors can also use thisreport for their year-end review of
the profit performance of the business. The exhibit is not designed for a manager with limited authority
and responsibility, such as the sales manager or production department supervisor.

The profit model shown in Exhibit O has a twofold purpose: (1) to show what information is needed for
management analysis of profit behavior that focuses on the key variables that drive profit; and, (2) to
highlight "control points," which are the critical factors that have high impact on profit performance.

Notice under each line in the management profit report shown in Exhibit O that there are bullets for one
or more control points. For example, the number of employees and the annual sales per employee are
shown under the net sales revenue line. Under the total fixed operating expenses line are two important
costs—advertising and other marketing expenses, and senior management compensation. The president
should keep an eye on these two expenditures.

In the limited space of this chapter | can offer only abrief overview of how business managers use a
profit report. Speaking broadly, most analysis focuses on changes. Every factor and variable that
determines profit is subject to change; change is
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constant, as any experienced business manager will verify. Business managers need a profit model that
they actually can work with, one that they can make changes to like pulling handles on a machine—to
quickly measure the impact of the changes on profit.

Managers must respond to changes in the profit factorsin order to maintain the profit performance of the
business. For example, higher transportation costs next year may increase the sales volume—driven
expenses from $4.50 per unit sold (see Exhibit O) to $4.85. Or, property taxes may go up, which will
increase fixed operating expenses. Or, the sales manager may make a persuasive case that the advertising
budget should be increased next year. Managers have to respond to all such changes; they don't get paid
to sit on their hands and idly watch the changes happen.

Top-level managers have the responsibility of developing realistic plansto improve profit performance,
which means making changes in the profit equation of the business. Which specific changes? Thisisthe
key question. Suppose the president asked you to develop a plan to improve bottom-line net income 10%
next year. Exactly how would you accomplish this goal? I'd suggest that you should construct your plan
in terms of the specific factors and variablesin the profit model that you will change to bring off the 10%
profit improvement.

To illustrate the use of a profit model such as the one shown in Exhibit O, let me put a question to you.
Assume that all the factors and variablesin the profit model remain the same next year—except that sales
price or sales volume will change next year, but not both. Which aternative is better for profit?

* Increase sales price 5% next year.
* Increase sales volume 10% next year.

Of course it would be best to make both changes (without any unfavorable changes in the other factors).
But I'm putting it to you as an either-or choice. You could do only one or the other. Which alternative
would increase bottom-line profit more?

| have entered the profit model shown in Exhibit O in an Excel work sheet. So, | simply changed sales
price +5% for one alternative, and changed sales volume +10% for the other alternative. The outputs for
the two scenarios are shown in Exhibits P and Q on the following pages. (These two profit reports are
truncated at the net income ling, since the focus is on the profit impact next year.)

Before looking at the results, you might ask yourself which alternative you think is better. | suspect that
many persons would select the second alternative because the sales volume increase is much more than
the sales price increase. But, the model shows that the sales price increase alternative is quite a bit better.

The sales manager of the company might push for the sales volume alternative because the business
would increase its market share at the higher sales volume. Market share is aways an important factor to
consider—I wouldn't ignore this point. But, if you compare the two alternatives, bumping the sales price
5% would be much better for profit.

The main reason why the sales price alternative is so much better is that the contribution profit margin
increases 20% in this scenario. Because of the sales price increase the margin increases $4.78 per unit
($28.36 at the higher sales price minus $23.58 at the old sales price = $4.78 increase per unit, or 20%
higher). The sales price hike pushes up total contribution margin 20%, which is a substantial gain in
profit before fixed operating expenses, interest, and income tax. Bottom-line profit would increase from
$718,200 to $1,005,240 (see Exhibit P).
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EXHIBIT O—ILLUSTRATION OF AN INTERNAL CONFIDENTIAL PROFIT REPORT TO TOP-LEVEL MANAGERS
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EXHIBIT P—SCENARIO FOR 5% SALESPRICE INCREASE
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EXHIBIT Q—SCENARIO FOR 10% SALESVOLUME INCREASE
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In contrast, the sales volume increase scenario improves total contribution margin just 10%, which is
equal to the sales volume increase (see Exhibit Q). Of course, it may more realistic to sell 10% more
sales volume compared with pushing through a 5% sales price increase. Many customers may balk at the
higher sales price and take their business elsewhere.

Setting sales prices certainly is one of the most perplexing decisions facing business managers. The price
sensitivity of customersis never clear-cut. In any case, business managers should understand that a
relatively small change in sales price can have a major impact on profit margin. For instance, a 10% shift
in sales price can cause atwofold, threefold, or even higher impact on profit margin.
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24—
A Few Parting Comments
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Some years ago alocal women's investment club invited me to their monthly meeting to talk about the
meaning and uses of financial statements. It was alot of fun, and it also forced me to re-think afew basic
points. These women are a sophisticated group of investors who pool their monthly contributions and
invest mainly in common stocks traded on the New Y ork Stock Exchange. Several of their questions
were incisive, athough one point caught me quite by surprise.

As| recall at that time they were thinking of buying 100 common stock sharesin General Electric. Two
members presented their research on the company with the recommendation to buy the stock at the going
market price. The discussion caused me to suspect that severa of the members thought their money
would go GE. | pointed out that no, the money would go to the seller of the stock shares, not to GE.

They were not clear on the fundamental difference between the primary capital market (the original issue
of securities by corporations for money that flows directly into their coffers), which is entirely separate
from the secondary capital market (in which people sell securities they already own to other investors,
with no money going to the corporations that originally issued the securities). | compared this with the
purchase of anew car in which money goesto GM, Ford, or Chrysler (through the dealer) versus the
purchase of a used car in which the money goes to the previous owner.

We cleared up that point, although | think they were disappointed that GE would not get their money.
Once | pointed out the distinction between the two capital markets they realized that while they were of
the opinion that the going market value was a good price to buy at, the person on the other side of the
trade must think it was a good price to sell at.

On other matters they asked very thoughtful questions. 1'd like to share these with you in this chapter, as
well as afew other points that are important for anyone investing in stock and debt securities issued by
corporations. These questions are also important when buying a business as a whole—for corporate
raiders attempting hostile takeovers; corporate managers engineering aleveraged buyout of the business;
one corporation taking over another; or, an individual purchasing a closely held business. Buyouts and
takeovers bring up the business valuation question, which is discussed briefly.
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Some Basic Questions and Answers

Investors in corporate stock and debt securities should know the answers to the following fundamental
guestions concerning financial statements. These questions are answered from the view-point of the
typical individual investor, not an institutional investor or professional investment manager. My pension
fund manages over $200 billion of investments. | assume its portfolio managers aready know the
answers to these questions. They'd better!

» Arefinancial statementsreliable and trustworthy?

Y es, the vast majority of audited financial statements are presented fairly according to established
standards, which are called generally accepted accounting principles. If not, the CPA auditor calls
deviations or shortcomings to your attention. So, be sure to read the auditor's report. Y ou should realize,
however, that financial accounting standards are not static. Over time these profit measurement methods
and disclosure practices change and evolve.

Accounting's rule-making authorities constantly monitor financial reporting practices and problem areas.
They make changes when needed, especially to keep abreast of changes in business and financial
practices, as well as developmentsin the broader political, legal, and economic world that business
operatesin. (See Chapter 19 for review.)

* Nevertheless, are some financial statements misleading and fraudulent?

Y es, unfortunately. The Wall Street Journal and the New York Times, for example, carry many stories of
high-level management fraud—illegal payments, misuse of assets, and known |osses were conceal ed;
expenses were underrecorded; sales revenues were overrecorded or sales returns were not recorded; and,
financia distress symptoms were buried out of sight.

It isvery difficult for CPA auditors to detect high-level management fraud that has been cleverly
concealed or that involves a conspiracy among managers and other parties to the fraud. (See Chapter 17
for review of audits by CPAs.) Auditors are highly skilled professionals, and the rate of audit failures has
been low. Sometimes, however, the auditors were lax in their duties and deserved to be sued—and were!
CPA firms have paid hundreds of millions of dollars to defrauded investors and creditors.

There's dways a small risk that the financial statements are, infact, false or misleading. Y ou would have
legal recourse against the company's managers and its auditors once the fraud is found out, but thisis not
a happy situation. Almost certainly you'd still end up losing money, even after recovering some of your
losses though legal action.
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e Isit worth your timeas an individual investor to read carefully through the financial statements
and also to computeratios and make other inter pretations?

| doubt it. The women's investment club was very surprised by this answer, and | don't blame them. The
conventiona wisdom isthat by diligent reading of financial statements you will discover under- or
overvalued securities. But, the evidence doesn't support this premise. Market prices reflect al publicly
available information about a business, including the information in its latest quarterly and annual
financial reports.

If you enjoy reading through financial statements, as| do, fine. It's avaluable learning experience. But
don't expect to find out something that the market doesn't already know. It's very unlikely that you will
find a nugget of information that has been overlooked by everyone else. Forget it; it's not worth your
time as an investor. The same time would be better spent keeping up with current devel opments reported
in the financial press.

* Why should you read financial statements, then?

To know what you are getting into. Does the company have alot of debt and a heavy interest load to
carry? For that matter, is the company in bankruptcy or in adebt workout situation? Has the company
had a consistent earnings record over the past 5 to 10 years, or hasits profit ridden aroller coaster over
this time? Has the company issued more than one class of stock? Which stock are you buying, relative to
any other classes?

Y ou would obviously inspect a house before getting serious about buying it, to seeif it has two stories,
three or more bedrooms, a basement, a good general appearance, and so on. Likewise, you should know
the "financial architecture” of abusiness before putting your capital in its securities. Financial statements
serve this getting-acquainted purpose very well.

One basic stock investment strategy isto search through financial reports, or financial statement data
stored in computer databases, to find corporations that meet certain criteria—for example, whose market
values are less than their book values, whose cash and cash equivalent per share are more than a certain
percent of their current market value, and so on. Whether these stocks end up beating the market is
another matter. In any case, financial statements can be culled through to find whatever types of
corporations you are looking for.

* Isthereany onebasic " litmustest” for a quick test on a company'sfinancial performance?

Yes. | would suggest that you compute the percent increase (or decrease) in sales revenue this year
compared with last year, and use this percent as the baseline for testing changes in bottom-line profit (net
income) as well as the major operating assets of the business. Assume sales revenue increased 10% over
last year. Did profit increase 10%? Did accounts receivable, inventory, and long-term operating assets
increase 10%?

Thisis no more than a quick-and-dirty method, but it will point out major disparities. For instance,
suppose inventory jumped 50% even though sales revenue increased only 10%. This may signal amagjor
management mistake; the overstock of inventory might lead to write-downs later. Management does not
usually comment on such disparitiesin financial reports. Y ou'll have to find them yourself.
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« Do conservative accounting methods cause conser vative mar ket values?

For publicly owned corporations that have active trading in their securities, the general answer would seem
to be no. Many businesses select conservative accounting methods to measure profit, which resultsin
conservative book values for their assets and liabilities. On occasion even conservative methods can cause
opposite effects (i.e., higher earnings) in a particular year because of such things as LIFO liquidation gains
in that year. (See Chapter 20 for review.)

The evidence suggests that securities markets take into account differencesin profit measurement methods
between companies in determining stock market values. In other words, the market is not fooled by
differences in accounting methods, even though earnings, assets, and liabilities are reported by different
methods of accounting from company to company.

To be honest, thisis not an easy general conclusion to prove. There are exceptions, but not on any
consistent basis. Overall, differences in accounting methods seem to be adjusted for in the marketplace. For
instance, a business could not simply switch its accounting methods to improve the market value of its stock
shares. The market will not react this way; investors do not blindly follow accounting numbers.

| advise caution and careful attention to accounting methods when you are considering buying or making a
major investment in a privately held business for which there is no market to establish values for the stock
shares issued by the business.

* Dofinancial statementsreport thetruth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

There are redlly two separate questions here. One guestion concerns how truthful is profit accounting,
which depends on a company's choice of accounting methods from the menu of generally accepted
aternatives and how faithfully the methods are applied year in and year out. The other question concerns
how honest and forthright is the disclosure in a company's financial report.

Profit should be faithful to the accounting methods adopted by the business. In other words, once
accounting choices have been made, the business should apply the methods and let the chips fall where they
may. However, there is convincing evidence that managers occasionally, if not regularly, intervene in the
application of their profit accounting methods to produce more favorable results than would otherwise
happen—something akin to the "thumb on the scale" approach.

This is done to smooth reported earnings, to balance out unwanted perturbations and oscillations in annual
earnings. Investors seem to prefer a nice steady trend of earnings instead of fluctuations, and managers
oblige. So, be warned that annual earnings probably are smoothed to some extent. (See Chapter 18 for
review.)

Disclosure in financial reportsis quite another matter. The majority of companies are reluctant to lay bare
all the facts. Bad newsis usually suppressed or at least deemphasized as long as possible. Clearly, thereisa
lack of candor and frank discussion in financial reports. Few companies are willing to wash their dirty linen
in public by making full disclosure of their mistakes and difficultiesin their financia reports.

There is amanagement discussion and analysis (MD&A) section in financial reports. But usually thisisa
fairly sanitized version of what happened during the year. The history of financial reporting disclosure
practices, unfortunately, makes clear that until standard-setting authorities force specific disclosure
standards on al companies, few make such disclosures voluntarily.

Some years ago the disclosure of employee pension and retirement costs went through this pattern of
inadequate reporting un-
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til, finally, the standard-setting bodies stepped in and required fuller disclosure. Until a standard was
issued, few companies reported a cash flow statement, even though this statement had been asked for by
security analysts since the 1950s! Recalls of unsafe products, pending lawsuits, and top management
compensation are other examples of "reluctant reporting.”

The masthead of the New York Times boasts "All the News That's Fit to Print." Don't expect thisin
companies financia reports, however.

» Does afinancial report explain the basic profit-making strategy of the business?

Not really. In an ideal world, | would argue, afinancial report should not merely report how much profit
(net income) was earned by the business and the amounts of revenue and expenses that generated this
profit. The financial report should also provide a profit road map, or an earnings blueprint of the
business. Financial report readers should be told the basic profit-making strategy of the business,
including its most critical profit-making success factors.

In their annual financial reports publicly owned corporations are required to disclose their sales revenue
and operating expenses by major segments (lines of business); this provides information about which
product lines are more profitable than others. However, segments are very large, conglomerate totals that
span many different products. Segment disclosure was certainly a step in the right direction. For
example, the breakdown between domestic versus international sales revenue and operating profit is very
important for many businesses.

Businesses do not report the profit margins of their key product lines. Both security analysts and
professional investment managers focus much attention on profit margins, but you don't find this
information in financial reports. And, you don't find any separation between fixed as opposed to variable
expenses in external income statements, which is essential for meaningful profit analysis.

In management accounting, you quickly learn that the first step is to go back to square one and recast the
income statement into a management planning and decision making structure that focuses on profit
margins and cost behavior. (See Exhibit O in Chapter 23 for an example.)

In short, the income statement you find in an external financial report is not what you would seeif you
were the president of the business. Profit information is considered very confidential, to be kept away not
only from competitors but from the investorsin the business as well.

» Dofinancial statementsreport the value of the business as a whole?

No. The balance sheet of a business does not report what the market value of a company would be on the
auction block. Financial statements are prepared on the going concern, historical cost accounting
basis—not on a current market value basis. Until there is a serious buyer or an actual takeover attempt
it's anyone's guess how much a business would fetch. A buyer may be willing to pay much more than or
only afraction of the reported (book value) of the owners equity reported in its most recent balance
sheet.

The market value of a publicly owned corporation's stock sharesis not tied to the book value of its stock
shares. (See Chapter 22 for review.) Market value, whether you are talking about a business as awhole
or per share of a publicly owned corporation, is a negotiated price between a buyer and seller and
depends on factors other than book value.

Generally speaking, there is no reason to estimate current re-
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placement cost values for acompany's assets and current settlement values of its liabilities.” Furthermore,
even it this were done these values do not determine the market value of stock shares or the business as a
whole.

The market value of a business as awhole or its stock shares depends mainly on its profit-making ability
projected into the future. A buyer may be willing to pay 20 times or more the annual net income of a
closely owned, privately held business or 20 times or more the latest earnings per share of publicly
owned corporations. Investors keep a close watch on the price/earnings (P/E) ratios of stock shares
issued by publicly owned corporations. (See Chapter 22 for review.)

Also, it should be mentioned that earnings-based values are quite different from liquidation-based values
for a business. Suppose a company isin bankruptcy proceedings or in atroubled debt workout situation.
In this unhappy position the claims of its debt securities and other liabilities dominate the value of its
stock shares and owners' equity. Indeed, the stock shares may have no value in such cases.

« Should financial statements betaken at face value when buying a business?

No. The potential buyer of abusiness as awhole (or the controlling interest in a business) should have in
hand the latest financial statements of the company. The financial statements are the essential point of
reference but are just a good point of departure for many questions. For example, are book values good
indicators of the current market and replacement values of the company's assets?

Current values usually are close to book values for some assets—marketable securities, accounts
receivable, and FIFO-based inventory. On the other hand, book values of LIFO-based inventory,
long-term operating assets depreciated by accel erated methods, and land purchased many years ago may
be far below current market and replacement values.

Cash is usualy a hard number, although a buyer should be aware that there may be some window

dressing.”” Every asset other than cash presents potential valuation problems. For example, a business
may not have written off all of its uncollectible accounts receivable. Some of itsinventory may be
unsalable, but not yet written down. Some of its fixed assets may be obsolete and in fact may have been
placed in the mothball fleet, yet these assets may still be on the books.

Some potential or contingent liabilities may not be recorded, such as lawsuitsin progress. In short, a
buyer probably will have to do some housecleaning on the assets and liabilities of the business, and then
start negotiations on the basis of these adjusted amounts.

A potential buyer should also ask to see the internal management profit reports of the business, but
management may be reluctant to provide this confidential information. For that

i Exceptionsto this general rule are when avalue has to be put on the stock shares of a privately owned
business for estate tax purposes or in a divorce settlement.

" Window dressi ng refersto holding the books open afew days after the close of the year to record cash receipts
asif the money had been received by the end of the year, to build up the cash balance reported in its ending
balance sheet. Unfortunately, this very questionable practice is tolerated by CPA auditors.
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matter, the business may not have a very good management reporting system. The buyer can ask for
information about product costs and sales prices to get arough idea of profit margins. In short, the buyer
needs both the external income statements of the business and its internal management information as
well.

A business might have certain valuable assets that the buyer wants for the purpose of selling them off, or
the buyer may be planning radical changesin the financial structure of the business. There have been
cases of abuyer paying less than a company's net cash amount—cash and cash equivalents minus
liabilities. In other words, the buyer bought in for less than the immediate liquidation value of the
business. Thisisvery rare, of course.
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A Short Summary

Y ou can rely on audited financial statements. The risk of fraudulent financial statementsis minimal,
although recently there have been several high-profile cases in which large national and international
CPA firms had to pay huge settlements to investors who relied on what turned out to be fraudulent
financia statements. Overall, however, thisrisk isvery small.

Y ou might think twice before investing much time in analyzing the financial statements of corporations
whose securities are publicly traded—because hundreds of other investors have done the same analysis
and the chance of you finding out something that no one else has yet discovered is nil. On the other hand,
for aquick benchmark test you might compare the percent change in the company's sale revenue over last
year with the percent changesin its net income and operating assets. Major disparities are worth alook.

Reading financial statementsis the best way of getting acquainted with the financial structure of a
business that you're thinking of investing in. Don't worry too much about businesses that use
conservative accounting methods. There seems to be no adverse effect on the market value of their stock
shares. For privately owned companies, on the other hand, you should keep an eye on the major
accounting policies of the business and how these accounting methods affect reported earnings and asset
values.

Disclosurein financial statements leaves alot to be desired. Don't look for aroad map of the profit
strategy of abusinessin itsfinancial reports. Last, the total value of a businessis not to be found in its
balance sheet. Until an actual buyer of a business makes a serious offer there is no particular reason to
determine the value of the business as a going concern. Value depends mainly on the past earnings record
of the business as forecast into the future.

The main message of thisfinal chapter isto be prudent and careful in making decisions based on
financia statements. Many investors and managers don't seem to be fully aware of the limitations of
financia statements. Used intelligently, financial reports are the indispensable starting point for
investment and lending decisions. | hope my book helps you make better decisions. Good luck, and be
careful out there.
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Prefaceto the Fifth Edition

When | started this book we had no grandchildren; today we have eight. Then (1979-1980) the Dow
Jones Industrial Average hovered around 850. Today the Dow is over 8500, a multiple of 10 timesin 20
years. During this period, millions of persons entered the stock market. Today alarge part of retirement
savingsisinvested in stocks. Stock values depend on information reported in financial statements, so
knowing how to read afinancial report is more important than ever.

This edition catches up with recent developmentsin financial statement accounting and financial
reporting. All exhibits have been refreshed to make them easier to follow and more relevant. The exhibits

in this edition are typeset from printouts from Microsoft Excel® work sheets | have prepared. To request
acopy please contact me at my e-mail address: tracyj@col orado.edu.

In thisedition | have added a brief introduction to management accounting (Chapter 23) that focuses on
profit reporting to business managers. An internal profit report includes sensitive and confidential
information that is not divulged in a company's external financia report to its outside investors and
lenders. Business entrepreneursin particular should find this chapter a very useful addition to the book.

Otherwise, the content and basic approach of the book remain the same. Asthey say: "If it ain't broke,
don't fix it." The format and focus of the book have proved
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very successful. Cash flow is underscored throughout the book; thisis the hallmark of the book, and what
distinguishesit from other books on analyzing financial statements.

Not many books like this make it to the fifth edition. It takes the joint effort of both the author and the
publisher. | thank the many persons at John Wiley & Sons who have worked with me on the book over
two decades. The comments and suggestions on my first draft for the book by Joe Ross, then national
training director of Merrill Lynch, were extraordinarily helpful.

Again | express my deepest gratitude to the original editor of the book, Gordon Laing—for his guidance,
encouragement, and friendship. Gordon gave shape to the book. His superb editing was a blessing that
few authors enjoy. Gordon takes much pride in the success of the book—as well he should! Gordon, you
old reprobate, | couldn't have done it without you.

JOHN A. TRACY
BOULDER, COLORADO
JANUARY 1999
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Importance of Cash Flows:
Cash Flows Summary for a Business

Business managers, lenders, and investors, quite rightly, focus on cash flows. Cash inflows and outflows
are the heartbeat of every business. So, well start with cash flows. For our example we'll use amidsize
company that has been operating many years. This established business makes a profit regularly and,
equally important, it keeps in good financial condition. It has a good credit rating; banks are willing to
lend money to the company on very competitive terms. If the business needed more money for
expansion, new investors would be willing to supply fresh capital to the business. None of this comes
easy! It takes good management to make profit, to raise capital, and to stay out of financial trouble.

Exhibit A on the next page presents a summary of the company's cash inflows and outflows for its most
recent year. Two different groups of cash flows are shown. First are the cash flows of making
profit—cash inflows from sales and cash outflows for expenses. Second are the other cash inflows and
outflows of the business—raising capital, investing capital, and distributing profit to its owners.

| assume you're fairly familiar with the cash inflows and outflows listed in Exhibit A—so, I'll be brief in
describing each cash flow at this early point in the book:

* In thefirst group of cash flows, the business received money from selling products to its customers. It
should be no surprise that thisis the largest source of cash inflow, amounting to $10,225,000 during the
year. Cash inflow from sales revenue is needed for paying expenses. The company paid $7,130,000 for
manufacturing products sold to its customers; and, it had sizable cash outflows for operating expenses,
interest on its debt (borrowed money), and income tax. The net result of these profit-making cash flows
was a positive $540,807 for the year—which is an extremely important number that managers, lenders,
and investors watch closely.

* In the second group of cash flows, notice first of all that the company raised additional capital during
the year. Notes payable increased $175,000 from borrowing during the year; and, $50,000 was invested
by stockholders (the owners of a corporation). On the other side of the ledger the business spent
$750,000 for building improvements, machines, equipment, vehicles, and computers. And, the business
distributed $200,000 to its stockholders from profit it earned during the year. The net result of the second
group of cash flows was a negative $725,000 for the year, which is more than the cash flow from its
profit-making operations for the year.
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EXHIBIT A—SUMMARY OF CASH FLOWSDURING YEAR
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What Does Cash Flows Summary NOT Tell you?

In Exhibit A we see that cash, the all-important lubricant of business activity, decreased $184,193 during
the year. In other words, all cash outflows exceeded all cash inflows by this amount for the year. Without
adoubt this cash decrease and the reasons for the decrease are very important information. The cash
flows summary tells avery important part of the story of abusiness. But, cash flows do not tell the whole
story. Business managers, investorsin business, business lenders, and many others need to know two
other essential things about a business that are not reported in its cash flows summary.

The two most important types of information that a summary of cash flows does not tell you are:
1. The profit earned (or loss suffered) by the business for the period.
2. The financial condition of the business at the end of the period.

Now, just aminute. Didn't we just see in Exhibit A that the net cash increase from sales revenue less
expenses was $540,807 for the year? Y ou may well ask: "Doesn't this cash increase equal the amount of
profit earned for the year?' No, it doesn't. The net cash flow from profit-making operations during the
year does not equal profit for the year. In fact, it's not unusual for these two numbers to be very different.

Profit is an accounting-determined number that requires much more than simply keeping track of cash
flows. The differences between using a checkbook to measure profit and using accounting methods to
measure profit are explained in the following section. Hardly ever are cash flows during a period the
correct amounts for measuring a company's sales revenue and expenses for that period. Summing up,
profit cannot be determined from cash flows.

Also, asummary of cash flows reveals virtually nothing about the financial condition of a business.
Financial condition refers to the assets of the business matched against its liabilities at the end of the
period. For example: How much cash does the company have in its checking account(s) at the end of the
year? We can see that over the course of the year the business decreased its cash balance $184,193. But
we can't tell from Exhibit A the company's ending cash balance. A cash flows summary does not report
the amounts of assets and liabilities of the business at the end of the period.
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Profit Cannot Be M easur ed by Cash Flows

The company in this example sells its products on credit. In other words, the business offersits
customers a short period of timeto pay for their purchases. Most of the company's sales are to other
businesses, which demand credit. (In contrast, most retailers selling to individuals accept credit cards
instead of extending credit to their customers.) In this example the company collected $10,225,000 from
its customers during the year. However, some of this money was received from sales made in the
previous year. And, some sales made on credit in the year just ended were not collected by the end of the
year.

At year-end the company had receivables from sales made to its customers during the latter part of the
year. These receivables will be collected early next year. Because some cash was collected from last
year's sales and some cash was not collected from sales made in the year just ended, the total cash
collected during the year does not equal the amount of sales revenue for the year.

Cash disbursements (payments) during the year are not the correct amounts for measuring expenses. Like
sales revenue, the cash flow during the year is not the whole story. The company paid out $7,130,000 for
manufacturing costs during the year (see Exhibit A). At year-end, however, many products were still on
hand in inventory. These products had not yet been sold by year-end. Only the cost of products sold and
delivered to customers during the year should be deducted as expense from sales revenue to measure
profit. Don't you agree?

Furthermore, some of its manufacturing costs had not yet been paid by the end of the year. The company
buys on credit the raw materials used in manufacturing its products and takes several weeksto pay its
bills. The company has liabilities at year-end for recent raw material purchases and for other
manufacturing costs as well.

There's more. Its cash payments during the year for operating expenses, as well as for interest and
income tax expenses, are not the correct amounts to measure profit for the year. The company has
liabilities at the end of the year for unpaid expenses. The cash outflow amounts shown in Exhibit A do
not include these additional amounts of unpaid expenses at the end of the year.

In short, cash flows from sales revenue and for expenses are not the correct amounts for measuring profit
for aperiod of time. Cash flows take place too late or too early for correctly measuring profit for a
period. Correct timing is needed to record sales revenue and expenses in the right period.

The correct timing of recording sales revenue and expenses is called accrual-basis accounting.
Accrual-basis accounting recognizes receivables from making sales on credit and recognizes liabilities
for unpaid expenses in order to determine the correct profit measure for the period. Accrua-basis
accounting also is necessary to determine the financial condition of a business—to record the assets and
liabilities of the business.
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Cash Flows Do Not Reveal Financial Condition

The cash flows summary for the year (Exhibit A) does not reveal the financial condition of the company.
Managers certainly need to know which assets the business owns and the amounts of each asset,
including cash, receivables, inventory, and all other assets. Also, they need to know which liabilities the
company owes and the amounts of each.

Business managers have the responsibility for keeping the company in a position to pay itsliabilities
when they come due to keep the business solvent (able to pay its liabilities on time). Furthermore,
managers have to know whether assets are too large (or too small) relative to the sales volume of the
business. Itslenders and investors want to know the same things about a business.

In brief, both the managers inside the business and lenders and investors outside the business need a
summary of acompany's financial condition (its assets and liabilities). Of course, they need a profit
performance report as well, which summarizes the company's sales revenue and expenses and its profit
for the year.

A cash flow summary isvery useful. In fact, adightly different version of Exhibit A is one of the three
primary financial statements reported by every business. But in no sense does the cash flows report take
the place of the profit performance report and the financial condition report. The next chapter introduces
these two financial statements, or "sheets," as some people call them.

A Final Note before Moving on: Over the past century an entire profession has devel oped based on the
preparation and reporting of business financial statements—the accounting profession. In measuring their
profit and in reporting their financial affairs, all businesses have to follow established rules and
standards, which are called generally accepted accounting principles or GAAP for short. I'll say alot
more about GAAP and the accounting profession in later chapters.
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I ntr oducing the Balance Sheet and | ncome Statement
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Reporting Financial Condition and Profit Perfor mance

Business managers, lenders, and investors need to know the financial condition of a business. They need
areport that summarizes its assets and liabilities, as well as the ownership interestsin the excess of assets
over liabilities. And, they need to know the profit performance of the business. They need a report that
summari zes sales revenue and expenses for the most recent period and the resulting profit or loss.
Chapter 1 explains that a summary of cash flows, though very useful in its own right, does not provide
information about either the financial condition or the profit performance of a business.

Financial condition is communicated in an accounting report called the balance sheet, and profit
performance is presented in an accounting report called the income statement. Alternative titles for the
bal ance sheet include "statement of financial condition” or "statement of financial position." Anincome
statement may be titled "statement of operations” or "earnings statement.” We'll stick with the names
balance sheet and income statement to be consistent throughout the book.

The term "financial statements,” in the plural, generally refers to a complete set including a balance
sheet, an income statement, and a cash flows statement. Informally, financial statements are called just
"financials." Financia statements are supplemented with footnotes and supporting schedules. The
broader term "financial report” usualy refersto al this, plus any additional narrative and graphics that
accompany the financial statements and their supplementary footnotes and schedules.

Exhibit B on page 9 presents the balance sheet for the company example introduced in Chapter 1, and
Exhibit C on the following page presents the income statement for its most recent year. Its formal cash
flow statement for the year is discussed in Chapters 13 and 14; the summary of cash flows for the
company presented in Chapter 1 has to be modified slightly—as we'll see later.

The format and content of the two primary financial statements as shown in Exhibits B and C apply to
manufacturers, wholesalers, and retail ers—businesses that make or buy products that are sold to their
customers. Although the financial statements of service businesses that don't sell products are somewhat
different, Exhibits B and C illustrate the general framework of balance sheets and income statements for
all businesses.

Sde Note: The term "profit" isavoided in income statements. "Profit" comes across to many people as
greedy or mercenary. Also, the term suggests an excess or a surplus over and above what's necessary. |
should point out that you may hear business managers and others use the term "profit & loss," or "P&L
statement” for the income statement. But thistitle hardly ever isused in external financial reports
released outside a business.
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EXHIBIT B—BALANCE SHEET AT START AND END OF YEAR
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I ncome Statement

The first question on everyone's mind usually is whether a business made a profit, and, if so, how much.
So, well start with the income statement and then move on to the balance sheet. The income statement
summari zes sales revenue and expenses for a period of time—one year in Exhibit C. All the dollar
amounts reported in this financial statement are cumulative totals for the whole period.

The top line is the total amount of proceeds or income from sales to customers, and is generally called
sales revenue. The bottom line is called net income (also net earnings, but hardly ever profit or net
profit). Net income isthe final profit after all expenses are deducted from sales revenue. The businessin
this example earned $718,200 net income on its sales revenue of $10,400,000 for the year; only 6.9% of
its sales revenue remained after paying all expenses.

The income statement is designed to be read in a step-down manner, like walking down stairs. Each step
down is a deduction of one or more expenses. The first step deducts the cost of goods (products) sold
from the sales revenue of goods sold, which gives gross margin (sometimes called gross profit—one of
the few instances of using the term profit in income statements). This measure of profit is called "gross*
because many other expenses are not yet deducted.

Next, operating expenses and depreciation expense (a unique kind of expense) are deducted, giving
operating earnings before interest and income tax expenses are deducted. Operating earningsis also
called "earnings before interest and tax" and abbreviated EBIT. Next, interest expense on debt is
deducted, which gives earnings before income tax. The last step is to deduct income tax expense, which
gives net income, the bottom line in the income statement.

Publicly owned business corporations report earnings per share, abbreviated EPS—which is net income
divided by the number of stock shares. In the example, the company's EPS is $3.59 for the year. Privately
owned businesses don't have to report EPS, but this figure may be useful to their stockholders.

EXHIBIT C—INCOME STATEMENT FOR YEAR
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In our income statement example you see five different expenses. Y ou may find more expense linesin an
income statement, but seldom more than 10 or so as a general rule (unless the business had a very
unusual year). Companies selling products are required to report their cost of goods sold expense. Some
companies do not report depreciation expense on a separate line in their income statements.

Exhibit C includes just one operating expenses line. On the other hand, a business may report two or
more operating expenses. Marketing expenses often are separated from general and administration
expenses. The level of detail for expenses in income statementsis flexible; financial reporting standards
arerather loose on this point.

The sales revenue and expenses reported in income statements follow generally accepted practices,
which are briefly summarized here:

» Sales Revenue— the total amount received or to be received from the sales of products (and/or
services) to customers during the period. Sales revenue is net, which means that discounts off list prices,
prompt payment discounts, sales returns, and any other deductions from original sales prices are taken
prior to arriving at the sales revenue amount for the period. Sales taxes are not included in sales revenue,
nor are excise taxes that might apply. In short, sales revenue is the amount the business should receive to
cover its expenses and to provide profit (bottom-line net income).

* Cost of Goods Sold Expense—the total cost of goods (products) sold to customers during the period.
Thisis clear enough. What might not be so clear, however, concerns goods that were shoplifted or are
otherwise missing, as well as write-downs due to damage and obsolescence. The cost of such inventory
shrinkage may be included in cost of goods sold expense for the year (or, this cost may be put in
operating expenses instead).

* Operating Expenses—broadly speaking, every expense other than cost of goods sold, interest, and
income tax. This broad category is a catchall for every expense not reported separately. In our example,
depreciation is broken out as a separate expense instead of being included with other operating expenses.
Some companies report advertising and marketing costs separately from administrative and general costs.
There are hundreds of specific operating expenses, some rather large and some very small. They range
from salaries and wages of employees (large) to legal fees (hopefully small).

* Depreciation Expense—the portion of original costs of long-term assets such as buildings, machinery,
equipment, tools, furniture, computers, and vehicles that is recorded to expense in one period.
Depreciation isthe "charge" for using these assets during the period. None of this expense amount is a
cash outlay in the period recorded, which makes it a unique expense compared with other operating
expenses.

* | nterest Expense—the amount of interest on debt (interest-bearing liabilities) for the period. Other
types of financing charges may also be included, such as loan origination fees.

* Income Tax Expense—the total amount due the government (both federal and state) on the amount of
taxable income of the business during the period. Taxable income is multiplied by the appropriate tax
rates. The income tax expense does not include other types of taxes, such as unemployment and Social
Security taxes on the company's payroll. These other, non-income taxes are included in operating
expenses.
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Balance Sheet

The balance sheet shown in Exhibit B on page 9 follows the standardized format regarding the
classification and ordering of assets, liabilities, and ownership interests in the business. Financial
institutions, public utilities, railroads, and some other specialized businesses use different balance sheet
layouts. However, manufacturers and retailers, as well as the large majority of other types of businesses
follow the basic format presented in Exhibit B.

On the | eft side the balance sheet lists assets. On the right side the balance sheet lists the liabilities of the
business, which have afirst claim on the assets. The sources of ownership (equity) capital in the business
are presented below the liabilities, to emphasize that the liabilities have the higher or prior claim on the
assets. The owners, or equity holdersin a business (the stock-holders of a business corporation) have a
secondary claim on the assets—after itsliabilities are satisfied.

Each separate asset, liability, and owners equity reported in a balance sheet is called an account. Every
account has a name (title) and a dollar amount, which is called its balance. For instance, from Exhibit B:

Name of Account Amount (Balance) of Account
Inventory $1,690,000

The other dollar amounts in the balance sheet are either subtotals or totals of account balances. For
example, the amounts for "Total Current Assets’ do not represent an account but rather the subtotal of
the four accounts making up this group of accounts. A lineis drawn above a subtotal or total, indicating
account balances are being added. A double underline (such asfor "Total Assets') indicates the last
amount in a column. Notice also the double underline below "Net Income" in the income statement
(Exhibit C), indicating it's the last number in the column. (In contrast, putting a double underline below
the "Earnings per Share" figure in the income statement is a matter of taste or personal preference.)

The balance sheet is prepared at the close of business on the last day of the income statement period. For
example, if the income statement is for the year ending June 30, 2001, the balance sheet is prepared at
midnight June 30, 2001. The amounts reported in the balance sheet are the balances of the accounts at
that precise moment in time. The financial condition of the businessis frozen for one split second.

Y ou should keep in mind that the balance sheet does not report the total flows into and out of the assets,
liabilities, and owners equity accounts during a period. Only the ending balances at the moment the
balance sheet is prepared are reported for the accounts. For example, the company reports an ending cash
balance of $565,807 (see Exhibit B). Can you tell the total cash inflows and outflows for the year? No,
not from the balance sheet.

By the way, even business reporters occasionally seem alittle confused on this point. Consider the
following quote from arecent article about a company: "It has a strong balance sheet, with
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$5.6 billioninrevenue. . ." (the Wall Street Journal, May 18, 1998, page B1). Revenueis reported in
the income statement, not the bal ance sheet!

The accounts reported in the balance sheet are not thrown together haphazardly in no particular order.
Balance sheet accounts are subdivided into the following classes, or basic groups, in the following order
of presentation:

Left Side Right Side

Current assets Current liabilities
Property, plant & equipment Long-term liabilities
Other assets Owners' equity

Current assets are cash and other assets that will be converted into cash during one operating cycle. The
operating cycle refers to the sequence of buying or manufacturing products, holding the products until
sale, selling the products, waiting to collect the receivables from the sales, and finally receiving cash
from customers. This sequence is the most basic rhythm of a company's operations; it's repeated over and
over. The operating cycle may be short, only 60 days or less, or it may be relatively long, perhaps 180
days or more.

Assets not directly required in the operating cycle, such as marketable securities held as temporary
Investments or short-term loans made to employees, are included in the current asset classif they will be
converted into cash during the coming year. A business pays in advance for some costs of operations that
will not be charged to expense until next period. These prepaid expenses are included in current assets,
asyou seein Exhibit B.

The second group of assetsis labeled "Property, Plant & Equipment” in the balance sheet. These are also
called fixed assets, although thisterm is generally not used in formal balance sheets. The word "fixed" is
alittle strong; these assets are not really fixed or permanent, except for the land owned by a business.
More accurately, these assets are the long-term operating resources used over severa years—such as
buildings, machinery, equipment, trucks, forklifts, furniture, computers, telephones, and so on.

The cost of fixed assets—with the exception of land—is gradually charged off over their useful lives.
Each period of use thereby bears its share of the total cost of each fixed asset. This apportionment of the
cost of fixed assets over their useful livesis called depreciation. The amount of depreciation for one year
IS reported as an expense in the income statement (see Exhibit C, page 10). The cumulative amount that
has been recorded as depreciation expense since the date of acquisition is reported in the accumul ated
depreciation account in the balance sheet (see Exhibit B, page 9). The balance in the accumulated
depreciation account is deducted from the original cost of the fixed assets.

Other assetsis a catchal title for those assets that don't fit in current assets or in the property, plant &
equipment classes. The company in this example does not have any such "other" assets.

The officia definition of current liabilities runs 200 words, plus along foot-note to boot. So, | have to be
brief here. The accounts reported in the current liabilities class are short-term liabilities that for the most
part depend on the conversion of current assets into cash for their payment. Also, other debts (borrowed
money) that will come due within one year from the balance sheet date are put in this group. In our
example, there are four accountsin current liabilities (please see Exhibit B, page 9 again).

Long-term liabilities are those whose maturity dates are more than one year after the balance sheet date.
There's only one such account in our example. Either in the balance sheet or in a footnote, the maturity
dates, interest rates, and other relevant provisions of all long-term liabilities are disclosed. To simplify,



no footnotes are included with the balance sheet (Chapter 16 discusses footnotes).

Liabilities are claims on the assets of a business; cash or other
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assets that will be later converted into cash will be used to pay the liabilities. (Also, assets generated by
future profit earned by the business will be available to pay its liabilities.) Clearly, al liabilities of a
business must be reported in its balance sheet to give a complete picture of the financia condition of a
business.

Liabilities are also sources of assets. For example, cash increases when a business borrows money, of
course. Inventory increases when a business buys products on credit and incurs aliability that will be
paid later. Also, a business usually has liabilities for unpaid expenses. The company has not yet used
cash to pay these liabilities

| mention thisto point out another reason for reporting liabilitiesin the balance sheet, and that isto
account for the sources of the company's assets—to answer the question: Where did the company's total
assets come from? A complete picture of the financial condition of a business should show where the
company's assets came from.

Some of the total assets of a business come not from liabilities but from its owners. The owners invest
money in the business and they allow the business to retain some its profit, which is not distributed to
them. The stockholders' equity accounts in the balance sheet reveal where the rest of the company's total
assets came from. Notice in Exhibit B there are two stockholders' (owners) equity sources—capital stock
and retained earnings.

When owners (stockholders of a business corporation) invest capital in the business, the capital stock

account isincreased.” Net income earned by a business less the amount distributed to ownersincreases
the retained earnings account. The nature of retained earnings can be confusing and, therefore, | explain
this account in more depth at the appropriate places in the book. Just a quick word of advice here:
Retained earnings is not—I repeat, is not—an asset.

"M any business corporations issue par value stock shares. The shares have to be issued for a certain
minimum amount, called the par value. The corporation may issue the shares for more than par value. The
excess over par valueis put in a second account called "Paid-in Capital in Excess of Par Vaue." Thisis not
shown in the balance shett example, as the separation between the two accounts has little practical
significance.
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3
Profit Isn't Everything
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The Threefold Task of Managers:
Profit, Financial Condition, and Cash Flow

The income statement reports the profit performance of a business. The ability of managers to make sales
and to control expenses, and thereby to earn profit, is summarized in the income statement. Earning
adequate profit is the key for survival and the business manager's most important financial imperative.
But the bottom line is not the end of the manager's job, not by a long shot!

To earn profit and stay out of trouble, managers must control the financial condition of the business. This
means, among other things, keeping assets and liabilities within proper limits and proportions relative to
each other and relative to the sales revenue and expenses of the business. Managers must, in particular,
prevent cash shortages that would cause the business to default on its liabilities when they come due, or
not be able to meet its payroll on time.

Business managers really have athreefold task: earning enough profit, controlling the company's assets
and liabilities, and preventing cashouts. Earning profit by itself does not guarantee survival and good
cash flow. A business manager cannot manage profit without also managing the changes in financial
condition caused by sales and expenses that produce profit. Making profit may actually cause a
temporary drain on cash rather than provide cash.

A business manager should use his or her income statement to evaluate profit performance and to ask a
whole raft of profit-oriented questions. Did sales revenue meet the goals and objectives for the period?
Why did sales revenue increase compared with last period? Which expenses increased more or less than
they should have? And many more such questions. These profit analysis questions are absolutely
essential. But the manager can't stop at the end of these questions.

Beyond profit analysis, business managers should move on to financial condition analysis and cash flow
analysis. In large business corporations the responsibility for financial condition and cash flow usually is
separated from profit responsibility. The chief financial officer (CFO) is responsible for financial
condition and cash flow; managers of other organization units are responsible for sales and expenses. In
large corporations the chief executive and board of directors oversee the policies of the CFO. They need
to see the big picture, which includes all three financial aspects of the business—profit, financial
condition, and cash flow.

In smaller businesses, however, the president or the owner/manager is directly and totally involved in
financial condition and cash flow. There's no one to delegate these responsibilities to.
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The Troublewith Conventional Financial Statement Reporting

Unfortunately, the way financia statements are presented to business managers and other interested
readers does not pave the way for understanding how making profit drives the financial condition and
cash flow of the business. Y ou can miss the vital interplay between the income statement and the balance
sheet because each statement is presented like atub standing on its own feet; interconnections between
these two financial statements are not made explicit.

Exhibits B and C in Chapter 2 present the balance sheet and income statement for a business, asyou
would see these two primary financial statements. Each of the two statements stands alone, by itself,
which isthe standard way of presenting financial statementsin afinancia report. Thereisno clear trail

of the crossover effects between these two basic financial statements. The statements are presented on the
assumption that readers understand the couplings and linkages between the two statements and that
readers make appropriate comparisons.

In addition to the balance sheet and income statement, a third basic financial statement isrequired to be
included in external financial reports that are released outside the business—the cash flow statement.
Business managers, as well as creditors and investors, need a cash flow statement that summarizes the
major sources and uses of cash during the period. So, you may well ask: Where is the cash flow
statement for the company?

The summary of cash flows for the company that is presented in Chapter 1 is not exactly in the correct
format required for the cash flow statement. The correct format is introduced in just a minute, in the next
exhibit (Exhibit D). The key point hereisthat all three financial statements fit together like
tongue-in-groove woodwork. The three financial statements interlock with one another.
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EXHIBIT D—INTERLOCKING CONNECTIONSAMONG THE THREE PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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A Useful Layout to SeetheInterlocking Nature of Financial Statements

Please see Exhibit D on page 18. The balance sheet and income statement for this business are introduced
in Exhibits B and C in Chapter 2. The cash flow statement is presented for the first time here. The cash
flows of the company for the year are discussed in Chapter 1, and are presented in an informal summary
(Exhibit A). The actual cash flow statement of the businessis now shown in Exhibit D.

Exhibit D shows the general flow of connections between the three financia statements. Sales revenue
and expenses cause changes in balance sheet accounts—from accounts receivabl e through income tax
payable. These same accounts affect cash flow. The balance sheet is positioned in the middieand is
shown in avertical format, called the "report form"—assets on top, and liabilities and stockholders
equity below. The income statement is placed on the left side and the cash flow statement on the right.

In Exhibit D, accounts payable and accrued expenses are each divided into two parts because there are
two separate sources for each of these liabilities. The lines of connection between specific accounts are
explained in the following chapters.

The three primary financial statements are lashed together in Exhibit D. The connections among the three
are presented like a road map showing the highways between the statements, or how to get from one
statement to another.

Let me be clear that financial statements are not reported to business managers or to creditors and
investors as shown in Exhibit D. Accountants assume that financial statement readers mentally fill in the
connections shown in Exhibit D. Accountants assume too much. It takes afair amount of understanding
and experience to know which relationships to look for and which comparisons to make. In any case,
Exhibit D's layout is very helpful for explaining financial statements.

Exhibit D looks rather formidable at first glance, doesn't it? Like most reports with alot of detail, you
have to take it one piece at atime rather than in one quick sweep. It's like looking at a chessboard in the
middle of agame. Y ou have to study each piece in relation to the other pieces before you can see the
overall pattern and situation.

We'll move carefully through each connection, one at atime, in the following chapters. For example,
Chapter 4 explores the linkage between sales revenue in the income statement and accounts receivable in
the balance sheet. Chapter 13 looks at how the increase in the company's accounts receivable during the
year affected cash flow from its profit-making operations.
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CHAPTER 4 EXHIBIT—SALESREVENUE AND ACCOUNTSRECEIVABLE
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4—
Sales Revenue and Accounts Receivable
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Exploring OnelLink at a Time

Please refer to Chapter 4 Exhibit on page 20. This exhibit is extracted from the "master" Exhibit D
presented in Chapter 3 (page 18). Exhibit D presents the big picture; it ties together all three of the
company's financial statements. This chapter isthe first of several that focus on just one connection at a
time. Only one line of connection is highlighted in Chapter 4 Exhibit—the one between sales revenue in
the income statement and accounts receivable in the balance sheet.

Chapter 4 Exhibit presents the company's income statement and balance sheet, but not its cash flow
statement for the year. The connections between changes in the balance sheet accounts and the cash flow
statement are explained in later chapters. Including the cash flow statement here would be a distraction.

Also, please notice that subtotals are stripped out of the balance sheet in Chapter 4 Exhibit—to focus on
the accounts for the company's assets, liabilities, and stockholders equity. Removing the subtotals gives
a cleaner balance sheet to work with as we explore each linkage between an income statement account
and its connecting account in the balance sheet. (Well, to be more accurate, one chapter deals with the
connection between two balance sheet accounts.)
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How Sales Revenue Drives Accounts Receivable

In this business example the company made $10,400,000 total sales during the year. Thisisasizable
amount, equal to $200,000 average sales revenue per week. When making a sale the total amount of the
sale (sales price times quantity for all products sold) is recorded in the sales revenue account. This
account accumulates all sales made during the year. On the first day of the year it starts with a zero
balance; at the end of the last day of the year it has a $10,400,000 balance. In short, the balancein this
account at year-end is the sum of all salesfor the entire year (assuming all sales are recorded, of course).

In this example the business makes all its sales on credit, which means that cash is not received until
sometime after the day of sale. This company sellsto other businesses that demand credit. (Some
businesses, such as supermarkets, make all salesfor cash.) The amount owed to the company from
making a sale on credit isimmediately recorded in the accounts receivabl e asset account for the amount
of each sale. Sometime later, when cash is collected from customers, the cash account is increased and
the accounts receivable account is decreased.

Extending credit to customers creates a cash inflow lag. The accounts receivable balance is the amount of
thislag. At year-end the balance in this asset account is the amount of uncollected sales revenue. Most of
the sales made on credit during the year have been converted into cash by the end of the year. Also, the
accounts receivable balance at the start of the year from sales made last year was collected. But, many
sales made during the latter part of the year have not yet been collected by year-end. The total amount of
these uncollected salesis found in the ending balance of accounts receivable.

Some of the company's customers pay quickly to take advantage of prompt payment discounts offered by
the company. (These discounts off list prices reduce sales prices but speed up cash receipts.) On the other
hand, the average customer waits 5 weeks to pay the company and forgoes the prompt payment discount.
Some customers wait 10 weeks or more to pay the company, despite the company's efforts to encourage
them to pay sooner. The company puts up with these slow payers because they generate alot of repeat
sales.

In sum, the company has a mix of quick, regular, and slow-paying customers. Suppose that the average
credit period for all customersis5 weeks. This means that 5 weeks of annual sales were still uncollected
at year-end. (This doesn't mean every customer takes 5 weeksto pay, but rather than the average time
before paying is 5 weeks.) The relationship between annual sales revenue and the ending bal ance of
accounts receivable, therefore, can be expressed as follows:



Page 24
Chapter 4 Exhibit on page 20 shows that the ending balance of accounts receivable is $1,000,000.

The main point is that the average sales credit period determines the size of accounts receivable. The
longer the average sales credit period, the larger is accounts receivable.

Let's approach this key point from another direction. Suppose we didn't know the average credit period.
Nevertheless, using information from the financial statements we can determine the average credit
period. Thefirst step isto calculate the following ratio:

This calculation gives the accounts receivable turnover ratio, which is 10.4 in this example. Dividing
thisratio into 52 weeks gives the average sales credit period expressed in number of weeks:

Timeis of the essence. Whiat interests the business manager, and the company's creditors and investors
aswell, ishow long it takes on average to turn accounts receivable into cash. | think the accounts
receivable turnover ratio is most meaningful when it is used to determine the number of weeks (or days)
it takes a company to convert its accounts receivable into cash.

Y ou may argue that 5 weeks is too long an average sales credit period for the company. Thisis precisely
the point: What should it be? The manager in charge has to decide whether the average credit period is
getting out of hand. The manager can shorten credit terms, shut off credit to slow payers, or step up
collection efforts.

Thisisn't the place to discuss customer credit policies relative to marketing strategies and customer
relations, which would take us far beyond the field of financial accounting. But, to make an important
point here, assume that without losing any sales the company's average sales credit period had been only
4 weeks, instead of 5 weeks.

In this alternative scenario the company's ending accounts receivable balance would have been $200,000
less ($1,000,000 + 5 weeks = $200,000), which is the average sales revenue per week ($10,400,000
annual sales revenue + 52 weeks = $200,000). The company would have collected $200,000 more cash
during the year. With this additional cash inflow the company could have borrowed $200,000 less. At an
annual 8% interest rate this would have saved the business $16,000 interest before income tax. Or, the
owners could have invested $200,000 less in the business and put their money elsewhere.

The main point, of course, isthat capital has a cost. Excess accounts receivable means that excess debt or
excess owners' equity capital is being used by the business. The businessis not as capital-efficient as it
could be.

A slow-up in collecting customers' receivables or a deliberate shift in business policy allowing longer
credit terms causes accounts receivable to increase. Additional capital would have to be secured, or the
company would have to attempt to get by on a smaller cash balance.

If you were the business manager in this example you'd have to decide whether the size of accounts
receivable, being
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5 weeks of annual sales revenue, is consistent with your company's sales credit terms and your collection
policies. Perhaps 5 weeks istoo long and you need to take action. If you were a creditor or an investor in
the company, you should pay attention to whether the manager is allowing the average sales credit period
to get out of control. A major change in the average credit period may signal asignificant change in the
company's policies.
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CHAPTER 5 EXHIBIT—COST OF GOODS SOLD EXPENSE AND INVENTORY
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5
Cost of Goods Sold Expense and I nventory
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Holding Inventory for Some Time beforeIt's Sold

Please refer to Chapter 5 Exhibit on page 26. (The preceding chapter explains the format of this exhibit,
which is also used in following chapters; see page 22 for review if necessary.) This chapter focuses on
the connection between cost of goods sold expense in the income statement and inventory in the balance
sheet. Recall that this business sells products, which are also called "goods" or "merchandise.”

Cost of goods sold expense means just that—the cost of all products sold to customers during the year.
The revenue from the sales is recorded in the sales revenue account, which is reported just above the cost
of goods sold expense in the income statement. Cost of goods sold expense is, by far, the largest expense
in the company's income statement, being more than three times its operating expenses for the year.

Subtracting cost of goods sold expense from sales revenue gives gross margin, which isthefirst profit
line reported in the income statement. (Sometimes gross margin is labeled gross profit, but as | mention
earlier in the book the term profit is generally avoided in income statements.)

Theword "gross" is used to emphasize that no other expenses have been deducted. Only the cost of the
products sold is deducted from sales revenue at this point in the income statement. Gross margin isthe
starting point for earning an adequate final, bottom-line profit for the period. In other words, the first step
isto sell products for enough gross margin so that all other expenses can be covered and still leave an
adequate remainder of profit. Later chapters discuss the company's other expenses.

In this example the business earned 35% gross margin on its sales revenue (data from Chapter 5 Exhibit):

The business sells many different products, some for more than 35% gross margin and some for less. In
total, for al products sold during the year, its average gross margin is 35%—which isfairly typical for a
broad cross section of businesses. Gross margins more than 50% or less than 20% are unusual; the
majority of businesses fall within this range.

To sell products most businesses must have a stock of products on hand, which is called inventory. If a
company sells products it would be areal shock to see no inventory in its balance sheet (possible, but
highly unlikely). Notice in Chapter 5 Exhibit that
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the line of connection is not between sales revenue and inventory, but between cost of goods sold
expense and inventory. Inventory is reported at cost in the balance sheet, not at its sales value.

The inventory asset account accumulates the cost of the products purchased or manufactured. Acquisition
cost staysin an inventory asset account until the products are sold to customers. At this time the cost of
the productsis removed from inventory and charged out to cost of goods sold expense. (Products may
become nonsalable or may be stolen, in which case their cost is removed from inventory and charged to
cost of goods sold or to another expense.)

The company's inventory balance at year-end—$1,690,000 in this example—is the cost of products
awaiting sale next year. The $6,760,000 deducted from sale revenue in the income statement is the cost
of goods that were sold during the year. Of course none of these products were on hand in year-end
inventory.

Some of the company's products are manufactured in a short time and some take much longer. Once the
production process is finished the products are moved into its warehouse for storage until the goods are
sold and delivered to customers. Some products are sold quickly, ailmost right off the end of the
production line. Other products sit in the warehouse many weeks before being sold. This business, like
most companies, sellsamix of different products—some of which have very short holding periods and
some very long holding periods.

In this example the company's average inventory holding period for all productsis 13 weeks, or three
months on average. Thistime interval includes the production process time and the warehouse storage
time. For example, a product may take 3 weeks to manufacture and then be held in storage 10 weeks, or
vice versa. Internally, manufacturers separate "work-in-process’ inventory (products still in the process
of being manufactured) from "finished goods" (completed inventory ready for delivery to customers).
Usually only one combined inventory account is reported in the external balance sheet, as shown in
Chapter 5 Exhibit.

Given that its average inventory holding period is 13 weeks, the company's inventory cost can be
expressed as follows:

Notice in Chapter 5 Exhibit that the company's ending inventory balance is $1,690,000.

The main point is that the average inventory holding period determines the size of inventory relative to
annual cost of goods sold. The longer the manufacturing and warehouse holding period, the larger is
inventory. Business managers prefer to operate with the lowest level of inventory possible, without
causing lost sales due to being out of products when customers want to buy them. A businessinvests
substantial capital in inventory.

Now, suppose we didn't know the company's average inventory holding period. Using information from
itsfinancial state-
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ments we can determine the average inventory holding period. The first step is to calculate the following
ratio:

This gives the inventory turnover ratio. Dividing thisratio into 52 weeks gives the average inventory
holding period expressed in number of weeks:

Time is the essence of the matter, as with the average sales credit period extended to customers. What
Interests the manager, as well as the company's creditors and investors, is how long the company has to
hold inventory before products are sold. | think the inventory turnover ratio is most meaningful when
used to determine the number of weeks (or days) that it takes before inventory is sold.

Is 13 weeks too long? Should the company's average inventory holding period be shorter? These are
precisely the key questions business managers, creditors, and investors should answer. If the holding
period islonger than necessary, too much capital is being tied up in inventory. Or, the company may be
cash poor because it kegps too much money in inventory and not enough in the bank.

To demonstrate this key point, suppose the company with better inventory management could have
reduced its average inventory holding period to, say, 10 weeks. This would have been arather dramatic
improvement, to say the least. But modern inventory management techniques such as just-in-time (JIT)
promise such improvement. If the company had reduced its average inventory holding period to just 10
weeks its ending inventory would have been:

In this scenario ending inventory would be $390,000 less ($1,690,000 versus $1,300,000). The company
would have needed $390,000 less capital, or would have had this much more cash balance at its disposal.

However, with only 10 weeks inventory the company may be unable to make some sal es because certain
products might not be available for immediate delivery to customers. In other words, if overall inventory
istoo low, stockouts may occur. Nothing is more frustrating, especialy to sales staff, than having willing
customers but no products to deliver to them. The cost of carrying inventory has to be balanced against
the profit opportunities lost by not having products on hand ready for sale.
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In summary, business managers, creditors, and investors should watch that the inventory holding period
is neither too high nor too low. If too high, capital is being wasted; if too low, profit opportunities are
being missed. Comparisons of a company's inventory holding period with those of its competitors and
with historical trends provide useful benchmarks.

National trade associations and organizations collect inventory and other financial data from their
members that is published in their journals or that is available at relatively low cost. The federal
Department of Commerce and Small Business Administration are useful sources of benchmark
information. Also, acompany's banker or loan officer is usually agood person to ask about typical
inventory practices for aline of business.
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CHAPTER 6 EXHIBIT—INVENTORY AND ACCOUNTSPAYABLE
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6—
Inventory and Accounts Payable
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Acquiring Inventory on Credit

Please refer to Chapter 6 Exhibit on page 32. This chapter focuses on the connection between the
Inventory asset account in the balance sheet and one of the accounts payable liabilities in the balance
sheet.

Notice that we are looking at a connection between balance sheet accounts; the previous two chapters
connect an income statement account with a balance sheet account. The linkage explained in this chapter
is different; it's not about how sales revenue or an expense drives an asset, but rather how inventory
drives a corresponding liability.

The company in this example is a manufacturer, which means it makes the products it sells. To begin, the
company purchases raw materials needed in its production process. These purchases are made on credit;
the company doesn't pay for these purchases right away. Also, other production inputs are bought on
credit. For example, once a month the public utility sends a bill for the gas and electricity used during the
month. The company takes several weeks before paying its utility bills. The company purchases severa
other manufacturing inputs on credit also.

In the company's balance sheet (see Chapter 6 Exhibit) the liability for its various production-related
purchases on credit is presented in accounts payable—inventory (see page 32). The company's operating
expenses also generate accounts payable; these are shown in a second accounts payable liability account
(discussed in Chapter 7).

The company's inventory holding period is much longer than its purchase credit period (which is typical
for most businesses). In other words, accounts payable are paid much sooner than inventory is sold. In
this example, the company's inventory holding period from start of the production processto final sale
averages 13 weeks (as explained in Chapter 5). But the company pays its accounts payable after 4 weeks,
on average.

Some purchases are paid for quickly, to take advantage of prompt payment discounts offered by vendors.
But the business takes 6 weeks or longer to pay many other bills. Based on its experience and policies, a
business knows the average purchase credit period for its production-related purchases. In this example,
suppose it takes 4 weeks on average to pay these liabilities. Therefore, the year-end balance of accounts
payable—inventory can be expressed as follows:
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In short, thisliability equals 4/13 of the inventory balance. The business gets a "free ride" for the first 4
weeks of holding inventory, because it waits this long before paying for its purchases on credit. But the
remaining 9 weeks of the inventory holding period has to be financed from its debt and stockholders
equity sources of capital.

Economists are fond of saying that "there's no such thing as afree lunch.” So, calling the 4 weeks delay
in paying for purchases on credit afree ride is not entirely accurate. Sellers that extend credit set their
prices dightly higher to compensate for the delay in receiving cash from their customers. In other words,
asmall but hidden interest charge is built into the cost paid by the purchaser.
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CHAPTER 7 EXHIBIT—OPERATING EXPENSESAND ACCOUNTSPAYABLE
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7—
Operating Expenses and Accounts Payable



Page 38

Recording Operating Expenses before They Are Paid

Please refer to Chapter 7 Exhibit on page 36, which highlights the connection between operating
expenses in the income statement and accounts payable—operating expenses in the balance sheet. This
chapter explains how operating expenses drives this particular liability of a business.

Day in and day out many operating expenses are recorded when they are paid, at which time an expense
Isincreased and cash is decreased. But some operating expenses have to be recorded before they are
paid—which is the focus of this chapter.

"Operating expenses' is acatchall title that groups together many different specific expenses of running
(operating) a business enterprise. In this example the annual depreciation expense on the company's
long-lived, fixed assets is shown as a separate expense; the $2,080,000 total operating expenses in the
income statement does not include depreciation expense. The operating expenses account also excludes
Interest expense and income tax expense, which are reported separately in the income statement.

Included under the umbrella of operating expenses are the following specific expenses (in no particular
order):

* Rental of buildings, copiers, computers, telephone system equipment, and various other assets.

» Wages, salaries, commissions, bonuses, and other compensation paid managers, office staff,
salespersons, warehouse workers, security guards, and other employees. (Compensation paid production
employeesisincluded in cost of goods manufactured, not in operating expenses.)

* Payroll taxes and severa fringe benefit costs of labor, such as health and medical plan contributions
and employee retirement plan costs.

» Office and data processing supplies.
* Telephone, fax, Internet, and Web site costs.

* Inventory shrinkage due to shoplifting and employee theft or careless handling and storage of products;
the cost of goods stolen and damaged may be written off to cost of goods sold expense or, aternatively,
included in operating expenses.

* Liahility, fire, accident, and other insurance costs.
 Advertising and sales promotion costs, which are major expenditures by many businesses.

* Bad debts, which are past-due accounts receivable that turn out to be not collectible and have to be
written off.

* Transportation and shipping costs.
* Travel and entertainment costs.

Even relatively small businesses keep 50 to 100 separate accounts for specific operating expenses. Larger
business corporations keep thousands of specific expense accounts. In their
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external financial reports, however, publicly owned corporations report only one, two, or three operating
expenses. For instance, advertising expenses are reported internally to managers, but you seldom see this
particular expense reported separately in external income statements.

Actually, grouping operating expenses (except for depreciation) into one collective account is rather
convenient here. Operating expenses are recorded in just four basic ways. One way isto record expenses
when they are paid—not before, nor after. This chapter explains another basic way operating expenses
are recorded—nby increasing aliability called "accounts payable—operating expenses.” (Following
chapters explain the other two basic ways of recording operating expenses and the asset and liability
accounts involved.)

It would be asimple world if every dollar of operating expenses were a dollar actually paid out in the
same period. But businessis not so simple, as this and later chapters demonstrate. Simply put, for many
operating expenses a business cannot wait to record the expense until it pays the expense. As soon as a
liability isincurred the amount of expense has to be recorded.

A liability isincurred when a company takes on an obligation to make future payment and has received
the economic benefit of the cost in operating the business. Recording this sort of liability isone
fundamental aspect of the accrual basis of accounting. Expenses are recorded before they are paid so that
the amount of the expense is deducted from sales revenue to measure profit for the period.

For example, suppose on December 15 a business receives in the mail abill from its attorneys for legal
work done for the company over the previous two or three months. The company's accounting (fiscal)
year ends December 31. The company will not pay its lawyers until next year. This cost belongsin this
year, and should be recorded in the legal fees expense account. So, the company records an increase in
the accounts payable liability account to record the legal expense.

Thisisjust one example of many; other examples include bills from newspapers for advertisements that
have already appeared in the papers, telephone bills, and so on. Generally speaking these liabilities have
fairly short credit periods.

Based on its experience, a business should know the average time it takes to pay its short-term accounts
payable. The average credit period of the company in our example is 3 weeks. Thus, the amount of its
accounts payable—operating expenses can be expressed as follows:

In Chapter 7 Exhibit notice that the year-end balance of thisliability account is $120,000.

Operating costs that are not paid right away are recorded in accounts payable both to recognize the
obligation of the business to make payment for these costs and to record expenses that have benefited the
operations of the business, so that profit is measured correctly for the period. In other words, there's both
an income statement and a balance sheet reason for recording unpaid expenses.

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) require that accounts payable be recorded for
expenses that haven't been paid by the end of the accounting year. However, the recording of unpaid
expenses does not decrease cash. Cash outflow occurs later, when the accounts payable are paid. Chapter
13 looksinto the cash flow analysis of making profit.
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CHAPTER 8 EXHIBIT—OPERATING EXPENSES AND PREPAID EXPENSES
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8
Operating Expenses and Prepaid Expenses
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Paying Operating Costs before They Are Recorded as Expenses

To begin please refer to Chapter 8 Exhibit on page 40, which highlights the connection between
oper ating expenses in the income statement and prepaid expenses in the balance sheet. This chapter
explains that operating expenses drive this particular asset of a business.

Chapter 7 explains that some operating expenses are recorded before they are paid—nby recording a
liability for unpaid expenses. This chapter, in contrast, explains that certain costs are paid before these
amounts should be recorded as operating expenses.

A good example of prepaid expenses isinsurance premiums which must be paid in advance of the
insurance policy period—which usually covers 6 or 12 months. Another example is office and computer
supplies bought in bulk and then gradually used up over several weeks. Annual property taxes may be
paid at the start of the tax year; these amounts should be allocated over all the months covered by the
property taxes.

Cash outlays for paid-in-advance costs are put in a holding account and then the amounts are gradually
charged out over time to operating expenses. Doing thisis the means of deferring or delaying the
expensing of costs to future periods. The account used for this purposeis called prepaid expenses. The
cost is allocated so that each future month receivesitsfair share of the cost. Every month an entry is
recorded to remove the appropriate fraction of the cost from the prepaid expenses account, and to record
this portion in an operating expense account.

Based on its experience and the nature of its operations, a business knows how large, on average, its
prepaid expenses are relative to its annual operating expenses. In this example the company's prepaid
expenses balance is 4 weeks of its annual operating expenses. Thus, its prepaid expenses can be
expressed as follows:

In Chapter 8 Exhibit notice that the year-end balance of this asset account is $160,000, which is much
smaller than the company's accounts receivable and inventory balances. (Thisistypical for most
businesses.)

Operating costs that are paid in advance are put in prepaid expenses both to recognize the prepayment of
these costs and to delay recording the expense until the proper time, so that profit is measured correctly
for each period. In other words, there's both an income statement and a balance sheet reason for
recording prepaid expenses. Charging off prepayments immediately to
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operating expenses would be premature—there would be a robbing Paul (expenses higher this period) to
pay Peter (expenses lower next period) effect on profit.

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) demand that operating costs paid in advance must be
put in the prepaid expenses asset account, and not charged to expense immediately (assuming the
amounts are material, or sizable enough to make a difference). The prepayment of operating expenses
decreases cash, of course. Cash outflow takes place this year, even though the expense won't show up
until next year. Chapter 13 looks into the cash flow analysis of making profit.
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CHAPTER 9 EXHIBIT—FIXED ASSETS, DEPRECIATION EXPENSE, AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
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o—
Fixed Assets, Depreciation Expense, and Accumulated Depr eciation
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Brief Review of Expense Accounting

By now you should have a basic sense of accrual-based expense accounting. Cash outlays for operating
a business are not necessarily recorded to expense in the same period the cash disbursement takes place.
In other words, expenses are not recorded on a simple cash basis of accounting, where all abusiness
needs to do is to keep track of the checksit writes.

Rather, financial accounting is mainly concerned with the correct timing of expenses—to match expenses
with sales revenue or to match expenses with the correct period if there is no direct association between
an expense and sales revenue. Each basis for recording expensesis explained briefly here:

» Matching Expenses with Sales Revenue: Cost of goods sold expense, sales commissions expense, and
any other expense directly connected with making particular sales are recorded in the same period as the
sales revenue. Thisis straightforward enough; without a doubt all direct expenses of making sales should
be matched against sales revenue. Y ou agree, don't you?

» Matching Expenses with the Correct Period: Many expenses are not directly identifiable with
particular sales, such as office employees salaries, rental of warehouse space, computer processing and
accounting costs, legal and audit fees, interest on borrowed money, and many more. Nondirect expenses
are just as necessary as direct expenses. But, there's no objective or clear-cut way to match nondirect
expenses with particular sales. Therefore, nondirect expenses are recorded to the period in which the
benefit to the business occurs.

The recording of expensesinvolves the use of asset and liability accounts. Chapter 5 explains the use of
the inventory account to hold back the cost of products that are manufactured or purchased until the
goods are sold, at which time cost of goods expense is recorded. Chapter 7 explains the use of the
accounts payable liability account for recording unpaid costs that should be recorded as expenses in the
period. And, Chapter 8 explains the use of the prepaid expenses asset account to delay or defer the
recording of operating expenses until the proper time.

This chapter explains that the costs of long-lived, fixed operating assets of a business are spread out over
their useful lives. The allocation of afixed asset's cost over its expected useful life is known as
depreciation. Please be careful: Depreciation is confusing to many people. Many persons think it refers
to the loss of value, or decline in market value of an asset such as a personal automobile. Thisnotion is
not entirely wrong, but in financial accounting depreciation means cost allocation.
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Depreciation—One-of-a-Kind Expense

Please refer to Chapter 9 Exhibit on page 44. The company in this example rents all its manufacturing
fixed assets, including its production plant. The business uses very specialized machinery, equipment,
and tools that are rented under long-term leases. (Of course, many manufacturers own their production
facilities, instead of leasing them.) The rents paid for its manufacturing assets are included in its cost of
goods manufactured. (The cost of goods manufactured remains in the inventory account until goods are
sold, at which time the cost of goods sold expenseis recorded.)

In contrast, the company owns all its nonmanufacturing fixed assets—a warehouse and office building,
office furniture and fixtures, computers, delivery trucks, forklifts used in the warehouse, and automobiles
used by its salespersons. The business buys these assets, uses them severa years, and eventually disposes
of them.

Fixed assets owned by a business usually are grouped into one inclusive account for balance sheet
reporting. One common title for a collection of fixed assetsis "property, plant & equipment.” (A detailed
breakdown of fixed assets may be disclosed in afootnote to the financial statements, or in a separate
schedule.) At the end of its most recent year the business reports property, plant & equipment at
$3,000,000—see Chapter 9 Exhibit. Thisamount isthe original cost of its fixed assets, which is how
much they cost when the business bought them.

Y ou may also want to look at Exhibit B on page 9 again, which shows the classified balance sheet of the
business. In thisfinancial statement the company's fixed assets are given the title "Land, Building,
Machines, Equipment, and Furniture,” which is positioned under the Property, Plant & Equipment
heading. Reporting practices differ from company to company.

Fixed assets are used severa years, but eventually they wear out and lose their utility to abusiness. In
short, these assets have a limited life span—they don't last forever. For example, delivery trucks may be
driven 150,000 or 200,000 miles, but they have to be replaced eventually.

The cost of adelivery truck, for instance, is prorated over the years of expected use to the business. How
many years, exactly? A business has its experience to go on in estimating the useful lives of fixed assets.
In theory, a business should make the best forecast for how long each fixed asset will be used, and then
spread its cost over thislife span. However, theory doesn't count for much on this score. Most businesses
turn to the federal income tax code; it provides guidelines of useful lives for fixed assets that are allowed
for determining depreciation expense in federal income tax returns. Fixed asset depreciation is one area
where the income tax law rules the roost.

One section of the income tax code is called the Modified Accelerated Cost Recovery System, or
MACRS for short. Every kind of fixed asset is given aminimum life over which its cost can be
depreciated. The cost of land is not depreciated, on grounds that land never wears out and has a perpetual
life. (Of course, the
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market value of a parcel of real estate can fluctuate over time; and, land can be destroyed by floods and
earthquakes—Dbut that's another matter.)

The term "accelerated” in MACRS means two different things. First, the income tax law allows fixed
assets to be depreciated over lives that are shorter than their actual useful lives. For example, autos and
light trucks can be depreciated over five years. But these fixed assets |ast longer than five years (except
perhaps taxicabs in New Y ork City). Buildings placed in service after 1993 can be depreciated over 39
years, but most buildings stand longer. In writing the income tax law Congress has decided that allowing
businesses to depreciate their fixed assets faster than they actually wear out is good economic policy.

Second, "accelerated” means front-loaded; more of the cost of afixed asset is deducted in the first half of
its useful life than in its second half. Instead of alevel, uniform amount of depreciation expense year to
year (which is called the "straight-line" method), the income tax law allows a business to deduct higher
amounts of depreciation in the front years and less in the back years.

Accelerated depreciation permits a business to reduce its taxable income in the early years of using fixed
assets. But these effects don't necessarily mean it's the best depreciation method in theory or in actual
practice. In any case, accelerated depreciation methods, with the imprimatur of the income tax code, are
very popular, asyou may know.

A business must maintain a depreciation schedule for each of its fixed assets and keep track of original
cost and how much depreciation expense is recorded each year. Only cost can be depreciated. Once the
total cost of afixed asset has been depreciated, no more depreciation expense can be recorded. At this
point the fixed asset is fully depreciated even though it still may be used several more years.

In this example, the depreciation expense for the company's most recent year is $260,000—see Chapter 9
Exhibit. Its warehouse and office building is depreciated by the straight-line method, whereas its other
fixed assets (e.g., trucks, computers, etc.) are depreciated according to an accel erated method.
Depreciation methods are explained further in Chapter 21.

The amount of depreciation expense charged to each year is quite arbitrary compared with most other
expenses. One reason is that useful life estimates are arbitrary. For a six-month insurance policy, there's
little doubt that the total premium cost should be allocated over exactly six months. But long-lived assets
such as office desks, display shelving, file cabinets, computers, and so on present much more difficult
problems. Past experience is a good guide but leaves much room for error.

Given the inherent problems of estimating useful lives, financial statement readers are well advised to
keep in mind the consequences of adopting conservative useful life estimates. If useful life estimates are
too short (the assetsreally last longer), then depreciation expense is recorded too quickly. As a matter
fact, useful life estimates generally are too short. So keep thisin mind.

Accountants, with the blessing of the Internal Revenue Code, take a very conservative approach. Rather
than depreciate fixed assets one way for income tax and use amore realistic way for financial reporting,
most businesses follow the income tax methods in their financial statements. What you see in financial
statements, in short, is a carbon copy of the depreciation methods used in a company's income tax
returns. Is this good accounting? | have my doubts. But rapid (accelerated) depreciation is afact of
businesslife.
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An Unusual Account—Accumulated Depreciation

The amount of depreciation expense each period is not recorded as a decrease in the fixed assets account.
Decreasing the fixed assets account would seem to make sense because the whole point of depreciation is
to recognize the wearing out of the fixed assets over time. So why not decrease the fixed assets account?

WEell, the standard practice throughout the accounting world is to accumul ate annual depreciation
expense amounts in a second, companion account for fixed assets which is called accumul ated
depreciation. This account does what its name implies—it accumulates period-by-period the amounts
charged to depreciation expense. In Chapter 9 Exhibit notice that the balance in this account at the end of
the company's most recent year is $800,000.

Relative to the $3,000,000 original cost of its fixed assets the accumulated depreciation balance suggests
that the company's fixed assets are not very old. Also, the company recorded $260,000 depreciation
expense in its most recent year. At thisclip alittle over three years depreciation has been recorded on its
fixed assets.

In any case, the balance in accumulated depreciation is deducted from the original cost of fixed assets.
Notice the minor alteration in Chapter 9 Exhibit: Accumulated depreciation is deducted from original
cost, and the $2,200,000 remainder is shown. This amount is the portion of original cost that has not yet
been depreciated; it is called the book value of fixed assets. Generally the entire cost of afixed asset is
depreciated. Therefore, book value represents future depreciation expense, although a business may
dispose of some of its fixed assets before they are fully depreciated.

Please be clear on one point: The $800,000 accumulated depreciation balance is the total depreciation
that has been recorded all years the fixed assets have been used. It's not just the depreciation expense
from the most recent year. There is no way of telling how much of the balance was recorded for the prior
year, or the year before that, and so on.
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Book Values of Fixed Assetsversus Their Current Replacement Values

After several yearsthe original cost of acompany's fixed assets may be quite low compared with the current
replacement costs of the same fixed assets. Although true enough, this general observation does not apply to
fixed assets that have become obsolete and would not be replaced with the same new asset. In any case,
inflation is the norm in our economy. If—and thisis a very hypothetical if—a company's fixed assets had to
be replaced with exactly the same new fixed assets, a business would have to pay higher coststoday that it
did when it bought the fixed assets years ago.

The original costs of fixed assets reported in a balance sheet are not meant to be indicators of the current
replacement costs of the assets. Rather, original costs are the amounts of capital invested in the assets that
should be recovered through sales revenue over the years from using the assets. In other words,
depreciation accounting is a cost-recovery-based method—not a "mark-to-value" method. Accounting for
fixed assets does not attempt to record changes in current replacement cost.

Accountants assume, quite correctly, that the purpose of investing capital in fixed assetsis that these
economic resources help a business generate future sales revenue, and that the main objective is to match
the cost of fixed assets against sales revenue year by year, in order to measure profit. Depreciation is one
main element of the historical cost basis of accounting. The failure to report current replacement costs of
fixed assets is often criticized by academic economists as being a major short-coming of financial
accounting. Baloney! Fixed assets are held for use, not for sale. Economists have never managed a business,
evidently.

Now | should point out that business managers do have to pay attention to the current replacement values of
their fixed assets, especially for insurance purposes. Fixed assets can be destroyed or damaged by fire,
flooding, riots, tornadoes, explosions, and structural failure. Quite clearly business managers should be
concerned about insuring fixed assets for their current replacement costs. Indeed, insurance companies
require this. However, for financial reporting purposes a business should not write up the recorded value of
its fixed assets to reflect current replacement costs. Thiswould violate generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), which are the bedrock that financial statements rest on.

The current replacement cost argument for reporting long-term (fixed) operating assets in external financial
statements and for basing depreciation expense on the current replacement cost of fixed assets has many
die-hard advocates. Y ou often see criticism of financial accounting on grounds that depreciation expense is
based on historical cost. | don't think many people take this criticism seriously. Someday Congress may
consider chang-
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ing the income tax law to allow replacement-cost-basis depreciation (without taxing the gain from
writing up fixed assets to their higher replacement costs). But, fat chance of this, in my opinion!

On the other hand, I must admit that anything is possible regarding fixed-asset depreciation within the
federal income tax law. For instance, | would not be surprised if Congress were to change the useful lives
of fixed assets for tax purposes—which they have done several timesin the past. So far, Congress has not
been willing to abandon the cost basis for fixed-asset depreciation.
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CHAPTER 10 EXHIBIT—ACCRUING UNPAID OPERATING EXPENSES AND INTEREST EXPENSE
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10—
Accruing Unpaid Operating Expenses and | nterest Expense
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Recording Liabilitiesfor Certain Operating Expenses That Are Not Accounts Payable

Please refer to Chapter 10 Exhibit (page 52), which highlights the connection between operating
expenses in the income statement and accrued oper ating expenses in the balance sheet, and between
interest expense in the income statement and accrued interest payable in the balance sheet. Y ou get two
for the price of onein this chapter. Both connections are based on the same idea—unpaid expenses are
recorded so that the full, correct amount of expense is recognized when it should be for measuring profit.

Chapter 7 explains that a business records expenses as soon as hills (invoices) are received for operating
costs, even though it doesn't pay the bills until weeks later. This chapter explains that a business hasto go
looking for certain unpaid expenses at the end of the period. No bills or invoices are received for these
expenses; they build up, or accumulate over time.

For instance, the business in our example pays its salespersons commissions based on sales prices.
Commissions are calculated at the end of each month, and paid the following month. At year-end the
total commissions earned for the last month of the year have not been paid. To record this expense, the
company makes an entry in the liability account called accrued operating expenses, which is a different
liability from accounts payable.

The accountant should know which expenses accumulate over time and make the appropriate
calculations for these unpaid amounts at year-end. A business does not receive an invoice for these
expenses from an outside vendor or supplier. A business has to generate its own internal invoicesto
itself, asit were; its accounting department must be especially aert to which specific operating expenses
need to be accrued.

In addition to sales commissions payable, a business has several other accrued expenses payable that
need to be recorded at the end of the period; the following are typical examples:

» Accumulated vacation and sick leave pay owed to employees, which can add up to a sizable amount.
» Partial-month telephone and electricity costs that have been incurred but not yet billed to the company.

* Interest on debt that hasn't come due by year-end, but the money has been borrowed for several weeks
or months and interest is piling up.

* Property taxes that should be charged to the year, but the business has not received the tax assessment
bill by the end of the year.

» Warranty and guarantee work on products already sold that will be done next year; the sales revenue
has been recorded this year, and so these post-sale expenses also should be recorded in the same period.

Failure to record accumulated liabilities for unpaid expenses could cause serious errors in a company's
annual financial statements—Iliabilities would be understated in its ending balance
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sheet and expenses would be understated for the year. A business definitely should identify which
expenses accumulate over time and record the amounts of these liabilities at the end of the year.

In this example, the company's average gestation period before paying certain of its operating expensesis
6 weeks. Thus, the amount of its accrued operating expenses at year-end can be expressed as follows:

See in Chapter 10 Exhibit that the ending balance of accrued operating expenses is $240,000. |s 6 weeks
high or low for atypica business? Neither, I'd say—6 weeks is more or less common, keeping in mind
that every business is somewhat different. Also, | should mention that it's not unusual to see accrued
operating expenses larger than a company's accounts payable for operating expenses.

Speaking of accounts payable, many businesses merge accrued operating expenses with accounts payable
and report only one liability in their external balance sheets. Both types of liabilities are
non-interest-bearing. They emerge out of the operations of the business, and from manufacturing or
purchasing products. For this reason they are called spontaneous liabilities, which means they arise on
the spot, not from borrowing money but from the operations of a business. Grouping both types of
liabilities in one account is tolerated by GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles).

The sum of its ending $120,000 accounts payable for operating expenses and its $240,000 accrued
operating expenses is $360,000. This means the business was relieved of paying this much cash during
the year for its operating expenses. (Of course, the money will have to be paid next year.) The size of
accounts payable and accrued expenses have significant impacts on cash flow, which Chapter 13
explains. Any change in the size of these two liabilities has cash flow impacts that are important to the
company's managers as well asits creditors and investors.
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Bringing Interest Expense up to Snuff

Virtually every business has accounts payable and accrued expenses liabilities—which are part and
parcel of carrying on its operations. And, most businesses borrow money from a bank or from other
sources that lend money to businesses. A note or similar legal instrument is signed when borrowing;
hence, the basic liability account is called notes payable. Interest is paid on borrowed money of course,
whereas no interest is paid on accounts payable (unless the amount is seriously past due and an interest
penalty is added by the creditor). Notes payable always are reported separately and not mixed with
non-interest-bearing liabilities.

Interest is a charge per day for the use of borrowed money. Every day money is borrowed increases the
amount of interest owed to the lender. The ratio of interest to the amount borrowed is called the interest
rate, and always is stated as a percent. Percent means "per hundred.” If you borrow $100,000 for one year
and pay $8,000 interest, the interest rateis.

$8,000 Interest + $100,000 Borrowed = $8 per $100, or 8%
Interest rates are stated as annual rates, even though the term of aloan is shorter or longer than one year.

Interest is always reported as a separate expense in income statements. It's not the size of interest, but
rather the special nature of interest that requires separate disclosure. Interest is afinancial expense as
opposed to operating expenses. Interest depends on how the business is financed, which refers to the
company's mix of capital sources. The basic choice is between debt and equity (the generic term for all
kinds of ownership capital).

You may ask: When isinterest is paid? It depends. On short-term notes (one year or less) interest is
commonly paid in one lump sum at the maturity date of the note, which isthe last day of the loan period,
at which time the amount borrowed and the accumulated interest is due. On long-term notes (generally
any note more than one year) interest is paid semiannually, or possibly monthly or quarterly. In any case,
on both short-term and long-term notes thereisalag, or delay in paying interest. Nevertheless, interest
expense should be recorded for all days the money has been borrowed.

The accumulated amount of unpaid interest expense at the end of the accounting period is calculated and
recorded in the accrued interest payable liability account—which isjust like the accrued operating
expenses account, except interest is the expense being recorded. (In externa financial reports accrued
interest payable may be buried in a broader liability account; it is shown as a separate liability in Chapter
10 Exhihit.) In this example, the amount of unpaid interest expense at year-end is $17,167. (I don't do the
actual calculation here.)
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It would be proper to include in the interest expense account other types of borrowing costs, such asloan

application and processing fees, so-called points charged by lenders, and other incidental costs of
borrowing such as legal fees and so on. It's hard to tell from the external financial statements of businesses

whether they include these extra charges in the interest expense account, or put them in other expense
accounts.



